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On the cover: Each year, Waste Management presents its Life Changer award to
one employee who exemplifies the values of our Waste Management community,
The 2003 reciplent of this award is Terry Thomas, a driver trainer for
Philadelph{a Hauling in Bristol, Pennsylvania, In addition to his efforts to
improve the lives of local children through outreach programs and personal

relationships, he works hard to meet the material needs of the area’s less .
fortunate through clothing and food drives. Terry has been with WM for more
than 10 years and s known by all as one who has changed the lives of many.
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As with every year in our recent history, 2007

was g time of change for Waste Managemant,

We are proud 10 continue Saying this, becauss we
understend that progress Is possible only where
thare is the willingness, desire, and ability to change.
In our view, change is essential.

The fact is, every time we reach & gosl, we move
the goal line. We sel our stendards higher.

Woa challenge oursalves 10 achisve more, 10 dig
deeper, 10 go tarther. Wa change.

in this report, you will raad more about the ¢change
and prograss that we made in 2007. A faw
highlights are@ worthy of mention here 1o give you
a sense of how tha critical components of our
business are coming together to forgs a stronger,
better company than ever bafore:”

beliverlny strong financiel performance,

Qur company ¢ontinued to deliver autstanding
financial results in 2007. We significantly expanded
our operating margins and increased our return on
invasted capital. Based on the company’s proven
ability 10 generate consistent and strong cash flows,

 we were eble 10 return $1.9 billion to our

shareholders—a notable accomplishment,

Serving customers better. Wa continued to
strangthen relationships with our cusiomers by
improving our ability to provide excellent service.
We erg standardizing best practices in recruiting
and training employees 10 make avery encounier
with every customer the best it can be.

Wa'va consolidated our ¢all centers, added

powaerful new telephone technology. and equipped
Our Customer service rapresentativas with more
information and more reaktime solutions. We have
partnered with J.0. Power and Associates 10 find out
how well we ﬁeasura up to—and excesd—customer
axpectations, We are working on all fronts 10 make
our ¢ustomer service second 10 none. We know that
it is up 10 each of us to achiava this.

Empowering peopte, developing loaders.

| am most proud of the progress we are making with
the development of this great resource: our people,
tn 2007, wa rolled out 8 breakthrough performance
leadership initiative 10 relain and artract the best
talent in the industry, 10 increase empiloyee
angagemaent, and 10 develop lsaders and managers.
It is providing impetus and momenium 1o tht'a
corporate cullure we afe creating at Waste
Management. It i3 making us & more innovative,
flexible, and entrepreneurial organization. It is driving
averything wa hope (o achigve in the future.

Keeping safety first. An absolute imperative in our
company's culture is the unwavering commitment
1o safety, Qur safety performance continued to
improve in 2007. We significantly reduced the rate
of work-related injuries, as waell as the frequency
and saverity of accidants. The numbers alone are
gratitying, but they also iell us somathing else;
More and moie, safety is becoming an averyday
way of working at Wesla Management, imbedded

. in the fabric and framewerk of our company.

Ags it should and musi be.




Driving profitability. During 2007, we increased

our efficiency and reduced our operating costs. We
continued 1o evaluate pricing, customer by customer,
10 be certain that the rates we charge reflect the
value of the services we provide, Although revenus

. declined slighty in 2007 due in part to the shedding

of unprofitable business, earnings increased.

Making environmental stewardship our business.
For decades, Waste Management has been o leader
in envirgnmental stewardship. By the very nature of
what we do—hauling away more garbage than
anyone else in North America, racycling millions of

' . tons each year, using trash as a source for renewable
fue—we have minimized the impact of waste and

! tieiped protect the environment. And we have made
it a profitable, sustainable business.

Now the rest of the world is Tuming its attention

1o the issue of sustainability. Corporations are
astablishing policies for waste minimization,
Governments are rmandating the use ¢of renawable
energy. Such environmenta) measures are certainly
good things to do. For Waste Management, they are
also business opportunities. Thay are extensions of
the very things we have been doing for years.

In October, we announced the environmental
stewardship goals that will serve as a platform for
our company’'s sustainable growth between now
and the year 2020. We have pledged to substantially
increase our waste-based gnergy production,
increase the volume of recyclable rmaterials
processed, invest in ¢leaner technologies,

and preserve and resiore wildlife habitat across North
America. These goals will leverage what we do today
and snable us 10 do it better end more efficiently.

Poised for growth. In the shorter term, the next
phase for our company is profitable growth,

Woa have the assets in place. We have fine-tuned
our. procasses. We are identifying customers who
cen best benefit from the range of services and
superior value that Waste Management offers.

Woe are improving our ability 1o provide those
customaers with valued service. We continue 1o
consider acquisitions that meet our 5trategic criteria
and offer an ex¢ellent return on invesiment.

As we plan for growth, we will continually dedicate
ourselves 10 doing the things that make us worthy of
shareholder tryst, 8 recommended provider for our
customers, & best place 10 work for employees,

a trusted community partner, and an advocate and
caretaker of the environment. In shon, we dedicate
ourselves 10 one thing: Dolng what counts.

Thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

David P. Steiner
Chief Executive Officer




Wé dedicate our fleet of

22 000 trucks

to keeplng North inmeﬂca clean.




Every day. each person in the United States generates an average of 4.5 pounds of garbage. What happens
10 this garbage after it is thrown away? More then most people resfize. At Waste Managamant, taking out
the trash means 1aking care of the environment while taking care ol the neighborhoods, businesses,

and communities we Serve.

Wae collect the waste. As the leading provider of comprehensive waste and environmental services
in North Amarica. Waste Management collects appsoximately 74 million tons ol solid waste a year
from nearly 20 million residantial, municipa), commercial, and industrial Customers in the United States,
Caneda, end Puerto Rico. Our signature green trucks fun thousands of routes evary day. Coast 10 coast,
our 354 collection operations provide Services that range from residential trash pickup and curbside
recycling to comprehensive Bnvironmental solutions for large corporations with multiple tocations.

Some of the waste we collact is hauled directly to nearby fandfills. In larger urban markets, the volume ot
waste and the distance 10 landfills make it more economical 10 18ke the waste 10 one of our 341 siratagically
located transfer stations. There waste is consolidated, compacted, and loaded into long-haul trailars or railcars
10 be ransported to landiills or waste-lo-energy facilities. This operation improves the utilization of collaction
equipment by minimizing transponation time and etficiently moving large volumes of waste 10 disposal 5ites.

Not el the waste we collect goss into landfills or waste-to-energy facilities, howsver.

We recycle it. Waste Management is the largest provider of comprehansive recycling servicas in
North America, managing nearly 8 million 10ns of recyclable material annually, including paper, cardboard.
glass, plastics, metals, and alectronics. Through our subsidiary WM Recycle America, we provida
cost-efficient, environmentally sound recycling programs for municipalities, businesses, end households
across the U.5. and Canada.

To encowrage consumers 10 recycle and disposa of slactronic davices in an environmenially responsible way,
Waste Management collaborated with Seny in 2007 1o establish a national recycling program for consumer
electronics. The Sony Take Back Racycling Program allows consumers 10 recycle &ll Sony-branded products
at no charge at 75 WM Recycla America eCycling drop-off centers throughout the U.S. The program is set 10
expand 10 at l8ast 150 sites within a year. This is the first national recycling initiative in the U.S. 10 involve
both a major electronics manufacturer and 8 netionwide waste management company.

As our trucks wind their way through neighborhoods,
business districts, construction sites, and industnal areas,
they do more than pick up the trash. They deliver waste
solutions that combine the most advanced technology with
operational efficiency and environmental stewardship.

That's making every mile count. o




In 2007, Wasie Menagament acquited LampTracker® the nation’s first provider of mailback recycling
for fluorascent lighting. WM LampTracker® allows commercial and industrial customers to recycle
fluorescent bulbs, which contain mercury, thersby safequarding employee heatth and safety as well as
ensuring compliance with environmental regulations. WM LempTracker® uses a specially engineered {oil
bag to securety contain residual mercury vapor during the storege and transport of fluorescent bulbs.

Qur recycling business offers intarnational opponunitia.s as well. Mill customers in China, India, Europe,
Vietnam, Mexico, ang Canada buy recycled commodities from Waste Management bacause of our ability
to supply high quality raw materials. Internationa) sales continue to be a growing portion of WM Recycle
America’s business.

Waste Managemant has long been an innovator in recycling, Ve were the first major solid waste
company to focus on residential single-stream recycling that allows customers to mix recyclable paper,
plastic, and glass in one bin for collection. The conveniance of this method significently increases
participation in recycling by customers. The volume of material processed in our 29 single-stream
facifities increased 7.3 percont over the previous year. '

Wb use waste to genserate clean, renewable energy. While wasta'Managamam is primarily
known for handling waste, we also produce energy.

Mors than 20 years ago, we realized that garbage was a potential resource for producing clean,
renswable energy, and we began 1o develop tha methodology to hamess it. One of the sources for
this green energy is methane. a natura) byproduct of decomposing waste in landfills. This gas can be
collected and used to generate electricity or piped offsite 1o industrial customers for use as an
altarnative fuel source. Qver the last two decedes, Waste Management has participated in more than
100 baneficial-use landiill gas projects for businesses and public utilities.

AMong our projects in 2007 was a renewabie energy partnership with tha University of New Hampshire
{UNH}. The project involved piping enriched and purified landfill gas from Waste Management's landtill in

As the largest provider of comprehensive recycling services in
North America, we're making recycling as good for business as
it is for the environment. It's working. Our recycling business
continues to grow, and through our total recycling efforts,
we save enough energy to power 874,000 households.
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Rochester to the university’s Durham campus to replace commercial natural gas as 1he primary fusl for
UNH's cogeneration plant, the main source of heat and electricity for the S-million-square-fool campus.
In 2008, UNH plans to completely raplace commertial natural gas with landfill gas in its cogensration
plant—the first university in the U.S. 10 undartake a project of this magnitude.

Waste Management is the leading natlonal waste company in the area of building and operating its
own landfill gas plants. Seven new projects were commissioned in 2007, with 10 naw plams slated for
construclion in 2008. We currently supply enough gas 1o create more than 450 megawats of green
snergy—enough to power ebout 400,000 homes or replace about 2 million tons of coal per year.

Our renawable energy projects play a significant role in helping us to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions and have earned renewable energy credis thet can be sold to utilities 10 help satisfy their
requirements for renewable ensrgy. In 2007, we also begen to develop landfill gas plants for third
parties such as mynicipalities.

Another way that we help to conserve fossil fuels is by burning wastie 10 produ'ce engergy. Cur waste-
to-energy subsidiary, Wheelabrator Technologies, owns or operates 16 plants that combined can process
up 1o 21,000 tons of waste per day and generate mere than 650 megawatis of electricity, potentisily
saving more than € million barrels of oil ardd generating clean, renewable energy that could power
600,000 homes per year. In addition, the combustion process reduces the volume of the waste by up ©
90 percent, saving vatuable space in tandfiils. According 1o the U.S. Environmenial Protection Agency
{EPA), 1he power produced by waste-1o-anergy plants has less environmental impact than simost any
other source of elactricity. )

By using renewable energy resources in place of fossil fusls, Waste Management's landfill gas and
waste-lo-energy projecils save the equivalent of 13 million barrels of ol annually, snough te power
more than one million homas. By comparison, the U.S. solar indusiry generates only enough energy
to power sbout 250,000 homes, according to the Solar Energy Indusiries Association.

By wming the waste we all generate into productive energy, Waste Managament is playing a vital role
in protecting the enviranment and conserving natural resources.

We dispose of waste responsibly. Waste Managemem owns and operates the largest network of
fandfills in the waste industry. In 2007, our 277 active landfill sites menaged the disposa! of more than
116 million tons of waste.




All of our landfills are designed, operated, and
maintained with environmental responsibllity and
safety as the highest priorities. Qur landfills currently
have an average ramaining parmitted hife of 30 years.
Woe continually work with municipalities and
regulatory organizations 10 expand disposal capacity
8t our existing sites end 10 develop additional lendfill
sites. We are cumently seeking expansions at

54 of our landfills, which if permitted as designed,
we balieve would axtand the estimated average
remaining life 10 37 years.

Waste Management has long been a developer of
advanced landfill menagement methods and
continues 10 lead the industry in solutions that
impact the future of solid waste management.

One such approach is Next Generation Technology®
which accelerates the decomposition of waste in fendfills so that it accurs within years rather than
decades. At the same time, the technology speeds the production of landfill gas, a renewable

BNBrgy S50urce. '

Waste Management has 10 {ull-scale Next Generation Technology® projects in the U.S. and Canada,
and continues 10 work with the EPA and other groups to develop the engineering knowledge base
and operational expertise that will enable widespread implamentation.

From start to finish, we develop the best solutions. As companies and municipalities
increasingly embrace the concept of comprehensive waste solutions, Waste Management is there with
a full range of services backed by decades of proven expertise. Through our Upsiream™ group, we are
uniquely positioned 10 help major customers meet their recycling, environmental, and susainability
goals, ranging from lean manufacturing 10 zero waste.

Upstream®™ incorporates our services such as waste reduction, reusa, recovery, and recycling into a total
wasl1o stratagy. We work closely with customers to determine their root sources of waste and pollution,
and then provide 8 multifaceted strategy and often, 8 complete closed loop—from collecting the waste
10 providing landfill gas for use as power in the customer’s own facility.

Waste Management Upstream™ has received IS0 14001 cartification by meeting rigorous international
standards for environmental excellence. In 2007, 8 partnership invoiving Chrysler LLC and Upstream®™
received the Environmental Leadership Award (ELA}, Chrysler's highest level of racognition for
environmental achievement and excellence among all its employees and vendors, The ELA was
awarded for 8 project that minimized waste from painting operations at the Chrysler St. Louis Complex
and used the racovered paint solids 8s an ahernative fuel at 1the local powergenerating electric utility.
This project has reducad total paint waste costs by 92 percent. eliminates the need 10 landfill this paint
waste, and provides enough beneficial fuel 1o power 70 homes annually.

With innovative sotutions such as this, Upstream’s axpertise has saved customers in autormotive,
consumer products, defense, oil, and other indusiries more than $40 millien while enhancing their
environmantel stewardship.

Wastle Management also participates in the U.S. Green Building Council's LEED {Leadership in Energy
& Environmental Designl certification program. LEED cortification provides indepandent third-party
verification that a building project meets the highest green building and performance measures.

We are incorporating LEED guidelines into the building, design, and construction of our own facilities
as well as into our service offerings to benefit our customers.




Waste lVlanagement generatecd
free cash flow of more than
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for the fourth consecutive year in 2007.
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In 2007, Waste Management continued to deliver strong financial performance. We expanded our
operating margins and increased eamings per share, We lowered our operating costs for the second
consecutive ysar. Qur return on invested capital grew. The company genarated swrong fres cash flow
and returned $1.9 biltion 1o its shareholders through share repurchases and dividends.

Showing confidence in tha company's ability to consistently deliver strong cash flow, our Board of
Directors announced that they expect an increase of 12.5 parcent for quartery dividends in 2008,
from $0.96 to $1.08 per share on an annual basis. Based on the share price 81 the close of fiscel 2007,
the expected dividend equates 10 an annual yield of 3.3 percent. The yield on this dividend keeps
Waste Manegement in the top 20 psrcent of companies on Standard & Poor's 500 Index.

Maintaining financia) strength is one way that we create value for our shareholders. Keeping this
foundation strong enables us to fund the operating and capital needs of our business, as waell as
providing 8 good return 10 sharehokiess. It is the result of doing things right on a multitude of fronts.

In 2007, we ctontinued to work on ensuring that the prices we charge raflect the value of the

services we provide. Following our initial tocus on the commaercial collection business, in 2007 we
implemanted the progrem for other areas, including landfil's, transter siations, Whaeetabrator, and WM
Recycls America. As expected, the process of evaluation and sdjustment resulied in some loss of less
profitabie business, and we achieved an oversll improvement in margins and earnings.
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A strong financial foundation is fundamental to our

company’s success. Through the years, we have worked to
maintain consistently high levels of free cash flow that
signify continuing strength at the core.




, Our call centers provide helpful
fnendly customer service through?';
o )




We serve nearly 20 million customers in neighborhoods and cities across North America, Every day.
we have the opportunity to provide these customers with 3 service experience that builds confidence
and loyalty.

Often the customer exparience involves a phone call. in fact, we handle about 25 million calls a year at
our call centers, making it the most frequent point of contact between our company and our customers.
In 2007, we undertook 8 major initiative 10 assure that our. customers receive world-ciass service when
they call us or we ¢all them.

A new call center mods) was piloted in late 2006, and a completa rollout began in early 2007.

The optimized mode! siandardizes best practices for the recruitment, hiring, end training of customer
sarvica rapresentatives, as well as performance metrics, call center operating processes, and the
implemantation of new telephone technology. Qur integrated information system allows a customer
service representative to interface with other essential depariments and 1o provide callers with more
responsiveness and information than belore. The system also has the capability to contsct customars
with helpful preracorded messages, such as a reminder about haliday pickup schedules of notification
of a service delay due to weather. '

In addition 1o optimizing call center functionality, we also began consolidating our call centers 1o take
advantage of efficiencies of scale in training, staffing, internal communication, énd managament.

In 2007, we reduced the number of call centers from 120 1o 48, In 2008, we plan to reach our target
of 37 call centers through further consofidation, )

Of coursa, one of the most important prerequisites to customer service is keaping our rucks on the road,
running smoothly and safely. '

in 2007, we continuad to improve the refiability and performance of our trucks, while also reducing
maintenence costs. Qur computerized maintenance System not only assures that preventive
maintenance is performed as scheduled, but also allows managers to review fleet maintenance and
repalr costs, analyze variability between lrucks and routes, and see the regl cost impact of providing
certain types of services or using various parts and supplies,

We like to think of this as 25 million ogpoﬂuniﬁes

to demonstrate our capability and commitment to '
professional, dependable, world-class service. o
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With our managers and front-ling 1echnicians using this powerful tool, customer service interruptions—
the number of hours that trucks remain in service between breakdowns—increased by 13.5 percent

in 2007. Through efactive fleet management and route optimization, we were able to improve efficiency
and reduce driver time by mere than 2 million hours,

In another area where we are using technology to batter serve our customers, we continued to pilot

an on-board computing System for our trucks. This system greatly reduces the need for papsr ticke1s;
] instead 8 job is entered into the computer system at dispatch and appears on the driver's computer.
i Information passes automatically through the
! system al! the way to hilling, providing more
accurate and timely information.

Even with the most advanced technology,

there's no substitute for hands-on attention,

Wae creatad the position of route analyst to ride
along in our trucks and identity ways to improve
our sarvice times, safety, customer service levels,
and profitability. The route analysts in turn receive
invaluable experience &t the front line3 of service,
preparing them to be effective oparations
managers,

With incregsed efficiency, reliability, satety, and ' .
cost savings, Waste Management's fleet is helping 1o drive improved customer service.

To essess the elfectivenass of cur customer service and help identity opportunities for improvement,
Waste Management has selected J.D. Power and Associates 10 conduct detailed surveys of our
customers in all market areas to detarmine their perceptions, Qur goal is to reach and maintain the lovel
of service that creates engaged customers who are loyal and would recommend Waste Management to
othars. We know that a customer's recommandation is the best compliment we can receive.

The use of advanced technology helps keep our trucks up and
running more of the time, saves'money, improves safety, and
provides our customers-with better service and reliability.
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Whether they ere in fsont-line service or behind-the-scenes support, the more than 47,000 employees
of Waste Management help drive our Success. Every one plays a part in keeping communities ¢lean,
helping businesses function, and protacting the envirenment.

Since employees are our most valuable 85561, we invest in initiatives that will enhence their well-being,
optimize their performance, and encourage their growth. One of Waste Management's strategic
business goals is 1o be a Best Place 10 Work. As a company, we are dadicated 10 developing a work
environment that reflects our core values: honesty, accountability, safety, professionalism, respect,
inclusion, diversity, and employee empowearment.

tn mid-2007, we Jaunched a breakthrough performance leadership program designed to improve

our processes of recruitment, training, and retention of employees. as well a3 10 encourage the
development of managers and loaders. [t was patterned after 8 2006 program we developed in Florida
10 strengthen driver recruiting and retention that aiso led to dramatic improvements in profilabiity,
productivity, safety performance, employee morale, end customer service. The first 2007 pilot of this
program included about 3.500 employess in select markets across the country.

To measure the effectiveness of the program, Waste Management colfaborated with the Gallup
Organization to measure employee engagement, knowing that people who lake pride in their jobs care
more about the company, ere more productive, and ore more effectively engaged with coworkers,
customers, gnd the community.

By the end of 2007, we had further developed the process that Waste Management will use 10 creais
an anvironment where all employaes have the tools 10 do their jobs and know what is expected of
them, beligve they ara contributing to 1he company’s success, fee! part 0f a team. and work with leaders
and managers who provide timely feedback and opportunities for growth. '

The performance leadership program was rolled out 10 15,000 employees by the end of 2007, with plans
for company-wide implernentation by the end of 2008, We expect 10 sea measurable results and
positive steps taken for our employees and our company.

Developing leaders for the future is an imponiant priority for Waste Management. We train and mentor
several hundred employoes each year, working 10 help idenify abilities snd strengths 1hai will help them
reach their potential. We also gather leaders from around the company into cross-functional teams 10
craft specific strategies and action plans for critical company initiatives, ranging from maintenance
improvement 1o cusiomer service 1o profitable ravenue growth.

In 2000,we began an intense effort to be a safer place to work.

Throughout the company, employees have stepped up to the
challenge to “Be Safe” in every thought, decision, and action,
every day.
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by puttlng safety first.




At the end of the day, wa want Waste Management to be known as a company that not only treals
all employees fairly, equally, and with respact, but atso plays an active role in their professional growth
and development, Thal's what counts.

We are on a mission—a mission to zero accidents and injuries, For our valued employees
and for our naighboring communities, the most importam thing we can provide is a safe workplace and
safe operations. As one of Waste Management's core values, safety is a continual focus across our
entire grganization,

tn 2007, our safely initiatives once again reached new lavels of effectiveness. Waste Management's.
Tota) Recordable Injury Rate (TR!R), 1he measure ysed by the Qccupational Safety and Health
Administration (OSHA) to track work-related injuries, 'declined 11 parcent 1o 4.3. A1 that level,

Wasle Management's injury rate is 30 percent below the indusiry averaga. We reduced the number of
lost-time injuries by 30 percent in 2007. Since the year 2000, we have achioved a reduction in workplace
injuries of approximately BO percent through our ongoing safety campaign, M2Z® which stands for
“mission to zero” and keeps us mindful of our goal: zero accidents and injuries.

Although safety receives continua! companywide emphasis, Waste Management devoled two weaks
during 2007 10 an intensive safety focus at all sites 10 reinforce and ravitalize cur safety culture.

During 2007, we continued our successful video training senes, *Driving Science,” which educates
drivers about the physics involved in handling trucks, and we also added interactive training maps that
address nearly every silualion a driver might face.

One of the year's most compalling safety messages was delivered through the in-house video,

"It Only Takes a Second.” Produced in reaHife drama style, the program shows how quickly a Jife-
shattering accident can occur. Originally intended for drivers, the video garnered s¢ much attenlion
that a DVD was mailed 1o every Wasétle Management employee.

All thase efforis contributed 10 our achievement in 2007 of a 23 percent reduction in the number of
vehicle accidents resulling in personal injury.




We achieved other important safety
milestones during 2007,

¢ Qur Lancaster Landfill &
Recycling Center in Califomia
marked a record-breaking
13 years without a
work-refated injury.

In April, our Wheelabrator
Saugus waste-1oenergy plantin
Massachusetts was designated
as a Star site by OSHA.
" Star status is the highest
racognition given by OSHA
through its Voluntary Protection
Program (VPP), awarded 10
fatilities with outstanding health
and safety systems and
processes only after a thorough
verilication and review process.
According 10 OSHA statistics. |
the average VPP worksite records
injury and illness rates that are
52 percent below the average or its industry gs 8 result of its commitment to the VPP spproach to
safety and health management. With the certification of the Saugus facility, all of Wheselabraior's
energy plants have now achieved VPP Star ranking—a notable distinction, since only one out of every
5,000 worksites attains the certification, -

Waste Management President and Chie! Operating Officer
Larry O'Danneli [canter) frequently meets with emplayeas
throughout the company's mer@ than 1,000 focations.

* Following this achievement, Wheelabrator received the OSHA Regional Administrator Award for 2007.
As further recognition of its exemplary safety perlormance, Whealabrator was recruited by OSHA 10
serve as a safety mentor and lend its expertise 10 the U.S. Department of Dafense 10 help reduce

incident rates and lost workdays.

» Qur Carlsbad, California, facifity also received VPP Star
designation—the first waste hauting company in the
nalion 10 be so recognized,

« Our Oklahoma City collection facility receved OSHA's
Salety and Health Achievement Recognition Program
designation, which recognizes employers with exemplary
salety and health management systems,

First and foremost, safety is shout people. The most
important goal is 10 create a sefer workplace and safer
communities through safer practices. But improving our
safety record has an added bensfit: In 2007, the compeny
saved $76 million through lowered risk management costs
comparad with 2006.
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One of Wasta Management's strategic goals is 10 be regarded as a wusted and valued community |
parines. In the normal course of our business, we provide services that are essential and beneficial to
the communities around us. Beyond 1hat, we give of ourselves—as @ company and 85 individuals— -
to help where we can, 1o give 83 we should, to make a difference in the lives of others.

In 2007, Waste Management continued as a national sponsor of Keep Amarica Beautiful,

the country's larges! volunteer-based community action and education organization. We helped kick off
the annual Great American Cleanup with a multimedia exiravaganza in New York City's Times Square.
Waste Management and Keep America Beautitul share common goals for hetping communities

deal with litter, wasise, and community beautification, Waste Management stabes events for the

Great American Cleanup in cities across the country, supplying organizational and finencial support,
volunteers, equipment. and other services 10 suppor local efforts.

Quite often, the true spirit of Waste Management people is demenstrated in meaningful acts that lew
might ever see. For.instance, in February of 2007, a deadly t1omado hit the town of Wildwood, Florida,
within 300 feet of Waste Management’s facility. Fallen trees and detiris blocked roads all over 1own—
including access 1o our site. Waste Management employees didn't hesitate. They cut a hole in the back
tence to get rucks in and out. They volunteered to help clear the roads for emergency and Service
vehicles, and the company donated rolloff containers for the cleanup etfort.

And while cleaning up is the nature of our business, our employees dedicate many hours of personal
time to community cleanup efforis from coast 1o coast, year-round.

When former President Jimmy Carter arrived 10 help kick off the 24th Annual Habitat for Humanity
Jimmy Carter Work Project in Los Angeles, Waste Management hed alresdy been working for

10 months 1o pregare the sites. When he was joined by thousands of volunteers 10 help build

100 homes, Waste Management was there providing trash collection, hauling eway dirt, and recycling
construction and demolition materials. Emplyees also pitched in 10 help build.the homes.

For many years, Waste Management volunteers have helped build Habitat lor Humanity homes in
other markets as well.

From everyday collection to environmental protection,
Waste Management is working to serve communities
in more ways than one. When people see our name,

we want them to think of our company as a trusted
and valued community partner.




Visitors to the interactive "Don't Waste It" attraction at
Walt Disney World® 1ake 8 mini-truck from station to

station to learn how trash gets menaged.

There are other ways that Waste
Managamant reaches into communities,
including the madia and the Intamet.

In September, The History Channef’s new
series called “Boneyard,” which explores
what happens to things once ¢onsumers
are finished with them, featured several
Waste Management facilities in two
episodes entitled "Garbage™ and
“Bipwaste.”

In similar fashion, The Discovery Channel
reached out to Waste Management for an
answer 10 the question, “What happens
10 all tha trash we create each day?”

The program “How Do They Do I1?°
explores the “tascinating world ol
everyday stuff” that people otherwise
might not 51op 10 think about. When the
show's producers lsamed about Wasle

Managemaent's comprehensive approach to enwvironmental stowardship, they asked (o feature our -
operations in & documentary segment about trash, to be shown on British and American cabte

television in earty 2008,

The spotlight was on recycling in one episode o ~Project Runway™ called “Waste Not, want Not,”
which featured modsls wearing dresses made of materials gathered from a Waste Management
recycling facility. The episode wes nominated for an awerd in the reality program category at the 2007
Environmaental Media Awards in Hollywood. Following the airing of tha episode, Waste Managemant
purchased the dresses end auctioned them %o raise monay fot charities around the country.




Ouring 2007, a team from Wasle Management and Epcot® et the Walt Disney World® Reson worked
together 1o construct an interactive exhibit about solid waste. Disney approached Waste Management
10 help create a fun, hands-on, educational exhibit that would tell the story of Waste Management’s
contributions in the areas of environmentalism, racycling, beautification, and anergy conversion,
Located in Epcot’s Innoventions section, the exhibit openad in 2008, bringing the story of how science
and technology can simplify and enhance our livas to the millians of peopla who visit Epcot each year.

| We continue to make use of the assets in our own backyard {or the benefit of cur communities. -
' Al many Waste Managemant landfills, acreage is set aside for cooperalive venturas such as
recreational facilitias, athletic fields, goll courses, and parks for the enjoyment of local cilizens.

Waste Management employees exemplily
our core valuss in many ways through their
contributions of tima and money lo worthy
causes that benafit thair communities.
Whether they are wa'king 10 help raise funds
{or local charitiss or wielding a hammer 10
raise tha walls of a home, their generosity

of spirit translates intn a vital prasence.in
every community whera we liva and
conduct business.

.
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Because of the business we are in, virtually gverything we do has an impact on tha environment.

As the nalion’s leading provider of waste and environmenal services, we 1ake care 10 help manage the
4.5 pounds of parbags each of Us produces on the average day in a way 1hal protects the environmeni
and human heahh. In addition, we are North America’s largest provider of recycling services and a leader
in waste-based energy technotogies. Through alt these endeavors, we strive 10 meke a positive and
beneficial impact on the environment.

Beyond 1hese daily business praclices, we have 1aken many
unprecedented s1eps 10 protect and restore the environment,

Woe have set aside more than 17,000 acres of 1and adjacent 1o our

" landfills for 1he sole purpose of nature conservation. This fand is
protecied and designated for wetlands and wildlife habiats, all
carefully managed in partnership with conservationists, universities,
and environmenial groups. We have worked with the imernational
Wildiife Habitat Council [WHC) 10 develop comprehensive habitat
management practices on this land, To dale, 33 of our landiill sites
have received WHC centification. They are the only WHC-certified .
landfill sites in North America.

For the third straight year, Waste Managamen1 was named 1o the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index, a prestigious selection of companies
judged on their gobal leadership in sustainebility end economic
performance. In 2007, Waste Management also was named a
charter member of the newly formed U.S. Conference of Mayors Climate Protection Council.

This council was formed 10 underscore and strengthen the key relationships needed between local
elected officials end business leaders 10 eccelerale community-wide green projecls.

As part of our Think Green® iniliativé, we introduced Greanopolis.com, a collaborative and educetional
interactive Wab site that brings together individuals, communities, organizations, and corporations
imerasied in “greener fiving.” The site provides a forum for entities concerned with making positive
environmanal changes in their daily lives, communities, and workplaces. Greenopalis is e true online
community, launched with funding from Waste Management.

It's a perfectly natural partnership. The same land that serves

as a repository for solid waste is also home to a wide array of
flora and fauna. The thousands of acres we have set aside at our
landfills offer a safe haven for hundreds of species of wildlife.




Woe continued to expand the possibllities of ene}gy production and distribution by partnering in a

new solar energy plant in Pennsylvania. The $20 million facility, the fourth-largest solar photovoltaic
plantin the U.S. and the larges! on the East Coast, is situated on 16.5 acres adjacen to our landfill in
Bucks County. Qur parner in this project is Exelon Gensration Compsny, LLC, one of the largest power
generation companies in the U.S.

Waste Management also sponsored the tours of Danimouth College’s Big Green Bus, a repurposed
school bus that takes an environmenta! message on the road 10 college campuses, conventions, and
concerts across the country. We sponsor the tours of the Big Green Bus because of our commitment 1o
ahernative and renewable energy and recycling programs. The Big Green Bus is fueled primarily by
waste vegetable oil from restaurants along the way.

In late 2007, Waste Management joined with the St. Lovis Rams pro football team 10 introgduce an
unprecedented environmental stewardship platform. As 3 part of this program, the Rams will help
educate fans about what it means 10 "go green” and the opportunitias for individuals 10 atfect the
environment through their day-to-day activities, By sponsoring the Rams® green platform, Waste
Management is extending 1he reach of its natlonal Think Green® strategy.

Unique to this arrangement, the Rams will support the development of renewable energy by purchasing
ranewable energy credits from Waste Management's landlill gas-1o-energy program in an 8mount
equivalent to the enargy needed 10 power the Edweard Jones Dome for 10 home games per yaar end
the year-round operations of the Russell Training Center, the team’s business and football headquernters.
This program is one more way in which Waste Management will bring further visibility to alternative
energy sowrces including landfill gas-to-energy, recycling, and other existing green activities such as
wildlite protection and the development of more fueleflicient vehicles.
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We continue 1o minimize the environmental impact

of our own operaticns through innovative technologies
and prectices. More than 425 of our trucks ere powered
exclusively by natural gas, making ours one of the nation’s
largest fleets of heavy-duty trucks using the clean-buming
{uel. The use of natural gas in place of diesel fue! and the
installation of new pollution control devices have

significantly reduced particulate emissions, NOx emissions,

and greenhouse gas emissions. We also continue to
increase the number of our trucks fusled by low-emission
bicdiesel, end we are currently testing innovative nsw
hybrid garbage and recycling cellection trucks.

. tn groundbreaking work with alternative fuels, we are
actively moving toward the commarciatization of new
technologies that will convert rocoverad landfill gas into
transportation fuels such as liquefied natural gas and
synthetic diesel. ‘

For our ongoing research in advancing technologies for
alternative-fueled vehicles, Waste Management has been
recognized by bath the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency and the U.S. Department of Energy.

Waste Management teamed up

. |with the St. Louls Rams on a green

{nittative that brought focus to
environmental activities snch as
secycling and renewable energy.
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Explosive population growth and economic development throughout the world, coupled with
regulatory efforts to reduce carbon ernissions, have ignited an internationel social and business focus
on sustainability. Qur customers increasingty ask how wa cen suppon their efforts 1o implement more
suStainable and environmentally friendly practices, processes, and technologies. Clearly, sustainability
presents challenges for our cusiomers and opportunities for Waste Managemant to be an innovative
solutions provider. :

in October of 2007, Wasts Managament CEO David Steiner addressed the World Business Forum
in New York City. Spaaking 10 an sudience of leadars in business, government, academnic, and
environmental groups as wel as the media, he announced Waste Managemeni's major initiative
to incresse tha value of the company’s sarvices 10 its Customers while benefiting the environment,
demonstrating the company’s commitment 10 Sustainable growth,

Waste Management has set thase spacific goals for aua_inmenl by the year 2020:

Double our waste-based energy production. Garbage is a renewable energy source.’

Today we usa it 10 Create enough energy 10 powar more than 1 million homes sach year. By 2020, we
expect 1o double that output, producing enough energy for the equivalent of more than 2 million homas.
We now sea an emerging business opportunity from increased interest in altemaiive anergy Sources,
including both landfili gas-to-energy and waste-to-energy combustors. By expanding our partnerships
with local governments, we can work 10 develop new waste-to-energy plants and landlill gas projects
on our landfills and other publicly and privately owned tandiills.

Significantly increase the voluma‘ol recyclable materials processed. Today we manage
nearly B million tons of recyclables par year and expect to increase the amount of recyclsble materials
we process 10 20 million tons by the year 2020. As the largest provider of recycling services in

North America, we are committed 1o growing recycling. Tha efficiency of the single-stream process
can Improve logal recytling programs by increasing capacity, resulting in an everage recovery of up to-
30 percent more recyclable material whita maintaining materiat quality equal 1o if not batter than
iraditional recycling processes. We want Waste Managemant 10 be the firsi company a city considers
whan it wants 10 increase its recycling volumes—and 10 be first in our customers’ minds, we must be
first in the use of technology. We also ptan 10 continue investing in recyciing commodities that wa have
not racyclad before and for which we see the potential of higher retums.

Invest in claaner technologies. We expact 1o dirgct capitel spanding of up 10 $500 million per year
over a 10-year period toward increasing Lhe fuel efficiency of our flast by 15 percent and reducing our

We have a natural source of clean, renewable energy in

- our landfills. The recovery of landfill gas, coupled with the

13 million barrels of oil, or 3.6 million tons of coal, per year.

power generated from the conversion of solid waste in our
waste-to-energy plants, saves the equivalent of more than




emissions by 15 percent by 2020. We also expect to invest in 1echnologies to enhence our waste
business. This capital spending will be dona while continuing 10 accomplish our primary financial
objectives, which include earnings growth, mergin expansion, and higher returms on invested capital.

Waste Management is committed to continuing

its capital invesimant in the green technologies
we've pursued lor many years—iike recycling,
waste-10-anergy, and landfill gas-1o0-enargy—as well
as investing in fulure technologies for managing

Woe are prepared 10 invest in naw opponunities for
managing wasle 50 that we ¢an increase earnings,
grow margins, and continue reluming sirong free
cash flow to our investors, while al the same time
enhancing the environment.

Preserve and restore additional wildlife
habitat across North America. By the year
2020, we plan to increase the number of our landfills
that are cenified by the Wildlife Habitat Council

10 100—and increase the number of acres set aside
for consarvation to 25,000.

Because these sustainable growth objeclives teverage our core businessas and take advaniage of our
existing expenise 10 genarate organic growlh, we believe thay will banefit our shareholders as well as
our employees, communities, cuslomers, 8nd, of course, the environmant,

wasle as renewable energy, like landfill gas-lo-diesel. *

“and fr;ends;
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
General

The financial statements presented in this repon represent the consolidation of Waste Management, Inc., 1
Delawere corporation, our wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and certain variable interest entities for
which we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary. Waste Management, Inc. is a holding company and
all operations are conducted by its subsidiaries. When the terms “the Company,” “we,” *us™ or “our” are used in this
document, those terms refer to Waste Management, Inc., its consolidated subsidiarics and consolidated vanable
interest entities. When we use the term “WMI," we are referring only to the parent holding company.

WMI was incorporated in Oklahoma in 1987 under the name “USA Waste Services, Inc.” and was reincor-
porated as a Delaware company in 1995. In a 1998 merger, the Hlinois-based waste services company formesly
known as Waste Management, Inc. became a whoily-owned subsidiary of WMI and changed its name to Waste
Management Holdings, Inc. At the same time, our parent holding company changed its name from USA Waste
Services to Waste Management, Inc. Like WMI, WM Holdings is a holding company and all operations are
conducted by subsidiaries. For detail on the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of WMI,
WM Holdings and their subsidiaries, see Note 22 16 the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1001 Fannin Street, Suite 4000, Houston, Texas 77002. Our
telephone number at that address is (713) 512-6200. Qur website address is hup.//www.wm.com. Our annual repons
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and curvent reporis on Form 8-K are all available, free of charge, on
our website as soon as practicable after we file the reports with the SEC. Qur stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “WML"

We are the leading provider of integrated waste services in North America, Using our vast network of assets
and employees, we provide a comprehensive range of waste management services. Through our subsidiaries we
provide collection, transfer, recycling, disposal and wastc-to-energy scmoes In providing these services, we
actively pursue projects and initiatives that we belicve make a positive difference for our environment, including
recovering and processing the methane gas produced naturally by landfills into a rencwable energy source. Our
customers include commercia), industrial, municipal and residential Customers, other waste management compa-
nies, electric utilities and governmental entities. During 2007, none of our customers accounted for more than 1% of
our operating revenue. We employed approximately 47,400 people as of December 31, 2007.

Strategy

Our Company’s goals arc largeted at serving five key stakeholders: our customers, our employecs, the
environment, the communitics in which we work, and our shareholders. Our goals are:

+ To be the wastc solutions provider of choice for custemers;

» To be a best place t0 work for employees;

« To be a Jeader in promoting environmenta} stewardship,

« To be a trusted and valued community partner; and

+» To maximize shareholder value.

Our strategy, which we believe will enable us to meet these goals, remains the same as last year: improve our
organization and maximize returns to shareholders by focusing on operational excellence, pricing excellence and
profitably growing our business. We continue our efforts towand reveauc growth through pricing and arc Contin-
uously working to lower operating and selling, general and administrative costs through process standardization and
productivity improvements. Additionally, we have been improving our portfolio of businesses through our “fix or
seek exit” initiative. All of these measures help us to generate strong and consistent cash flows from operations that
can be used to maximize sharcholder value.

As we move forward, we are building on our strategy to meet the nceds of a changing environment and to make
the most of the successes we have had so far. As the largest waste services provider in North America, we believe we
are well positioned 10 meet the needs of the customers and communities we serve as they, too, Think Green®. We
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belicve that doing things that will help our customers achieve their environmental goals will help us achieve
profitable growth. We regularly help customers reduce, reuse and recycle the waste they produce. We also focus on
what is left, and in many cases convent the waste to a usable energy source. By focusing on providing new
environmentally responsible and sustainable solutions 1o our customers’ waste problems, we belfieve we can creaie a
compelitive advantage across all of our lines of business.

Our focus on operational excellence has provided us a foundation on which to build. We believe we are well
positioned to enhance that foundation by seeking profitable growth through targeted sales efforts and acquisitions.
We are secking to grow our current business in a variety of areas, including waste-based energy and single-stream
recycling. We also are looking at new ways to grow. We believe we can make investments that are synergistic and
that are going to take advantage of what we do best to give us revenue and eamings growth.

Operations
General

We manage and evaluate cur principal operations through six operating Groups, of which four are crganized by
geographic arca and two are organized by function. The geographic Groups include our Eastern, Midwest, Southem
and Western Groups, and the two functional Groups are our Wheelabrator Group, which provides waste-to-energy
services, and our WM Recycle America (“WMRA"™) Group, which provides recycling services not managed by our
geographic Groups. We also provide additional waste management services that are not managed through our six
Groups. These services include in-plant services, where we work at our clients’ facilivies to provide environmental
management systems and provide opportunities for process improvements and associated cost reductions in their
waste management, Other services not managed within our Groups include methane gas recovery and third-party
sub-contracted and administrative services. These services are presented in this report as “Other”

The table below shows the total revenues (in millions) contributed annually by each of cur reporisble segments
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, More information about our resulis of operations by reportable
segment is included in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in the Managemeni's Discussion and
Analysis of Financiai Condition and Results of Operatlons, included in this report.

Yenrs Ended December 31,
2007 1006 2005

L2 $3281 §$3614 $3632
Midwest . ....... et ittt e, 2983 3,003 2,922
LTt 10 AU 3,681 3.759 3,59
LY L7« | 3,508 3,511 3416
WhEC A BIOT . . . v v i ier et et i e 868 902 879
WM R A . . ittt it e e s 953 740 805
011732 307 283 296
INICTOOMIPANY . o o oottt veben ettt arniner s aar e esnnen {2.271) (2,449) (2,466)

(7Y $13310 $13363 $13,014




The services we provide include coflection, landfill (solid and hazardous waste landfills), ansfer, Wheela-
brator (waste-to-cnergy facilities and independent power production plants), recycling and other services, as
described below. The following table shows revenues (in millions) contributed by these services for each of the three
ycars indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 1006 2008
Loy 1 T AR $8714 8837 § 8633
Landfill. ..ottt i e i i e 3.047 319 3,089
B T L 1,654 1.802 1,756
WhHECIEDralOr . « . v oo ot i e 868 902 879
Recycling and other. ...... .. e 1.298 1,074 1,183
INERCOMPANY. .. . ittt v e ivaan s . Q2D (2449 (2,466)
(2T $13310  $13,363 513,04

Collection. Our commitment to customers begins with a vast waste collection nerwork. Collection involves
picking up and transporting waste from where it was generated 10 a transfer station or disposal site. We genenally
provide collection services under one of two types of arrangements:

« For commercial and industrial collection services, typically we have a three-year service agreement. The
fees under the agreements are influenced by factors such as collection frequency, type of collection
equipmemt we fumish, type and volume or weight of the waste collccted, distance 10 the disposal faciliy,
labor costs, cost of disposal and general market factors. As pan of the service, we provide sieel containers to
most customers (0 store their solid waste beiween pick-up dates. Containers vary in size and type according
to the needs of our customers end the restrictions of their communitics. Many are designed to be lified
mechanically and cither emptied into a treck’s compaction hopper or directly into a disposa site. By using
these containers, we can service most of our commercial and indusirial customers with trucks operated by
only one employee.

« For most residential collection services, we have a contract with, or a franchise granted by, 2 municipality,
homeowners' association or some other regional authority that gives us the exclusive right to service all or a
portion of the homes in an area. These contracts or [ranchises are typically for periods of one to five years.
We also provide services under individual monthly subscriptions directly to houscholds. The fees for
residential collection are either paid by the municipality or authority from their tax revenues of service
charges. or are paid directly by the residents receiving the service.

Landfill. Landfills arc the main depositorics for solid waste in North America and we have the largest
network of landfills in North America. Solid waste landfills are built and operated on land with geological and
hydrological propertics that limit the possibility of water potlution, and are operated under prescribed procedures. A
landfill mus1 be maintained 10 meet federal, state or provincial, and local regulations. The operation and closure of 8
solid waste landfill includes cxcavation, construction of liners, continuous spreading and compacting of waste,
covering of waste with carth or other inen material and constructing final cepping of the Jandfill. These operations
are carefully planned to maintain sanitary conditions, 1o maximize the use of the airspace and to prepare the site so it
<an ultimately be used for other purposes.

All solid waste management companies must have access to a disposal facility, such as a solid weste landfill,
We believe it is usually preferable for our collection operations to use disposal facilitics that we own or operate, &
practice we refer (o as intemalization, rather than using third-party disposal facilities. Internalization generelly
allows us to realize higher consolidated margins and stronger opevating cash flows. The fees charged at disposal
facilities, which ere referred to as tipping fees, are based on several factors, including competition and the type and
weight or volume of solid waste deposited.

We also operate secure hazardous waste landfills in the United States. Under federal environmental laws, the
federal government (or stalcs with delegated suthority) must issue permits for all hazardous waste landfills. All of

our hazardous waste Jandfills have obtained the required permits, although some can accept only certain types of
hazardous waste. These landfills must also comply with specialized operating standards. Only hazardous wasteina
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stable, solid form, which meets regulaiory requirements, can be deposited in our secure disposal cells. In some
cases, hazardous waste can be treated before disposal. Generally, these treztments involve the separation or removal
of solid maierials from liquids and chemical wreatments that transform waste into inert materials that are no longer
hazardous. Qur hazardous wasie landfills are sited, construcied and operated in & manner designed 1o provide long-
term containment of waste. We also operate a hazardous waste facility at which we isolate treated hazardous waste
in liquid form by injection into deep wells that have been drilled in rock formations far below the base of fresh waler
10 a point that js separated by other substantial geological confining layers,

We owned or operated 271 soitd waste and six hazardous wasle landfitls a1 December 31, 2007 and we owned
or operated 277 solid waste and six hazardous waste landfills at December 31, 2006. The landfills that we operale
but do not own are generally operated under a lease agreement or an operating contracl. The differences belween the
two arrangements usually relate to the owner of the landfill operating permit. Under lease agreements, the permit
typically is in our name and we operate the landfill for its entire life, making payments to the lessor based eitheron a
percentage of revenue or a rate per ton of waste received. We are usually responsible for the closure and posi-closure
obligations of the Jandfills we lease. For operating contracts, the property owner owns the permit and we operate the
landfill for 8 contracted 1erm, which may be the life of the landfill. The property owner is generally responsible for
closure and posi-closure obligations under our operating contracts.

Bascd on remaining permitled airspace as of December 31, 2007 and projecied annual dispesal volumes, the
weighted average remaining landfill life for all of our owned or operated landfills is approximately 30 years. Many
of our landfills have the potential for cxpanded disposal capacity beyond what is currently permitted. We monitor
the availability of permitted disposal cepacity at each of our Jandfills and evaluate whether 10 pursue an expansion at
a given landfill bascd on estimated future waste volumes and prices, remaining capacity and likelihood of obtaining
an expansion permit, We are currently seeking expansion permits at 54 of our landfills for which we consider
expansions o be likely. Although no assurances can be made that all futurc expansions will be permitied or
permilted as designed, the weighted average remaining landfill life for all owned or operated landfills is
approximatcly 37 ycars when considering remaining permitted airspace, expansion airspace and projecicd annual
disposal volume. Remaining permitted airspace and expansion girspace are defined in the Management's Dis-
cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section of this repont under “— Critical
Accounting Estimates and Assumplions.” At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the expected remaining capacity in
cubic yards and tonnage of waste that can be accepted at our owned or operated landfills is shown below (in
millions): '

December 31, 2007 Decernber 3, 2006
Rﬂmiull:? Rcmn.lﬂ
Permis Expansion Toual Perod Expandon Tota)
Capacity Capacity Capacity Capacity Capachy Copadty
Remaining cubic yards . . ... 4,265 944 5,209 4,255 1,037 5292

Remaining 10nnage . ....... 3,787 893 4,680 3.760 959 4,719




The following table reflects landfill capacity and airspace changes. as measured in tons of waste, for landfills
owned or operated by us during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions):

December 31, 1007

December 31, 2006

Remaining Remal
Permitted  Expansion  Towl Permit Expaasion  Total
Capacity Capadty  Capocty  Capudty Capacity  Capadty
; Balance, beginning of year .. 3,760 959 4,719 3,460 1,196 4,656
Acquisitions, divestitures,
newly permitted landfills
and closures ........... (5 (15) (20) 4 — 4
Changes in expansions
pursued. . ............. -— &0 60 - 103 103
Expansion permils granted. . . 128 (128) - 387 {387 —_
Airspace consumed . . ... ... (114) — (119) (126) —_— {126)
Changes in engineering
estimates and other(a) . . .. 18 _n 35 35 47 82
Batance, end of year . . ..... 3,787 893 4,680 3.760 959 4,719

follows:

Qto5 6

Owned/operated through lease ... ...........
Operating contracts ............coonnvnnn,

Total landfills .. ..........00 o viiviinn,

2007 and 2006 are shown below (in thousands):

10 10 1) to 20
25 48
A 3
B

a4
n 78
3 4
n g

(a) Changes in engineering cstimates can result in changes to the cstimated availeble remaining capacity of a
landfill or changes in the utilization of such landfil) capacity, affecting the number of tons that can be placed in
the future. Estimates of the amount of waste that can be placed in the future are reviewed annually by our
engineers and arc based on a number of factors, including standard engineering techniques and site-specilfic
factors such as current and projected mix of waste type; initial and projected waste density; estimated number of
years of life remaining; depth of underlying waste; and anticipated access to moisture through precipitation or
recirculation of landfill lzachate. We continually focus on improving the utilization of airspace through effons
that include recirculating landfill leachate where allowed by permit; optimizing the placement of daily cover
materials; and increasing initial compaction through improved landfill equipment, operations and training.

The number of landfills we own or operale as of December 31, 2007, segregated by their estimated operating
lives (in years), based on remaining permitied and expansion airspace and projected annual disposal volume wes as

Toul
242
35
m

The volume of wasic that we received in 2007 was lower than in 2006, primarily as a result of pricing
competition and a slow down in residential construction, which are discussed in the Management ‘s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operaiions section of this report. The tons received at our landfills in

001 2006
fof Total Tons fof Total Tons
_S__IE Tons per Dey S|__Iﬂ Tons per Day
Solid waste landfifls ................. 271(a) 113,449 417 217 125,528 461
Hazardous waste Jandfills . .. .......... _6b 1473 _§ _6 1,287 5
2717 114922 g 283 126,815 466
Solid waste landfills closed or divesied
during relpted year. ............ ..., 8 1,555 4 1,287
116,477(b) IZSlIO‘Z(b)
5




(2) In 2007, we acquired two landfills, sold three landfills, closed four landfills and discontinued operations ot one
operaiing contract sile.

(b} These amoumis incluile 2.4 million tons at December 31, 2007 and 2.0 million tons a1 December 31, 2006 that
were received at our landfills but were used for beneficial purposes and gencrally were redirected from the
permitied airspace 10 other areas of the landfill. Wastc types thai are frequently identificd for beneficial use
include greecn waste For composting and clean dint for on-site construction projects.

When a landfill we own or operate (i) reaches its permitted waste capacity; (ii) is permancently capped: and
(iii) receives certification of closure from the applicable regulatory agency, management of the site, including
remediation activities, is generally transferred to our closed sites management group. In addition 10 the 277 active
landfills we managed a1 December 31, 2007, we managed 187 closed landfills.

Transfer. At December 31, 2007, we owned or operated 341 wransfer stations in North America. We deposit
waste at these stations, as do other waste haulers. The solid wasie is then consolidated and compacted 10 reduce the
volume and increase the Jensity of the wasic and transperted by trunsfer trucks or by ril to disposal sites.

Access 10 ransfer stalions is ofien eritical to third-party haulers who do not operate their own disposal facilities
in close proximity to their collection operations. Fees charged 1o third partics at transfer stations are usually based
on the type and volume or weight of the waste transferred, the distance o the disposal sitc and general market
factors.

The utilization of our transfer stations by our own collection operations improves intemalization by allowing
us 10 retain fees thit we would otherwise pay lo third panies for the disposal of the waste we collect. !t allows us 1o
manage costs associated with waste disposal because (i} wansfer trucks, railcars or rail containers have larger
capacities than collection irucks, allowing us {0 deliver more waste [0 the disposal facility in ¢ach trip; (i) wasle is
accumulated and compacted al trumsfer siatioiis 1hat are strategicully located 10 increase the efficiency of our
collcction operations; and (iii) we can retgin the volume by managing the transfer of the waste to onc of our own
disposal sites. ’

The transfer stations that we operate but do not own are generally operated through lease agreements under
which we lease propeny from thind partics. There are some instances where transfer stations are operated under
contract, generally for municipalities. In most cases we own the permits and will be responsible for the regulatory
requirements relating 1o the operation, closure and post closurc of the uansfer siation.

Wheelabrator.  As of December 31, 2007, we owned or operated 16 waste-to-energy facilitics and five
independent power production plants, or [PPs, that are located in the Northeast and in Florido, Califonia and
Washington,

At our wasle-to-energy facilitics, solid waste is bumed at high temperatures in specially designed boilers 1o
produce heat that is convened into high-pressure steam. As of December 31, 2007, our wastg-to-energy facilitics
were capable of processing up (0 21,000 tons of solid waste cach day, a decrease in capacity of approximately 3,000
tons per day from December 31, 2006. In 2007, our wastc-ta-cnergy facilitics received and processed 7.1 million
10ns of solid waste, or approximately 19,500 1ons per day. In 2006, our waste-10-encrgy facilities received and
processed 7.8 miltion tons of solid waste, or approximately 21,300 1ons per day. The decline in both the capacity and
production of our waste-10-encrgy facilities during 2007 was due to the termination of an operating and main-
tenance agreement in May 2007,

Our IPPs convert various waste and conventional fuels into sicam. The plants bum wood waste, anthracite coal
wastc (culm), tires. landfill gas and natusal gas. These facilities are integral to the solid waste industry, disposing of
urban wood, waste tires, railroad tics and utility poles. Our anthracite culm facility in Pennsylvania processes the
waste materials lefi over from coal mining operations from over half a ceniury ago. Ashremaining after buming the
culm is used 1o reclaim the land damaged by decades of coal mining.

We scil the steam produced at our waste-to-energy facilities and IPPs to industrial and commercial users.
Steam that is not sold is used 10 generate elecuricity for sale 1o elecirc utilities. Fees charged for steam and
cleciricity at our waste-10-encrgy facilities and IPPs arc generally subject 1o the terms and conditions of long-tcrm
contracts that include interim adjustments to the prices charged for changes in market conditions such as inflation,
natural gas prices and other general market factors.




Recycling. Our WMRA Group focuses on improving the sustainability and future growth of recycling
programs within communilics and industries. In addition 10 our WMRA Group, our four geographic operating
Groups provide certain recycling services that are embedded within the Groups’ other operations and, therefore, are
not included within the WMRA Group’s financial resulis.

Recycling involves the scparation of reusable materials from the waste stream for processing and resale or
other disposition. Qur recycling operetions include the following:

Collection and materials processing — Through our collection operations, we collect recyclable mate-
rials from residential, commercial and indusirial customers and direci these materials 10 one of our material
recovery lacilities (*“MRFs") for processing. We operale 99 MRFs where paper, glass, metals and plastics are
recovered for resale. We also operate six secondary processing facilitics where materials received from MRFs
can be further processed into raw products used in the manufacturing of consumer goods. Specifically, material
processing services include data destruction, automated cofor sorting, and construction and demolition
processing.

Plastics and rubber maierials recycling — Using state-of-the-an soning and processing technology, we
process, inventory and sell plastic and rubber commodities making the recycling of such items more cost
effective and convenienl.

Electronics recycling services — We provide an inngvative, customized approach to recycling discarded
computers, communications equipment, and other electronic equipment. Services include the collection,
sorting and disassembling of electronics in an effort to reuse or recycle all collected matenials.

Commodities recycling — We market and resell recyclable commodities (0 customers world-wide. We
manage the marketing of recyclable commodities for our own facilities and for third parties by maintaining
comprehensive service centers that continuously analyze market prices, logistics, markes demands and product
quality.

During 2006, we also provided glass recycling services. However, we divested of our glass recycling facilities
in 2006 as part of our continued focus on improving the profitability of our business.

Fees for recycling services are influenced by frequency of collection, type and volume or weight of the
recyclable material, degree of processing required, the market value of the recovered matenial and other market
factors,

Our WMRA Group purchases recyclable materials processed in our MRFs from various sources, including
third panies and other operating subsidiaries of WMI. The cost per ton of material purchased is based on market
prices and the cost to transport the finished goods 10 our customers. The price our WMRA Group pays for recyclable
materials is Often referred 10 as a “rebate” and is based upon the price we receive for sates of finished goods and local
market conditions. As a resull, higher commodity prices increase our revenues and increase the rebates we pay to
our supplicrs,

Other. We provide in-plant services, in which employees of our Upstream organization work full-time inside
our customers' facilities w0 provide full-service waste management solutions. Our vertically incgrated wastc
management operations allow us (o provide customers with full management of their waste, including identifying
recycling opportunities, minimizing waste. and determining the most cfficicnt means available for waste collection
and disposal.

We also develop, operate and promote projects for the beneficial use of landfill gas through our Waste
Management Renewable Encrgy Program. Landfill gas is produced naturally as waste decomposes in a landfill. The
methane component of the landfill gas is a readily available, renewable encrgy source that can be gathered and used
beneficially as an altenative to fossil fuel. The United States Environmental Protection Agency endorses landfill
gas as a renewable energy resource, in the same category as wind, solar and geothermal resources. At December 3,
2007, landfill gas beneficial use projects were producing commercial quentities of methane gas at 108 of our selid
waste landfills. At 80 of these landfills, the processed gas is delivered 1o electricity generators. The eleciricity is then
sold to public utilities, municipa! utilitics or power cooperatives. At 21 landfilis, the gas is delivered by pipelinc 1o
industrial customers as a direct substitute for fossil fuels in industrial processcs. At seven landfills, the landfill gasis
processed to pipelinc-quality natural gas and then sold to natural gas supplicrs.
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In addition, we rent und service portable restroom facilities 1o municipalities and commercial customers under
the name Pon-O-Let®, and provide street and parking Jo1 sweeping services, We also have begun providing portable
self-storage and fluorescent lamp recycling services. From time to time, we are also contracted (0 construct waste
facilitics on behalf of third partics.

Competition

The solid waste industry is very competitive. Competilion comes from 3 number of publicly held solid waste
companies, privale solid waste companies, large commercial and indusuial companies handling their own waste
collection or disposal operations and public and private waste-to-energy companies. We also have competition from
municipalities and regional govemment authorities with respect to residential and commercial solid waste
collection and solid waste landfills. The municipalities and regional governmental authorities are often able to
offer lower direct charges to customers for the same service by subsidizing wheir costs through the use of 1ax
revenues and tax-exempt financing. Generally, however, municipalities do not provide significant commercial and
industrial collection or waste disposal.

We compete for disposal business on the basis of tipping fees, geographic location and quality of operaions.
Our ability to obuain dispossl business may be limited in arcas where other companies own or operate their own
landfills, 1o which they will send their waste. We compete for collection accounts primarily on the bass of price and
quality of services. Operating costs. disposal costs and collection fees vary widely throughout the geographic areas
in which we operate. The prices that we chasge are determined locally, and typically vary by the volome and weight,
type of wasie collected. treatmem requirements, risk of handling or disposal, frequency of collections, distance 10
final disposa) sites, the availability of airspace within the geographic region, labor costs and amount and type of
equipment fuished 10 the customer. We face intense competition based on pricing and quality of service, Under
cenain cusiomer service contracts, our ability o increase our prices or pass on cost increases 0 our cusiomers may
be limited. From time to time, competitors may veduce the price of their services and accept lower margins in an
effon (o expand or maintain market share or to successfully obtain competitively bid contracts.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately 47,400 full-time employees, of which approximately 7.900
were employed in administrative and sales positions and the balance in operations. Approximately 11.700 of our
employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements.

Financial Assurance and Insurance Obligations
Financial Assurance

Municipal and govemmental waste service contracls generally require contracting parties (0 demonstrate
financial responsibilily for their obligations under the contract, Financial assurance is also a requirement for
abtaining or retaining disposal sitc 0r transfer station operating permits. Various forms of (inanciel assurance are
also required by regulatory agencies for estimated closure, posi-closure and remedial obligations at many of our
landfills. In addition, cenain of our ax-exempt borrowings require us to hold funds in trust for the repayment of our
interest and principal obligations.




We establish financial assurance using surely bonds, letters of credit, insurance policies, trust and escrow
agreements and financial guarantecs, The type of assurence used is bascd on severnl fectors; most importantly the
jurisdiction, contractual requirements, market factors and availability of credit capacity. The following able
summarizes the various forms and dollar amounis (in millions) of financial essurance thal we had outstanding as of
December 34, 2007:

Surety bonds;

Issued by consolidaied subsidiary(a) ....... e § 3

Issued by affilialed entity(b) . ... ... ... i 1,076

Issued by third-party surety COMPaniEs ...........covvninevaannrens _1,376
Total surety bORds ... . ... .coioii e R $2,759
Letters of credit:

Revolving credit facility(c) . .. ... ..o vr e 1,437

Letter of credit and term loan agreements{d) .. ... .....- o i 254

Letter of credit facility(e) ... .. ... o i e PR 350

Other lines of credit . .. ... oot et it aa e _%
Total letters of CTBAIL .- v v i v et crne it iara s tar e et 2171
Insurance policies: .

Issued by consolidated subsidiary(a) .. ... ...t 944

issued by affiliated entity(d) . ... ... ... __16
Total insurance PONCIES .. ... ... i inei i 960
Funded trust and escrow acoounts(f) . .. ... ... . . i 301
Financial BUATBRLEES(E) . - - -« .ottt i it e _ 235
Total finaNCcial BSSUMNCE . . v oottt i ina s $6.426

(a) We use surety bonds end insurance policies issued by a wholly-owned insurance subsidiary, National Guaranty
Insurence Company of Vermont, the sole business of which is 0 issue financial assurance to WMI and our
subsidiaries. National Guaranty Insurance Company is authorized 10 write up to approximaicly $1.4 billion in
surety bonds or insurance policies for our closure and post-closure requirements, waste collection contracts and
other business related obligations.

(b) We hold a non-controlling financial interest in an cntity thal we use to obtain financial assurance. Our
contractual agreement with this entity does not specificaily Ximit the amounts of surety bonds or insurance that
we may oblain, making our financial essurance under this agreement limited only by the guidetines and
restrictions of surety and insurance regulations.

(c) WMI has a $2.4 billion revolving credit facility that matures in August 2011. At December 31, 2007,
$300 million of borrowings were outstanding under the facility and we had unused and available credit capacity
of $663 million.

(d) We have a $15 million leuer of credit and term loan agreement, 3 $175 million letier of credit and term loen
agreement and 2 $105 million letier of credit and term loan agreement, which eapire in June 2008, 2010, and
2013, respectively. At December 31, 2007, $1 million was unused and available under the letter of credit and
term loan agreements to support letters of credit.

(¢) We have a $350 million letter of credit facility that matures in December 2008. At December 31, 2007, the
entire capacity under the facility was used 10 suppon outstanding leiters of credit.

(D Our funded trust and escrow accounts have been established 1o suppon landfitl closure, posi-closure and
environmental remediation obligations, the repayment of debt obligations and our performance under various
operating contracts. Balances maintained in these trust funds and escrow accounts will fluciuate based on
(i) changes in statutory requirements; (ii) fulure deposits made lo comply with contrectual arvangements; (iif) the
ongoing use of funds for qualifying activities; (iv) acquisitions or divestitures of landfills; and (v} changes in the
fair value of the financial instruments held in the uust fund or escrow eccounts.
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(g) WMI provides financial guaranices on behalf of its subsidiarics to municipalities, customers and regulaiory
suthorities. They are provided primarily to support our performance of landfill closure and post-closure
activities.

The assets held in our funded trust and escrow accounts may be drawn and used (o meet the obligations for
which the trusts and escrows were established. Other than these permitted draws on funds, virtually no claims have
been made sgainst our financial assurance instruments in the past, and considering our current financial position,
management does not expect there 10 be claims against these instruments that will have 8 material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial statements. In an ongoing cffont to mitigate the risks of futre cost increases and
reductions in available capacity, we arc continually evaluating various options to access cost-effective sources of
financial assurance.

{nsurance

We carry a broad range of insurance coverages, including general liability, automobile liability, real and
personal property, workers' compensation, directors' and officers’ liability, pollution legat liability and other
covcrages we believe are customary 10 the industry. Our exposure to loss for insurance claims is generally limited o
the per incident deductible under the related insurance policy. Cur general liability, workers' compensation and auto
insurance programs have per incident deductibles of $2.5 million, $1.5 million and $1 million, respectively.
Effective Janvary |, 2008, wc increased the per incident deductible for otr workers’ compensation insurance
program t0 $5 million. We do not expect the impact of any known casualty, property, environmental or other
conlingency (o have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, Our estimated
insurance linbilities as of December 31, 2007 are summarized in Note 10 1o the Consolidated Financial Staiements.

Regulation

Owr business is subject to exiensive and evolving federal, state or provincial and local environmental, health,
safety and transportation laws and regulations. These Jaws and regulations are administered by the EPA and various
other federnl, state and local cnvironmental, zoning, transportation, land use, health and safety agencies in the
United States and various agencies in Canada. Many of these agencies regularly examine our operations to monitor
compliance with these laws and regulations and have the power 10 enforce compliance, obtain injunciions or impose
civil or criminal penallics in casc of violations.

Because the major component of our business is the collection and disposal of solid waste in an environ-
mentally sound manner, a significant amount of our capital expenditures is related, either directly or indirectly, to
environmental protection nicasures, including compliance with federal, state or provincial and local provisions that
regulate the discharge of materials into the environment. There arc cosis associated with siting, design, operations,
monitoring, site mainienance, correclive actions, financial assurance, and facility closure and post-closure obii-
gations. In connection with our acquisition, development or cxpansion of a disposal fecility or transfer station, we
must ofien spend considerable time, effort and money 10 obtain Or maintain necessary required permils and
approvals. There cannot be any assurances that we will be able to obiain Or maintain necessary govemmental
approvals. Once obtained, operating permits are subject to modification, suspension or revocation by the issuing
agency. Compliance with these and any futurc regulatory requirements could require us to make significant capital
and operating cxpenditures. However, most of these cxpenditures are made in the normal course of business and do
not place us at any competitive disadvantage.

The primary United States federa) statutes affeciing our business are summarized below:

« The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended, regulates handling, wansponting and
disposing of hazardous and non-hazardous wasic and delegates authority to states (0 develop programs to
ensurc the safe disposal of solid waste. [n 1991, the EPA issued its final regulations under Subtitle D of
RCRA, which set forth minimum federal performance and design criteria for solid waste landfills. These
regulations must be implemented by the states, although states can impose requirements that are more
stringent than the Subtitle D standards. We incur costs in complying with these standasds in the ordinary
course of our operations.

¢ The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, which
is also known as Superfund, provides for federal authority to respond directly to releases or threatened
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releases of hazardous substances into 1he environment that have crented actual or potential environmental
hazards. CERCLA's primary means for addressing such releases is to impose strict liability for cleanup of
disposal sites upon current and former site owners and operators, generators of the hazardous substances at
1he site and transporters who selected the disposal site and ransported substances thereto. Liability under
CERCLA is not dcpendent on the intentional disposal of hazardous substances; it con be based upon the
release orthreatened release, even as a result of tawful, unintentional and non-negligent action, of hazardous
substances 2s the term is defined by CERCLA and other applicable statutes and regulations, Liability may
include contribution for cleanup costs incurred by a defendant in a CERCLA civil oction or by an entity that
has previously resolved its liability to federal or state regulators in an adminisirative or judicially approved
setlement. Liability could plso include liability to a PRP that volunarily expends site clean-up costs.
Further, liability may include damage to publicly owned nawral resources. We are subject (o poiential
liability under CERCLA as an owncer or operator of facilitics at which hazardous substances have been
disposed or us a gencrator or transporter of hazardous substances disposed of at other locations.

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, known as the Clean Water Act, regulates the discharge of
pollutants into streams, rivers, groundwater, or other surface waters from a variely of sources, including solid
waste disposal sites. If run-off from our operations may be discharged into surface waters, the Clean Water
Acl requires us 10 apply for and obtain discharge permits, conduct sampling and moniloring, and, under
certain circumstances, reduce the quantity of pollutants in those discharges. [n 1990, the EPA 1ssued
additional standards for management of storm water runoff from landfills that requirc landfills to obtain
storm water discharge permits. In addition, if 2 landfill or a wransler station discharges wastewaler through a
sewage sysiem to a publicly owned treatment works, the facility must comply with discharge limits imposed
by the treatment works. Also, before the development or expansion of a landfill can alter or affect
“wetlands,” a permil may have 1o be obtzined providing for mitigation or replacement wetlands. The
Clean Waler Act provides for civil, criminal and administrative penaliics for violations of its provisions,

The Clean Air Act of 1970, as amended, provides for increased federal, state and loca! regulation of the
emission of air potlutants. Centain of our operations are subjeci to the requirements of the Clean Air Act,
including large municipal solid waste landfilis and large municipal wasie-to-encrgy facilities. Standards
have aiso been imposed on manufacturers of ransportation vehicles (including wasie collection vehicles). In
1996 1he EPA issued new source performance standards and emission guidelincs controlling landfill gases
from new and existing large landfills. The regulations impose fimits on air emissions from Jarge municipal
solid waste landfills, subject most of our large municipal salid waste landfills to cenain operating permitting
requirements under Title V of the Clean Air Act, and, in many instances, require installmion of landfill gas
collection and control sysiems (o control emissions or to treat and wilize landfill gas on or off-site. In
general, controlling emissions involves drilling collection wells into a landfill and routing the gas to a
suitable cnergy recovery sysiem or combustion device. We are currently capturing and utilizing the
rencwable energy value of landfill gas a1 108 of our solid waste landfills. In January 2003, the EPA issued
additional regulations 1hat required affected landfills to prepare, by January 2004, startup, shutdown and
malfunction plans 10 ensure proper operation of gas collection, control and treatment systems.

The EPA has issued new source performance standards and emission guidelines for large and small
municipa) waste-10-energy facilities, which include stringent emission limits for various pollutants based on
Maximum Achicvable Control Technology standards. These sources are also subject to operating permil
requirements under Tille Vofthe Clean Air Act. The Clean Air Act requires the EPA to review and revise the
MACT standards applicable 1o municipal wasie-to-encrgy facilities every five years.

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, establishes certain employer responsibilitics,
including maintenance of a workplace free of recognized hazards likely to cause death or serious injury,
compliance with standards promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and various
reporting and record keeping obligations as well as disclosure and procedural requirements. Various
standards for nolices of hazards, safety in excavation and demolition work and the handling of asbestos,
may apply to our operations. The Depanmeni of Transportation and OSHA, slong with other federal
agenci¢s, have jurisdiction over certain nspects of hazardous materials and hazardous wasle, including
safety, movement and disposal . Various state and local agencics with jurisdiction over disposal of hazardous




waste may seck o regulate movement of hazardous materials in areas not otherwise preempted by federal
law.

There are zlso various state or provincial and local regulations that affect our operations. Sometimes states®
regulations are stricter than federal laws and regulations when not otherwise preempted by federal law. Addi-
tionally, our colleclion and landfill operations could be affected by kegislative and regulalory measures requiring or
encouraging waste reduction at the source and waste recycling,

Various siales have enacied, or are considering enacting, Jaws that restrict the disposal within she state of sohd
wasle generated cuiside the state. While laws that overtly discriminate against out-of-state waste have been found o
be unconstitutional, some Jaws that are less overtly discriminatory have been upheld in count. Additionally, certain
state and Jocal governments have enacted “flow control” regulations, which attempt to fequire that ali waste
generated within the state or local jurisdiction be deposited at specific sites. In 1994, the United States Supreme
Count ruled that a flow control ordinance that gave preference to & local facility that was privately owned was
unconstitational, but in 2007 the Coun ruled that an ordinance dirccting waste to a facility owned by the local
goverament was constitutional. In addition, from time 10 time, the United States Congress has considered
legistation authorizing states to adopt regulations, restrictions, Or taxes on the importation of out-of-state or
out-of-jurisdiction waste. The United States Congress” adoption of legistation allowing restrictions on intersiate
transportation of out-of-state or out-of-jurisdiction wasie or certain types of flow contrel or the adoption of
legistation affecting interstate transportation of waste a1 the statc leve! could adverscly affect our operations.
Couns’ interpreiation of flow control legislation or the Supreme Court decisions also could adversely affect our
solid waste management services.

Many states, provinces and local jurisdictions have enacted “fitness” laws that allow the agencies that have
jurisdiction over wasle services contracts or permits to deny or revoke these contracts or permits based on the
applicant or permit holder’s compliance history. Some states, provinces and local jurisdictions go further and
consider the compliance history of the pareny, subsidiaries or affiliated companies, in addition to the applicant or
permit holder. These |aws authorize the agencics to make determinations of an applicant or permit holder’s fitness to
be awarded a contract to operate, and 10 deny or revoke 8 contract or permit becguse of unfitness, unless there is a
showing that the applicant or permit holder has been rehabilitated through the adoption of various operating policics
and procedures put in place 10 assure future compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

See Notes 3 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures relating to our current assessments
of the impact of regulations on cur current and future operations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In an effort 10 keep our shareholders and the public informed about our business, we may make “forward-
looking statements.” Forward-looking statements usually relate to future events and anticipated revenues, earnings,
cash flows or other aspects of our operalions or operating results. Forward-looking statements generally include
statements conlaining:

* projections about accounting and finances,

+ plans and objectives for the future;

» projections or estimates aboul assumptions relating to our performance; and

* our opinions, views or belizfs about the effects of comrent or future events, circumstances or performance.

You should view these statements with caution. These statements are not guarantees of future performance,
circumstances of events. They are based on facts and circumstances known 10 3 as of the daie the statements are
made. All phases of our business are subject to uncertainties, risks and other influences, many of which we do not
control. Any of these factors, cither alone or taken together, could have a material adverse cffect on us and could
change whether any forward-looking statement ultimately tums out to be true. Additionally, we assume no
obligation 10 update any forward-looking statement s a result of future events, circumstances or developments. The
following discussion should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto.
Outlincd below are some of the risks that we believe could affect our business and financial statements for 2008 and
beyond. These are not the enly risks that we face. There may be other risks that we do nok presently know or that we
cwrently believe are immaterial that could also impair our busincss and financial position.
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The waste industry is highly competitive, and if we cannos successfully compete in the marketplace, our
business, financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely gffected.

We encounter intense competition from governmenta), quasi-governmental and private sources in all aspects
of our operations. In North America, the industry consists of large national waste management companics, and local
and regional companies of varying sizes and financial resources. We compete with these companies as well as with
countics and municipalities that maintain their own waste collection and disposal operations. These counties and
municipalities may have financia) compelitive edvantages because tax revenues are available 1o them and tax-
exempt financing is more readily available to them. Also, such govemmenial units may attempt 10 impose flow
control or other restrictions that would give them a competitive advaniage,

In addition, competitors may reduce their prices to expand sales volume or to win competitively bid contracts.
When this happens, we may roliback prices or offer lower pricing to attract or retain our customers, resulting in a
negative impact 1o our revenuc growth from yleld on base business.

If we do not successfully manage our costs, our income from operations could be lower than expected.

In recent years, we have implemented several profit improvcrneht initigtives aimed at lowering our costs and
¢nhancing our rcvenucs, and we continue (o scek ways to reduce our selling, general and administrative and
operzting txpenses. While generally we have been successful in managing our costs, including subcontractor costs
and the effect of fuel price increases, our initistives may not be sufficicnt. Even as our revenues increase, if we are
unable to control vasiable costs of increases 10 our fixed costs in the future, we will be unable to maintain or expand
our margins.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully implement our plans and strategies lo improve
margins and increase our income from operations.

We have announced several programs and strlegies thal we have implemented or planned to improve our
margins and operating results. For cxample, except when prohibited by contract, we have implemented price
increases and environmental fees, and we continue our fuel surcharge programs, all of which have increased our
intemal revenue growth. The loss of volumes as o result of price increases may negatively affect our cash flows or
results of operations. Additionally, we continue 1o seek to divest under-performing and non-stralegic assets if we
cannot improve their profitability. We may not be able to successfully negotiate the divestiture of under-performing
and non-strategic operations, which could result in asset impairments or the continued operation of low-margin
businesses. If we are not able 1o fully implement our plans for any reason, many of which are oul of our control, we
may not see the expected improvements in our income from operations or our operating margins.

The seasonal nature of our business and changes In general and local economic conditions cause our
quarterly results to fluctuate, and prior performance Is noi necessarily indicative of our future results.

Ovur operating revenues tend to be somewhat higher in summer months, primarily due to the higher volume of
constrection and demolition waste. The volumes of indusiria! and residential waste in centain regions where we
operate also tend 10 increase during the summer months, Our second and third guarter revenues and results of
operalions typically reflect these seasonal trends. Additionally, certain destructive weather conditions that tend 1o
occur during the second half of the year, such as the hurricanes experienced during 2004 and 2005, actually increase
our revenues in the areas affected. However, for several reasons, including significant start-up costs, such revenue
often generates comparatively lower margins, Certain weather conditions may resull in the temporary suspension of
our operations, which can significantly affect the operating results of the affected regions. The operating results of
our first quarter also often reflect higher repair and mainienance expenses because we rely on the slower winter
months, when waste flows are generally lower, to perform scheduled maintenance a1 our wasie-10-enCrgy facilities.

Our business is affected by changes in national and general economic factors that are also oulside of our
control, Including interest rates and consumer confidence. We have $2.9 billion of debt as of December 34, 2007
that is exposed to changes in marke! interesi rates because of the combined impact of our variable rate tax-exempl
bonds and our inlcrest rate swap agreements. Therefore, any increase in interest rates can significandy increase our
expenses. Additionally, although our services are of an essential naiure, a weak cconomy generally results in
decreases in volumes of wastc Benersted, which decreases our revenues. We also face risks related to other adverse
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external factors, such as the ability of our insurers 10 meet their commitments in a timely manner and the effect that
significant claims or litigation against insurance companies may have on such ability.

Any of the factors described above could materially adversely affec our results of operations and cash flows.
Additionally, due 10 these and other factors, operating results in any interim period are not necessarily indicative of
opergling results for an entire year, and operating results for any historica) period are not necessarily indicative of
operating results for a future period.

We cannol predict with certainty the extent of future costs under environmenial, health and safety laws,
and cannot guarantee that they will not be material

We could be liable if our operations cause epvironmental damage 1o our properties or to the property of other
landowners, particularly as e result of the contamination of air, drinking water or soil. Under current Jaw, we could
even be held liable for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired the assets or operations
involved, Also, we could be liable if we arrange for the transportation, disposal or treatment of hazardous substances
that cause environmental condamination, or if a predecessor owner made such armrangements and under applicable
law we are treated as & successor o the prior owner. Any substantial liability for environmenial damage could have 2
material adverse effect on our financie! condition, results of operations and cash flows,

In the ordinary course of our busiricss, we have in the past, and may in the future, become involved in a variety
of legal and administrative proceedings relating to land use and environmental laws and regulations. These include
proceedings in which:

» agencies of federal, state, local or foreign governments seck to impose liebility on us under applicable
statutes, sometimes involving civil or criminal penalties for violations, or to revoke or deny repewal of 2
permit we need; and

* local communilies and citizen groups, adjacent landowners or governmental agencies oppose the issuance of
a permit or approval we need, allege violations of the permits under which we operate or laws or regulations
to which we are subject, or seek to impose liability on us for environmental damage.

We generally seek 10 work with the authorities or other persons involved in these proceedings 1o resolve any
issues raised. If we are not successful, the adverse cutcome of one or more of these proceedings could resull in,
among other things, material increases in our costs or liabilitics as well as material charges for asset impairments.

The waste industry is subject to extensive government regulation, and existing or future regulations may
restrict our operations, increase our costs of operations or require us to make additional capital
expenditures.

Stringent government regulations at the federal, state, provincial, and local level in the United States and
Cenada have a substantial impact on our business. A large number of complex laws, rules, orders and interpretations
govern environmenial protection, health, safety, land vse, zoning, ransportation and related matters. Among cther
things, they may restrict our operations and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows by imposing conditions such as:

= limitations on siling and constructing new waste disposal, transfer or processing facilities or expanding
existing facilities;

+ limitalions, regulations or levies on collection and disposal prices, rates and volumes;

* limitations or bans on disposal or transportation of out-of-state wasie or certain categories of waste; or

* mandates regarding the disposal of solid wasie -

Regulations effecting the siting, design and closure of landfills could require us to undertake investigatory or
remedial aclivities, curtail operations or close landfills temporarily or permanently. Future changes in these
regulations may require us 1o modify, supplement or replace equipment or facilities. The costs of complying with
these regulations could be substantial.

In order to develop, expand or operate a landfill or other waste management facility, we must have various
facility permits and other governmental approvals, including those relaling to zoning, environments) protection and
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tand use. The permits and approvals are often difficult, time consuming and cosly to obiain and could contain
conditions that limit our operations.

Governmental authorities may enact climate change regulations that could increase our cosis to operute.

Environmental advocacy groups and regulatory agencies in the United States bave been focusing considerable
attention on the emissions of greenhouse gases and their potential role in climate change. The adoption of {aws and
regulations to implement controls of greenhouse gases, including the imposition of fees or taxes, could adversely
affect our collection and disposal operations. Additionally, certain of the states in which we operate are contem-
plating air poflution control regulations that are more stringent than existing and proposed federal regulations.
Changing environmental regulations could require us to take any number of actions, including the purchase of
emission allowances or installation of additional pollution control iechnology, and could make some operations less
profitable, which could adversely affect our resulis of operaiions.

Significant shortages in fuel supply or increases in fuel prices will increase our operafing expenses.

The price and supply of fue] are unprediciable, and can fluctuate significandy based on international, political
and economic circumstances, as well as other factors outside our control, such as actions by the Organization of the
Petroleun Exporting Countries, or OPEC, and other oil and gas producers, regional production patiems, weather
conditions and environmental concemns. In the past two years, the year-over-year changes in the average quarterly
fuc} prices have ranged from an increase of 28% to a decrease of 5%. We need fuel to run our collection and tansfer
trucks and equipment used in our Jandfill operations. Supply shortages could substantially increase our operating
expenses. Additionally, as fuel prices increase, our direct Operating expenses increase and many of our vendors raise
their prices a5 a means to offset their own rising costs. We have in place a fuel surcharge program, designed tooffset
increased fue} expenses; however, we may not be able to pass through all of our increased costs and some
customers’ contracts prohibit any pass through of the increased costs. We may initiate other programs Or Imeans 1o
guard against the rising costs of fucl, although there can be no essurances that we will be gble to do 30 or that such
programs will be successful. Regardless of any offsefting surcharge programs, the increased operating costs will
decrease our operating margins.

We have substantial financial assurance and insurance requirements, and increases in the costs of
obtaining adequate financial assurance, or the inadequacy of our insurance coverages, could negatively
impact our liguidity and increase our liabilities.

The amount of insurance we are required to maintain for environmental liability is governed by statutory
requirements. We believe that the cost for such insurance is high relative to the coverage it would provide, and
therefore, our coverages are generally maintained at the minimum statutorily required levels. We face the risk of
incurring liabilities for environmental damage if our insurance coverage is ulimatety inadequate to cover those
damages. We also carry a broad range of insurance coverages thar are Cuslomary for a company our size. We us¢
these programs to mitigate risk of loss, thereby allowing us to manage our self-inswrance exposure associated with
claims. To the extent oLt insurers were unable to meet theis obligations, or our own obligations for claims were more
than we estimated, there could be a material adverse effect to our financial results.

In addition, to fulfil! our financial assurance obligations with respect lo environmental closure and post-closure
liabilitics, we generally obtain letters of credit or surcty bonds, rely on insurance, including captive insurance, or
fund trust and escrow accounts. We currently have in place all financial assurance instruments necessary for our
operetions. We do not anticipate any unmanageable difficulty in obtaining financial assurance instruments in the
future. However, in the event we are unable to obtain sufficient surety bonding, tetters of credit or third-party
insurance coverage a1 reasonable COSL, OF One OF MOTe States Cease 10 view captive insurance as adequate COVErage,
we would need to rety on other forms of financial assurance. These types of financial assurance could be more
cxpensive to obtain, which could negatively impact our liquidity and capital resources and our ability o meet our
obligations as thcy become duc.

The possibility of development and expansion projects or pending acquisitions not being complaied or
certain other events could result in @ material charge against our earnings.

In accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles, we capitalize certain expenditures and advances
relaling to disposal site development, expabsion projects, acquisitions, software development costs and other
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projects. If a facility or operation is permanently shut down or determined 1o be impaired, a pending acquisition is
not completed, a development or expansion project is not completed o7 is determined to be impaired, we will charge
against camnings any unamortized capitalized expenditures and advances relating 1o such facility, acquisition or
project. We reduce the charge against carnings by sny portion of the capitalized costs that we estimate will be
recoverable, through sale or otherwise.

In future periods, we may be required to incur charges against earnings in accordance with this policy, or due o
other events thal cause impairments. Any such charges could have g materia) adverse effect on our results of
operations.

Our revenues will fluctuate based on changes in commodity prices.

Our recycling operations process for sale cenain recyclable materials, including fibers, aluminum and glass,
all of which are subject w0 significant market price fluctuations. The majority of the recyclables that we process for
sale are paper fibers, including old corrugated cardboard, known as QCC, and old newsprint, or ONP. [n the past two
years, the year-gver-year changes in the quarterly average market prices for OCC ranged from a decyease of as much
as 34% 10 an increase of as much as 83%. The same comparisons for ONP have ranged from a decrease of as much
as 16% 10 an increase of as much as 47%. These fluctuations can affect future operating income and cash flows.
Additionally, our recycling operations offer rebates to suppliers, based on the market prices of commodities we buy
10 process for resale. Therefore, even if we experience higher revenucs based on increased market prices for
commodities, the rebates we pay will also increase.

Additionally, there may be significant price fluctuations in the price of methane gas. electricity and other
energy related products that are marketed and sold by our landfill gas recovery, waste-to-encrgy end independent
power production plant operations, The marketing and sales of energy related products by owr landfill gas and
waste-to-encrgy operations are generally pursuant 1o long-term sales agreements. Therefore, market fluctuations do
not have a significant effect on these operations in the short-term. However, as those agrecments expire and are up
for rencwal, changes in market prices may affect our revenucs. Additionally, revenues from our independent power
production plants can be affected by price fluctuations, In the past iwo years, the ycar-over-year changes in the
average quarterly clectricity prices have increased or decreased by as much as 3%.

The developmens and acceptance of alternatives to landfill disposal and waste-to-energy facilities could
reduce our ability to operute at full capacity.

Our customers are increasingly using altematives to landfill end waste-10-energy disposal, such as recycling
and composting. In addition, some state and loca) govemments mandate recycling and waste reduction at the sousce
and prohibil the disposal of certain types of waste, such as yard waste, at landfills or waste-t0-energy facilities.
Although such mandates arc & useful 100l 1o protect our environment, these developments reduce the volume of
waste going to landfills and waste-to-energy facilities in centain areas, which may affect our ability lo operete our
landfills and waste-to-energy facilitiss at full capacity, as well as the prices that we can charge for landhill disposal
and waslc-10-energy services.

Efforts by labor unions to organize our employees could increase our operating expenses.

Lebor unions constantly make altempts 0 organize our employees, and thesc cfforts will likely continue in the
future. Certain groups of our employees have already chosen 1o be represented by unions, and we have negotiated
collective bargaining agreements with some of the groups. Additional groups of employees may seek union
representation in the future, and, if successful, the negotistion of collective bargaining agreements could divert
management attention and result in increased operating expenses and lower netl income. If we are unable to
negotiate acceptable collective bargaining agreements, work stoppages, including strikes, could ensue. Depending
on the type and duration of any labor disruptions, our operating expenses coutd increase significantly, which could
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Currently pending or future litigation or governmental proceedings could result in material adverse
consequencel, including judgments or settlements.

We are involved in civil litigation in the ordinary course of our business and frem time-to-time are involved in
governmental proceedings relating 10 the conduct of our business, The timing of the final resolutions to these types
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of matters is often uncertain. Additionally, the possible oulcomes or resolutions o these matters could include
adverse judgments or settlements, cither of which could require substantial payments, adversely affecting our
tiquidity.

We are increasingly dependent on technology in our operations and {f our technology fails, our business
could be adveryely affected.

We may experience problems with either the operation of our current information technology systems or the
development and deployment of new information techrology systems that could adversely affect. or even
temporarily disrupt, all or a portion of our operations untif resolved. We encountered problems with the new
revenue management application that we had been pitoting throughout 2007, resulling in the teemination of the pilot
while we determine how to proceed on an enierprise-wide basis. The termination of the pilot may Jead to additional
costs and expenses, which could be material. Additionally, the delay in implementing 8 new, enterpfise-wide
revenue management system may negatively affect our ability 10 improve our operating margins, Finally, there can
be no assurances that our issues related to the Jicensed application will not ulimately result in an impairment
charge, which could be material.

Additionally, any systems failures could impede our ability to timely colict and report financial results in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

We may experience adverse impacts on our reported results of operations as a result of adopting new
accounting standards or interpretations.

Our implemeniation of and compliance with changes in accounting rules, including new accounting rules and
interpretations, could adversely affect our reported cperating results or cause unanticipated flucluations in our
reported operating results in future periods.

Unforeseen circumstances could result in a need for additional capital.

We currently expect 1o meet our anticipated cash needs for capital expenditures, acquisitions and other cash
expenditures with our cash flows from operations and, to the extent necessary, additional financings. However,
materially adverse events could reduce our cash flows from operations. Our Board of Dircctors has approved a
capital allocation program that provides for up 1o $1.4 billion in aggregate dividend payments and share repurchases
during 2008 and recently announced that it expects future quarterly dividend payments, when declared by the Board
of Directors, 10 be $0.27 per share. If our cash flows from operations were negatively affected. we could be forced 10
reduce capilal expenditures, acquisllion activity, share repurchase activity or dividend declarations. In these
circumstances we instead may elect 1o incur more indebtedness. If we made such an election, there can be no
assurances that we would be able to obtain additional financings on acceptable terms. In these circumstances, we
would likely use our revolving credin facility 10 meet our cash needs.

In the cvent of a default under our credit facility, we could be required to immedialely repay all outstanding
borrowings and make cash deposits as coltateral for all obligations the facility supports, which we may not be able
to do. Additionally, any such defaull could cause a defaull under many of our other credit agreements and deb
instruments. Any such default would have 2 maierial adverse effect on our ebility (o operate.

Iterm 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Ttem 2. Properties.

Our principal executive offices are in Houston, Texas, where we Jease approximately 390,000 square feet
under leases expiring at various times through 2010. Qur operating Group offices are in Pennsylvania, Illinois,
Georgia, Arizona, New Hampshire and Texas. We also have field-based administrative offices in Arizona, lllinois
end Canada. We own or lease real property in most Jocations where we have operations. We have operations in each
of the fifty states other than Mentana and Wyoming, We also have operations in the District of Columbia, Puerto
Rico and throughoui Caneda.

Our principal property and equipment consist of land (primarily landfills and other disposal facilities, transfer
stations and bases for collection operations), buildings, vehicles and equipment, We believe that our vehicles,
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tquipment, and operaling propertics are adequately maintained and sufficient for our current operations, However,
we expect to continue to make investments in additional equipment and property for expansion, for replacement of
assets, and in connection with future 2cquisitions. For more informaton, see Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operarions included within this report.

The following teble summarizes our various operations at December 31 for the penods noted:

2001 2006

Landfills:
OWNEd .. o o e e e ey 216 213
Operated through lease agreements(a) .. ... oviievi et i rranes 26 24
Operated through contractual 8greements .. . ... .. oo i iiiin i ann 35 36
2717 283
Transfer StaUONS . . . ..ot i i i e e o.M 342
Material recovery facilities .. ... .. ... . i e P 9¢ 108
Secondary processing facilities . ....... ... . ... ... o il e, 6 5
Waste-to-energy faciliies ... .. ... i e e e 16 17
Independent power production plants. ... ...... .. o ei i iii i i 5 b

(a) From an operating perspective, landfills we operate through lease agreements are similar 1o landfills we own
because we own the landfill’s operating permit and will operate the landfill for the entire lease term, which in
many cases is the life of the landfill.

The following table provides certain information by Group regarding the 242 landfills owned or operated
through lease agreements and a count, by Group, of contracted disposal sites as of December 31, 2007

Contracted
Total Penoltted Expansion Disposal
LapdMls  Acreagein) Acreage(d) Ac <) Sites
Bastem .....covinivnennanerannn 41 29,435 5934 601 6
Midwest. ...........ccivveenanan 73 28,251 7,081 1,827 9
Southern ... ... vivvrn i ey 81 39,590 12,039 507 12
Western .. ... e 43 41,744 9,981 1,162 B
Wheelabrator . ................... _4 781 289 - -
242 139,801 35,324 4,097 2_

(a) “Total acreage” includes permitted acreage, expansion acreage, other acreage available for future disposal that
has not been permitied, buffer land and other land owned by our landfill operations.

() “Permitied acreage” consists of all acreage at the landfill encompassed by an gctive permit to dispose of waste.
(c) “Expansion acreage” consists of unpermitied acreage where the related expansion efforts meet our criteria to be
included as expansion airspace. A discussion of the related criteria is included within the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cordition and Results of Operarions — Critical Accounting Estimates
and Assumptions section included herein,
ltem 3. Legal Proceedings.
Information regarding our lega! proceedings can be found under the Litigation section of Note 10 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.
Item 4. Submission of Matters o a Vote of Security Holders.
We did not submit any matiers to 2 vole of our stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2007.




PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE") under the symbol "WML The
following table sets forth the range of the high and low per share sales prices for our common stock as reported on
the NYSE:

Migh  Low

2006
FIrSt QUAIIET . . oot iah e e e $3535 $30.08
bt I 1T T I 3834 338)
Third QUarer . .. ...vvviee it cas ety 3741 32.88
Fourth, QUaner . ... ..ottt a s annetana s annes 3864 3568

2007
FIrSQUAMET . . . ... ettt $38.70 $32.56
SCCORd QUAIET . .\ v v et 4035 3393
Third QUarner . . . .. ..t it e i e 4080 3394
FOUmh QUaTIEr . oo v it ie i imt e e e e e 3901 3256

2008
First Quarter (through February 1),2008) .. ....... 0 oviveeevninninennns $3345 %2810

On February 11, 2008, the closing sale price as reported on the NYSE was $32.16 per share. The number of
holders of record of our common stock at February 11, 2008 was 15,2135,
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The graph below shows the relative invesiment performance of Waste Management, Inc. common stock, the
Dow Jones Wasie & Disposal Services Index snd the S&P 500 Index for the last five years, assuming reinvestment
of dividends m date of payment into the common stock. The graph is presented pursuant to SEC rules and is not
meant to be an indication of our future performance. '

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

$200

$150

snoofr

-~ WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
$30 =\~ S&P S00 INDEX
-0~ DOW JONES WASTE & DISPOSAL SERVICES

30 T T T N
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
1AV 17103 127104 [Falt ] 130104 1147
Waste Management, Inc. $100 5129 $134 $140 5174 $158
S&P 500 index 3100 $129 $143 $I50 $173 3183
Dow Jones Waste & Disposal Services Index $100 $133 5138 $146 5179 5187

In Qctober 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Direciors approved a capital allocation program
authorizing up 1o $1.2 billion of stock repurchases and dividend payments annually for cach of 2005, 2006 and
2007. Under this program, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.20 per share for 2 (otal of $449 million in 2005;
$0.22 per share for a toal of $476 million in 2006; and $0.24 per share for a tota! of $495 million in 2007.

In March 2007, our Board of Directors epproved up to $600 million of additional share repurchases for 2007,
and in November 2007 approved up to $300 million of additional share repurchases. increasing the amount of
capital authorized for our share repurchases and dividends for 2007 o $2.1 billion. in 2007, we repurchascd
approximately 40 million shares of our common stock for $1,421 million. All of the repurchases were made
pursuant 10 our capital allocation program. The following table summarizes our fourth quaner 2007 share
repurchase activity:
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Issuer Purchases of Equltly Securities
Total Number Approvimate Maxhmum

of Shares Dollar Yalue of
Purchased a3 Shares that
Part of May Yer be
Total Number  Aversge Prics  Publicly Announced Purchased Under
of Shares Pald per Ptans or the Plans
Period Purchased Share(a) Programs or Programsib)
Ocwber 131 .......... 2,143,600 $37.74 2,143,600 $150 million
November 1-30......... 4,782,300 $34.66 4,782,300 $284 million
December 1-31......... 2,941,900 $34.01 2,941,900 $184 million
Total ....ovivreean 9,867,800 $35.13 9,867,800

(a) This amount represcents the weighted average price paid per share ond includes a per share commission paid for
all sepurchases.

(b) For each period presented, the maximum dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under the program
has been provided net of the dividends declarcd and paid in the fourth quarter of 2007, As discussed above, the
amount of capital available for share repurchases and dividends during 2007 was $2.4 bitlion. During the year
ended December 31, 2007, we paid $495 million in dividends. The “Total” amount available for repurchases
under the plan represents the remaining portion of the $300 million of additional share repurchases approved by
the Board of Dircctors in November 2007,

In 2006, we repurchased 31 million shares of our common stock for $1,072 million, all of which was made
pursuant (o the capital ellocation program discussed above.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The information below was derived from the avdited Consolidzated Financial Siatements included im this repon
and in previous annual reports we filed with the SEC. This information should be read together with those
Consolidated Financial Statememis and the notes thereto. The adoption of new accounting pronguncements,
changes in certain accounting policies and cenain reclassifications impact the comparability of the financial
information presented below. These historical results are not necessarily indicative of the resufls to be expected in

the future,

Statement of Operations Data:

Operating revenues(c) ................coo i

Costs and cxpenses:
Operating(c) ......... ... cooiiiinannn.s
Selling, general and administrative . .. ..........
Depreciation and amortization . ...............
Restructoning . .. ..o cvv i vie e

{Income) expense from divestitures, assel
impairments and unusual items. . ............

Income from operations . . ..... .. e
Otherexpense, Bet. . ... .o renraaanass
Income before income taxes end accounting

ChANMBES ... .. i i i
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes. .........
Income before accounting changes . ..............
Accounting changes, netof taxes . .. ... . h

NelincOmME . ... .ot nians s e annns

Basic eamings pef common share:
Income before accounting changes .. ...........
Accounting changes, netof taxes . .............

Netincome . ...t iii i

Diluted eamings per conmnon share:
Income before accounting changes . . ...........
Accounting changes, netof taxes . .............

Netincome ....... .ot rianes s

Cash dividends declared per common share (2005
includes $0.22 paid in2006) .................

Cashdividendspaid. . ...........c.. v,

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):

Working capital {deficit) ......................
Goodwill and other intangible assets, nel .. ... .....
Totalassets .. ... ... it
Debt, including cummemiportion. ... ...l
Stockholders’ equity . .. ..... ... ... i,

Yenrs Exded December 1.
2007(a} 2006{a} 2005(n) 2004 2003{b)
(In millions, except per share amounts)

$13310 813,363 $13,074 512516 511648
8,402 8,587 8,631 8228 7.591
1,432 1,388 1,276 1,267 1216
i,259 1,334 1,361 1,336 1,265
to - 28 (1) 44
(47) 25 68 {13) (8}
11,056 11,334 11,364 10,817 10,108
2,254 2,029 1,710 1,699 1,540
(551) (353) (618) {321 @7
1,703 1414 1,092 1,178 1,123
540 325 (90) 247 404
1,163 1,149 1,182 931 T8
-— —_ — 8 (89)
$1.163 $1149 §$ 1,182 § 939 $ 630
$ 225 8 213 §$ 211§ 162 § L22
—_ — — 0.01 (0.15)

$ 225 § 213 § 2l $ 163 $ 107
$ 223 $ 210 § 209 § 160 $ 12
—_ — —_— 0.0) (0.15)

$ 223 $ 210 $ 209 % 161 § 106
$ 096 $ 066 § 102 $ 075 § 0.0
5 $ 088 § 080 $ 075 § 001
$ (118) $ (85) $ 194 5 (386) $(1.019)
5,530 5413 5.514 5453 5376
20,175 20,600 21,133 20,905 20,382
8337 &80T 8,687 8.566 8,511
5,792 6,222 6,121 5971 5,602




(a) For more information regarding this financial data, see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations section included in this report. For disclosures associated with the impact
of the adoption of new accounting pronouncements and changes in our accounting policies on the comparability
of this information, sce Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) In the first quarter of 2003, we recorded $101 million, including tax benefit, or $0.17 per diluied share, as a
charge to cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles for the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS") No. 143, Accounting for Asse! Retirement Obligations. Substantially all of this
charge was related to changes in accounting for landfill final capping, closure and post-closure costs. Effective
January 1, 2003, we also changed our accounting for repairs and maintenance and loss contracts, which resulted
in a credit to cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles of $55 million, net of taxes, or 30.09 per
diluted share. On December 31, 2003, we began consolidating two limited liability companies from which we
lease three waste-to-cnergy facilitics as a result of our implementation of Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB") Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Enfities (revised December
2003) — an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. Upon consolidating these cntitics, we recorded a charge to
cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles of $43 million, including tax benefit, or 5007 per
diluted share.

(¢) Effective January 1, 2004, we began recording all mandatory fecs and taxes that create direct obligations for us
as operating expenses and recording revenue when the fees and taxes are bilted 1o our customers. In prior years,
certain of these costs had been treated as pass-through costs for financial reporting purposes. In 2004, we
conformed the 2003 presentation of our revenues and expenses with this presentation by increasing both our
revenue and our operating expense by $74 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulls of Operations,
This section includes a discussion of our operations for the three years ended December 31, 2007. This

. discussion may contain forward-looking statements thai anticipate results based on management's plans that are

subject 1o uncertainty. We discuss in more detail various factors that could cause actual results to differ from
expeciations in [tem 1A, Risk Factors. The following discussion should be read in Fight of thar disclosure and
together with the Consolidaicd Financial Statements and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Overview

Our pricing program, cost control measures and fix-or-seck exit initiatives continued to provide eamings
growth, margin expansion, and strong free cash flow in 2007, Despite volume losses resulting from pricing
competition and an ecoromic softening, particularly in the residential construction sector, our 2007 operating
results were strong.

We improved our income from operations in 2007 by $225 million, or 11%, as compared with 2006. In
addition, income from operations as & percentage of revenue increased by 1.7 percentage points in 2007 as
compared with 2006. This camings growth and margin cxpansion is 2 reflection of our cominued focus on
improving our cost structure and pricing cach customer to provide profitable retums, as well as significant returns
provided by our recycling operations in 2007, largely duc to a very strong market for recycling commodities.

Our revenues in 2007 decreased by $53 million, or 0.4%, as compared with 2006, primarily as a result of
volume declines and divestitures, offset largely by increased yield from base business and higher recycling
commodity prices, The loss of revenue due 10 volume declines in 2007 has resulted primarily from pricing
competition and a significant slowdown in residential construction across the United Stares.

In 2007, we decreased our operating expenses despite incurring $35 million in operating costs during the year
for labor disputes in Oakland and Los Angeles, California. In 2007, operating expenses decreased by $185 million,
or 2.2%, and as a percentage of revenue, declined by 1.2 percentage points as compared with 2006. Our selling,
genera! and adminisirative expenses increased by $44 million, or 3.2%, as compared with 2006, primarily a result of
higher costs associated with the implementation and cxecution of our sialegic intiatives that we believe will
improve operations and processes over the long-term.
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Our free cash flow increased in 2007 due to lower capital spending and increased proceeds from divestitures,
the effects of which were pardally offset by lower net cash provided by opemting activities. Our capital
expenditures were less in 2007 than 2006 largely due to reladvely high levels of fleet capital spending in 2006
to preparc for significant mandated changes in heavy-dutly truck engines that began in January 2007. The increase in
proceeds from diveslitures was a result of our continued fixsor-seek exit initiative. We calculate free cash flow as
shown in the table below (in millions): ,

' Years Eaded

December 31,
w200
Net cash provided by operating activiies . ...........0ovvereennne, ... 352439 $2540
Capital expendilures. . . ... ... it i e e (L2l (1.329)
Proceeds from divestitures of businesses (net of cash divested) and other sales
T S 278 240
Free'cash flow(a)............ e e $156 §1.45]

(a} We have included free cash flow, which is a non-GAAP measure of liquidity, in our disclosures because we use
this measure in the evaluation and management of our busincss and believe it is indicative of our abilily to pay
our quarterly dividends, repurchase our common stock and fund acquisitions and other investments, Free cash
flow is not intended to replace the GAAP measure of “Net cash provided by operating activilies,” which is the
most comparable GAAP measure. However, by subtrecting cash used for capital expenditures and adding the
cash proceeds from divestitures and other asset sales, we belicve frce cash flow gives investors greater insight
into our liquidity.

We expect that in 2008 we may continue (0 face chailenges related to volume losses as a resull of general
economic conditions and pricing competition. However, we arc redirecting some of the focus in our sales
departinent from the right-pricing of existing customers, which has largely been completed, 1o secking oul new
customers that will provide profitable growth to gur business. Throughout 2007, we continued 10 focus on building a
trusted brand that stands for quality, reliable service, safely and environmental protection. We plan 1o cultivaie this
reputation; focus on quality customer service; actively manage our capital requirements and scheduled debt
repayments; and grow our business with targeted acquisitions and other investments that will improve our current
operations’ performance and enhance and expand our services. We believe all of these measures will ensure our
ability 1o return value 10 our sharcholders.

Technology Update — For the last severel years, we have been introducing systems and technologies to
tmprove our business processes and profitability. We mci:n.lly have successfully deployed our FastLane system, an
enterprise-wide, eutomarted point-of-sale system for management of scale house tcketing and our Compass system,
& flect maintenance system that gutomates many shop functions and tracks repairs. We also are proceeding with
pilots of onboard computer systems for our fleet collection operations and modules for our pricing program. As parnt
of our focus on technology, in October 2005, we entered into agreements with a major software vendor to license its
waste and recycling revenue management application and have the vendor implement the licensed software
throughout the Company on a fixed price basis. In January 2007, we began a pilot test of the licensed application in
one of our smaller markel arcas, while the rest of our market areas continued to operate using our existing revenue
management system. The results of the pilot demonstrated to us that the licensed application would not work. In the
fourth quarter of 2007, we terminated the pilot and the pilot market area’s operations arc being returned to our
existing revenue management sysicm, Although we have continued to press the vendor to provide a revenue
management application that fulfills its obligations 1o the Company, our negotiations have not yet resulted in &
satisfaclory commitment from the vendor. In March 2008, in an effort to avoid litigation, we will mediate and
attempt {0 resolve our disputes with the vendor. Therefore, we will not be able to deploy a new revenue management
system in the foreseeable future and we will continue to run cur current system, although it does not provide the
benefits we were expecting to get from the Jicensed application. However, we may be able to make enhancements (o
our current system. Qur plans to install a new revenue management system, to make enhancements to our current
systemn and to address the issucs with the software vendor may result in cost increases, each of which could
negatively affect our future cash flow end camings.
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Basis of Presentation of Consolidated and Segment Financial Information

Accounting Changes — FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109)and FSP No. 48-1, Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No. 48 — Effective January 1,
2007, we adopted FIN 48 and FSP No. 48-1. FIN 48 prescribes a recogrition threshold and measurement ausibute
for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax posilions taken or expected 1o be taken in tax retums. In
addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on the de-recognition, classification and disclosure of tax positions, as well as
the accounting for related interest and penaltics. FSP No. 48-1 provides guidance associated with the criteria that
must be cvaluated in determining if 8 tax position has been effectively settled and should be recognized as a
tax benefit.

SFAS No. 123{R) — Share-Based Payment —- On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Paymens, which requires compensation expense to be recognized for alt share-based paymenis made
to employees based on the fair value of the award at the date of grant. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the
modified prospective method, which results in (i) the recognition of compensation expense using the provisions of
SFAS No. 123(R) for al] share-bascd awards granted or modified after December 31, 2005 and (ii) the secognilion of
compensation expensc using the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation for all,
unvesied awards outstanding at the date of adoption.

Refer 10 Note 2 of our Consolidated Financia) Statements for additional information related 10 the impact of
the implementation of these new accounting pronouncements on our resulis of operations and financial position.

Reclassification of Segment Information — In the first quarter of 2007, we realigned our Eastem, Midwest and
Western Group organizations to facilitate improved business exccution. We moved certain market areas in the
Eastern and Midwest Groups to the Midwest and Western Groups, respectively. In addition, in carly 2007 we moved
centain of our WMRA operations to our Westem Group to more closely align their recycling operations with the
related collection, transfer and disposal operations. We have reflected the impact of these realignments for all
periods presented 10 provide financial information that consistenily reflecis our curvent approach to managing our

opcerations.
Crirical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

In preparing our financial siatements, we make numerous estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting
for and recognition and disclosure of assels, liabilities, stockholders' equity, revenues and expenses. We must make
these estimates and assumptions because certain information that we use is dependent on future events, cannot be
calculated with 8 high degree of precision from data available or simply cannot be readily calculated based on
generally accepted methodologies. In some cases, these estimates are particularly difficult to determine and we
must exercise significant judgment. In preparing our financial statements, the most difficult, subjective and complex
cstimates and the assumptions that deal with the greatest amount of uncentainty relate to our accounting for landfills,
envircnmental remediation liabilities, esset impairments and self-insurance reserves and recoveries, as described
below. Actual results coydd differ materially from the estimates and assumptions that we use in the preparation of
our financial statements.

Landfills — The cost estimates for final capping, closure and post-closure aclivities at landfills for which we
have respoasibility are estimated based on our inlerpretations of current requirements and proposed or anticipated
regulatory changes. We also estimate additional costs, pursuant 10 the requirements of SFAS No. 143, based on the
amount a third party would charge us to perform such activities even when we expect to perform these activities
internally. We estimate the airspace (0 be consumed related to each final copping event and the timing of each final
capping event and of closure and post-closure activitics. Because landfill final capping, closure and post-closure
obligations are measured at estimated [air value using present value technigues, changes in the estimeted timing of
future landfil) final copping and closure and post-closure activities would have an effect on these liabilities. related
assels and resulis of operaiions.

Landjill Costs — We estimate the total cost to develop each of our landfill sites to ils remaining permitied and
expansion capacity. This estimate includes such costs as landfill liner material and installation, excavation for
airspace, landfill leachate collection systems, landfill gas collection systems, environmenial monitoring equipment
for groundwater and landfi}l gas, directly related enginecring, capitalized interest, on-site road construction and
other capilal infrastructure costs. Additionally, landfill development includes afl land purchases for landfil)
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footprint and required landfill buffer property. The projection of these landfill costs is dependent, in pant, on future
events. The remaining amontizable basis of each landfill includes costs to develop a site 10 jts remaining permitted
and expansion capacity and includes amounts previously expended and capitalized, net of accumulated airspace
amortization, and proiections of future purchase and development casts.

Final Capping Costs — We estimate the cost for each final capping event based on the area to be finally
capped and the capping materials and activities required. The estimaies also consider when these costs would
actually be paid and factor in inflation and discount rates. Our engincering personnel allocate final landfill capping
costs to specific capping events. The landfill capacity associated with each final capping event is then quantificd and
the final capping costs for cach event are amortized over the related capacily associated with the event as waste is
disposed of al the landfill. We review these costs annually, or more often if significant facts change, Changes in
eslimates, such as timing or cost of construction, for final capping events immediately impact the required liability
and the corresponding asset. When the change in estimate retates to a fully consumed asset, the adjustment to the
asset must be amortized immediately through expense. When the change in estimaie relates to a final capping event
that has not been fully consumed, the adjustment to the asset is recognized in income prospectively as a component
of landfill airspace amortization.

Closure and Post-Closure Costs — We basc our estimales for closure and post-closure costs on our inter-
pretations of permit and regulatory requirements for closure and post-ciosure maintenance and monitoring. The
estimates for landfill closure and post-closure costs also consider when the costs would acrually be paid and factor
in inflation and discount rates. The possibility of changing legal and regulatory requirements and the forward-
looking nature of these types of costs make any eslimation Or assumption less centain. Changes in estimates for
closure and post-closure events immediately impact the required liability and the corresponding asset. When the
change in estimale relstes (o a fully consumed asset, the adjustment 1o the assel must be amortized immediately
through expense. When the change in cstimate relates to a landfill assct that has not been fully consumed, the
adjustment 1o the asset is recognized in income prospectively as a component of landfill airspsce amortization.

Remaining Perminted Airspace — Our engineers, in consultation with third-pany engineening consultants and
surveyors, are responsible for determining remaining permitted airspace st our landfills. The remaining permitted
airspace is determined by an annual survey, which is then used 10 compare the existing landfill topography \o the
expecied fingl Jandfill lopography.

Expansion Airspace - We include currently unpermitted airspace in our estimate of remaining permitted and
expansion airspace in certain circumstances. First, to include airspace associated with an expansion effort, we must
generally expect the initial expansion permil application to be submitted within one year, and the final expansion
permit to be received within five years. Second, we musi belicve the success of obtaining the expansion permit is
likely, considering the following criteria:

» Personne) are actively working to obtain land use and Jocal, state or provincial approvals for an expansion of

an existing landfil);

» Itis Jikely that the approvats will be received within the normat application and processing time periods for

approvals in the jurisdiclion in which the landfill is located,

* 'We have a legal right to use or obtain land to be included in the expansion plan;

+ There are no significant known technical, legal, community, business, or political restrictions or similar
issues that could impair the success of such expansion;

« Financial analysis has been complcied, and the results demonsirate that the expansion has & positive
financia) and operational impact; and

* Airspace and related costs, including additional closure and post-closure costs, have been estimated based on
conceptual design.

For unpermitied airspace (o be initially included in our estimaie of remaining permilted and expansion
airspace, the expansion effort must meet all of the criteria lisied above. These criteria are-evalvated by our ficld-
based cngincers, accountants, managers and others 10 identify potential obstacles to obtaining the permits, Once the
unpermitted airspace is included, our policy provides that airspace may continuc to be included In remaining
permilted and cxpansion airspace even if these criteria are no longer met, based on the facts and circumstances ofa
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specific tandfill. In these circumstances, continued inclusion must be approved trough a landfill-specific review
process that includes approval of the Chief Financia) Officer and 8 review by the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors on a quarterly basis. Of the 54 landfill sites with expansions al December 31, 2007, 18 landfills required
the Chief Financial Officer to approve the inclusion of the unpermitted nirspace. Eight of these landfills required
approval by the Chief Financial Officer because of a lack of community or politica! support that could impede the
expansion process. The remaining ten landfills required approval primarily due to the permit application processes
not meeting the one- or five-year requirements, generally as a resuh of state-specific permitting procedures.

Once the remaining permitted and expansion airspace is determined, an airspace utilization factor, or AUF, is
established 1o calculate the remaining permitted and expansion capagity in tons. The AUF is established using the
measured density obtained from previous annual surveys and then adjusted toaccount for senlemenl. The amount of
settlement that is forecasted will take into account seversl site-specific factors including current and projected mix
of waste type, initiat and projected waste density, estimated number of years of life remaining, depth of underlying
waste, and enticipated access 10 moisture through precipitation or recirculation of landfill leachate. In addition, the
initial selection of the AUF is subject to a subsequent multi-level review by our engineering group and the AUF used
is reviewed on a periodic basis and revised as necessary. Our historical experience generally indicates that the
impact of setdement at a landfill is greater later in the life of the landfill when the waste placed at the landfill
approaches its highest point under the permit requirements.

When we include the expansion airspace in our calculations of available airspace, we also include the projected
costs for development, as well as the projected asset retirement cost related 0 fina) capping, and clesure and post-
closure of the cxpansion in the amortization basis of the landfill. :

After determining the costs and remaining permilted and expansion capacity a1 cach of our landfills, we

determine the per ton rates that will be expensed through landfill amortization. We look at factors such ag the waste

stream, geography and rate of compaction, among others, to determine the number of tons necessary (0 fill the
remaining permitied and expansion airspace relating to these costs and activitics. We then divide costs by the
corresponding number of tons, giving us the rate per ton Lo expense for cach activity as wasle is received and
deposited a1 the landfill. We calculate per ton amortization rates for cach landfill for assets associated with each
fina! capping event, for asscts related to closure and post-closure activities and for all other coss capitalized or to be
cepitalized in the future. These rates per ton are updated annually, or more ofien, as significant facts change.

It is possible that actual results, including the amount of costs Incurred, the timing of final capping. closure and
post-closure activities, our airspace utilization or the success of our expansion effonis, could ultimately tum outtobe
significantly different from our estimates and assumptions. To the extent that such eslimates, or related assump-
tions, prove (o be significantly diffcrent than actual results, lower profitability may be experienced due to higher
amortization rates, higher final capping. closure or posi-closure rates, or higher expenses; or higher profilability
may result if the opposite occurs. Most significantly, if our belief that we will receive an expansion permit changes
adversely and it is determined that the expansion capacity should no longer be cornsidered in calculating the
recoverability of the landfill assel, we may be required to recognize an asscl impairment, If it is determined that the
likelihood of receiving an expansion permit has become remote, the capitalized costs related to the expansion effon
arc expensed immediately.

Environmenial Remediation Liabilities — We are subject to an aray of laws and regulations relating 10 the
protection of the environment. Under current laws and regulations, we may have Liabilitics for environmental
damage caused by our operations, or for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired a site. These
liabilities include potentially responsible party, or PRP, investigations, setiements, cenain legal and consultant fees,
as well as costs directly associated with site investigation and clean up, such as materials and incremental internal
costs directly related to the remedy. We provide for expenscs associated with environmenta) remediation obli-
gations when such amounts arc probable and can be reasonably estimated. We routinely review and evaluate sites
that require remediation and determine our estimated cost for the likely remedy based on several estimates and
assumptions.

We estimate costs required to remediate sites where it is probable that a liability has been incurred based on
site-specific facts and circumstances. We routinely review and cvaluate sites that require remediation, considering
whether we were an owncr, operator, transporter, or generator at the site, the amount and type of waste hauled 10 the
sitc and the number of years we were associated with the site. Next, we review the same 1ype of information with
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respect (o other named and unnamed PRPs. Estimates of the cost for the likely remedy are then cither developed
using our internal resources or by third-party environmental engineers or other service providers. Intemally
developed estimetes are based on:

* Management's judgment and experience in remediating our own and unrelated parties' sites;
+ Information available from regulatory agencics as to costs of remediation;

= The aumber, financial resources and relative degree of responsibility of other PRPs who may be liable for
remediation of a specific site; and

* The typical allocation of costs among PRPs unless the actual nllocmio.n has been determined.

Asser Impairments — Our long-lived assets, including landfills and landfill expansions, are carried on our
financial statements based on their cost less accumulated depreciation or amortization, We review the carrying
value of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumsances indicate that the
camying value of an asset may not be recoverable. In order to asscss whether a potential impairment exists, the
assets’ camrying values are compared with their undiscounted expected future cash flows. Estimating future cash
flows requires significant judgment about factors such as generel economic conditions and projected growth rates,
and our estimates often vary from cash flows eventuelly realized. Impairments are measured by comparing the fair
value of the asset to its carrying value. Fuir value is determined by cither an intemally developed discounted
projecicd cash flow analysis of the asset or an actual third-party valuation. I the fair value of an asset is determined
t0 be less than the carrying amount of the asset, an unpmrmcnl in the amount of the difference is recorded in the
period that the Impairmemt indicator occurs.

There arc other considerations for impairments of landfills and goodwill, as described below.

Landfilly -~ Centain impairmem indicators require significant judgment and undersianding of the wastc
industry when applicd (o landfill development or expansion projects. For example, a regulator may initially deny a
landfill expansion permit application though the expansion permit is ultimately granted. In addition, management
may periodically diveri waste from one Jandfill 10 another to conserve remaining permitted landfill airspace.
Thercfore, centain events could occur in the ordinary course of business and not necessarily be considered indicators
of impairment of our landfill assets due to the unique nature of the wasic industry.

Goodwill — At least annually, we assess whether goodwill is impaired. We assess whether an impairment
exists by comparing the carrying valuc of each Group's goodwill to its implied fair value, The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by deducting the fair value of each Group's identifiable assets and liabilities from the fair
value of the Group as a whole. We rely on discounted cash flow analysis, which requires significant judgments and
estimates about the future operations of each Group, to develop our estimates of fair value. Additional impairment
assessments may be performed on an interim basis if we encounter events or changes in circumstances that would
indicate that, more Jikely than not, the carrying value of goodwill hes been impaired.

Self-insurance reserves and recoveries — We have retained a significant portion of the risks related 10 our
health and wellare, automobile, general liability and workers' compensation insurance programs. Our ligbilities
associated with the exposure for unpaid claims and associated expenses, including incurred but not reported losses,
generally is estimated with the assistance of extemal actuaries and by factoring in pending claims and historical
wends and data. Qur cstimated accruals for these liabililies could be significanlly differeat than our ullimate
obligations if variables such as the frequency or severity of future incidents are significantly different than what we
assutne. Estimated insurance recoveries related to recorded liabilities are recorded as asscts when we believe that
the receipt of such amounts is probable,
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Results of Operations
Operating Revenues
Our operating revenues in 2007 were $13.3 billion, compared with 313.4 billion in 2006 and $13.1 bilion in
2005. We manage and cvaluaic our operalions primarily through our Eastern, Midwest, Southem, Western,
Wheelabrator and WMRA Groups. These six opernting Groups are our reportble segmenis. Shown below (in
millions) is the contribution 10 reventes during each ycar provided by our six operating Groups and our Other waste
scrvices:

Yenrs Ended December 31,
om 2006 2005

T 1| $3281 §36i4 $3632
MIdWES .. i 2983 3,003 2922
b T3 11 1| T 3,681 3,759 3,590
R - 1 o« S 3,508 3,51 3416
WREEIBDIAIOT . -« v v vt e i aee s 868 902 879
WMRA . o it e 953 740 805
0112 S P 307 283 296
INEEICOMPANY. . . .. oottt it e (2271) _(2,449) _(2466)

117 $13310 513363 513,074

Our operating revenues gencrally come from fecs charged for our collection, disposal, transfer, Wheelabrotor
and recycling services. Revenues from our disposal operations consist of tipping fees, which are gencrally based on
the weight, volume and type of wasic being disposed of at our disposal facititics. Fees charged ut transfer stations
are genenally based on the votume of wasie deposiled, taking into account our cost of loading, transporting and
disposing of the solid waste at a disposal site. Qur Wheelabrator revenues are based on the type and volume of waste
received at our waste-to-encrgy facilitics and IPPs and fecs charged for (he sale of cnergy and sicam. Recycling
revenue, which is gencrated by our WMRA Group as well as recycling operations embedded in the operations of our
four geographic operating Groups, generally consists of the sale of recyclable commoditics to third partics and
tipping fees. Cur “other” revenues include our in-plant services, methane gas operations, Port-O-Le1? services and
street and parking lot sweeping services. Intercompany revenues between our operations have been climinated in
the consolidated financia! statements. The mix of opersting revenues from our different services is reflected in the
table below (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 005
0T $ 8,714 § 8.837 § 8633
Landfill. ... oot e i 3047 3197 3,089
1111 - 1,654 1,802 1,756
WHEE aEBIOT . - .o oo sttt et e 868 902 879
Recyclingandother. .. ... ..ot 1,208 1,074 1,183
INETCOMPANY . . -« vt oo vt in s emaa e tannaar s {2.271)  (2449)  (2,466)
(' 1Y 513,310 $13,363  $13,074
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The following table provides details associated with the period-10-period change in revenues (dollars in
millions) along with an caplanation of the significant components of the current period changes:
Period-lo- Period-lo-
Period Period

Change for Change for
2007 vs, 2006 2006 vs, 2005

Average yield:

Base business . ...ttt a e e $432 33% $461 3.6
Commodity . . ...ttt e e 36 23 (98) (0.4
Electricity (IPPs). .. ... ..coi i 2 — 2 —_
Fucl surcharges and mendated fees. ... .................... _ 3 03 _120 03
TO). e e e 15 59 535 4l
Volume....... Ce s R et (588) (4.5) _(18m) (1.4
Intemal revenue growth. . ... .. oo i e 187 1.4 43 27
ACQUISTHOMNS | . ..o ittt et sttt ca e e 37 03 52 04
DIVEs IS, .. .o e (3200 (24) (154) (1.2)
Foreign cumrency translation .......... ..o i 43 03 _ 43 03

5(53) Q%S 22%

Base Business — Yicld on bose business reflects the effect on our revenue from the pricing octivilies of our
collection, transfer, disposal and waste-10-energy operations, exclusive of volume changes. Revenue growth from
base business yield includes not only price increascs, but also (i) price dccreases [0 felain customers; (ii) changes in
average price from new and fos! business; and (jii) changes related 10 the overall mix of services, which are due
principally to the types of services provided and the geogrphic locations where our services are provided.

In both 2006 and 2007, our pricing excellence initiative was the primary coniribulor 1o our base business yield
growth. The increases in base business yield were driven by our colleciion operations, which experienced
substantial growth in every geogruphic operating Group primarily as o resull of our continued focus on pricing
our services based on market-specific faclors, including our costs. In 2006, increased collection revenucs duc to
pricing were partially offset by revenue declines from lower collection volumes and in 2007, ihe increased
collection revenues were more than offset by revenue declines from lower collection volumes. However, we
continue 10 find that, in spite of colleciion volume declines, increased yield on base business and a focus on
conuclling variable costs provide notable margin improvements and eamings expansion in our cotlection line of
business.

Throughout 2007, we experienced increases in revenue due (0 yield on base business from our pricing
excellence initiatives at our transfer stations and the municipal solid waste, special waste and construction and
demolition waste sircams at our landfills. The increases in transfer siation revenues in 2007 were the mosi
significant in the Eastem and Westem portions of the Uniled States. At our landfills, municipal sotid wasie revenue
growth from yield was the most significant in the South and East; special waste revenue growth from yicld was the
most significant in the West; and our construction and demolition revenue growth from yicld was the mosi
significant in the South.

Revenues from oerenvironmenial fee, which is included in base business yield, were $121 million, $76 million
and $33 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respeciively.

Commodiry — Recycling prices approached all time highs in 2007 and drove the substantial revenue growth
from yield, Increases in the prices of the recycling cammodities we process contributed $306 million of revenue
growth in 2007, Average prices for old corrugated cardboard increased by 62% and average prices for old newsprint
increased by 39% in 2007. Approximately 50% of the increase in revenue from yield on our recycling operations is
associated with our rclatively lower margin brokerage activities.

Our revenuss in 2006 declined $48 million as compared wilh the prior year duc to price decrenses in recycling
commeodilies. in 2006, avernge prices for old corrugated cardboard dropped by 8% and avernge prices for old
newsprint were down by about 7%.
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Fue! surcharges and mandated fees — Fuel surcharges increased revenuces year-over-year by 529 million in
2007. This increase is due 10 our continued effort to pass on higher fuct costs to our customers through fuel
surcharges. We cxpericnced relatively flat marke: prices for fuel for the first ninc months of the year. During the
fourth quarter of 2007, we experienced a significantly higher increase in market prices for fuel, which contributed
al) of the revenue increase due to fuel surcharges in 2007.

Fuel surcharges increased revenues year-over-year by $117 million for 2006. The substantial 2006 increases in
revenue provided by our fucl surcharge program can generally be attributed to (i) increases in market prices for fuel;
(i#) an increase in the number of customers who participate in our fuel surcharge program; and (iii) the revision of
our fuel surcharge program at the beginning of the thind quarter of 2005 to incorporale the indirect fuch cost
increases passed on to us by subcontracted haulers and vendors.

Increases in our operating cxpenses due to higher diesel fuel prices include our direct fuel costs for our
operations, which are included in Operating Expenses — Fuel, as well as estimated indirect fuel costs, which are
included primarily in Operating Expenses — Subcontractor Costs.

The mandated fees included in this line item are primarily related to the pass-through of fees and taxes assessed
by various state, county and municipal governmental agencies at our landfills and transfer stations. These mandated
fees have not had a significent impact on the comparability of revenues for the periods included in the table abaove.

Volume — The declines in our revenues due 10 Jower volumes when comparing 2007 and 2006 with the
corresponding prior year periods have been driven by declines in our coliection volumes and, fo a lesser extent,
lower wransfer siation and third-party disposal volumes.

Volume reductions in 2007 have significanily affected the revenues of cach of our collection lines of business
in each geographic operating Group. Qur industrial collection operations have experienced the most significant
revenue declings due to lower volumes. Reduced volumes continue to be significantly affected by our focus on
improving margins through increased pricing. Volume declincs in our industrial collection business have also been
affected by the significant slowdown in residential construction acruss the United States. Qur commercial and
residential collection operations have experienced revenue declines dug 10 lower votumes in cach geographic group
as well.

Declines in revenue due (o Jower third-parly volumes in our Uransfer station operations have been the most
notable in our Eastern Group and can generally be mtributed to the effects of pricing. 10 2007, we also experienced
declines in third-parnty revenue at our landfills due to reduced disposal volumes. The most significant declines were
in our construction and demolition wasic, particularly in our Southemn Group. The reduction in construction and
demolition volumes was largely due to the significant stowdown in residential construction across the United States.
The volume declines for our municipal solid waste disposal operations have been the most significant in our
Midwest Group due primarily to our focus on pricing increases. Wasie-to-energy revenue from disposal volumes
also declined in 2007, largely due to the termination of an operating and maintenance agreement in May 2007. The
revenue decline due 1o Jower third-party volumes in our cecycling business was primarily attribuiable to decreases in
certain brokerage activitics and the closure of a plastics processing facility.

The reveaue declines in our collection businesses in 2006 were partially offset by increased disposal volumes
in all of our geographic operating Groups through the first ninc months of the year. Qur special waste, municipal
solid waste and construction and demolition waste sireams were the primary drivers of this growth in revenues due
10 higher volumes, We believe that the strength of the economy throughout most of the year and favorable weather in
many parts of the country were the primary drivers of the higher disposal volumes. In the fourth Quarter of 2006, we
experienced a decling in disposal volumes as compared with the fourth quarter of 2005, which we believe was dut to
the lack of hurricane volumes in 2006, competition, impacts of our pricing initiatives and an cconomic softening
that caused a significant decline in residential construction.

Divestitures — Divestitures of under-performing and non-strategic operations accounted for decreased rev-
enues of $320 million in 2007 and $154 million in 2006. These divestitures were primarily comprised of collection
operations and, (0 a lesser extent, transfer station and recycling opesations.
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Operuting Expenses

Qur operating expenses include (i) labor and related benefils (excluding labor costs associated with main-
tenance and repairs included below), which include salaries and wages, bonuses, related payroll taxes, insurance
and benefits costs and the costs associated with contract labor; (ii) transfer and disposal costs, which include tipping
fees paid to third-party disposal facilities and transfer stations; (iii) mainienance and repairs relating to equipment,
vehicles and facilities and related labor costs; (iv) subcontractor costs, which include the costs of independent
haulers who transport waste collected by us to disposal facilities and are driven by transportation cosis such as fuel
prices; (v) costs of goods sold, which arc primarily the rebates paid to suppliers associated wilth recycling
commodities; {vi) fuel costs, which represent the costs of fuel and oil to operate our truck fleet and landfill cperating
cquipment; (vii) dispesal and franchise fees and taxes, which include landfill taxes, municipal franchise fees, host
community fees and royalties; (viii) landfill operating costs, which include landfill remediation costs, leachate and
methane collection and treatment, other landfil) site ¢osts and interest accretion on asse! retirement obligalions;
(ix) risk management costs, which include workers' compensation and insurance and claim costs and (x) other
operating costs, which include, among other costs, equipment and facility rent and propeny taxes.

The following table summarizes the major components of our operating expenses, including the impact of
foreign cwrency translation, for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

Period-1o- Period-to-

2007 Prriod Chonge 2006 Period Change 2008
Labor and related benefits ............ 2412 $ (6N 2% %2479 § 8 0.3% 32471
Transfer and disposal costs. . . .. R 1,i48  (J00) (8.0) 1,248 22 N 1,270
Maintcnance and repairs. . ............ 1,079 (58) 3.D 1,137 2 0.2 1,135
Subcontractor costs . ......... .. ... .- 902 (69) a.n 971 34 36 937
Costof goodssold . ................. 769 180 306 589  (56) (8.7 645
Fuel. . ... .. e 581 2 0.3 579 47 8.8 532
Disposal and franchise fees and taxes . . . . 602 39 (6.1) 641 0 (02 642
Landfill operatingcosts .............. 261 23 9.1 238 5 21 213
Risk management. .. . ............... 217 (74) (25.9) 291 @2 67N 32
Other. . ..ot ieisieaarans 4 _n 4.1 _414  (40) (B8 _ 44

$8,402 S!ISS) 22)% 58,587 g.;ﬂ) (0.5)% 38631

The decreases in operaling expenses for both 2007 and 2006 as compared with the prior year periods can be
attributed primarily to (i) our efforts 1o maximize margin expansion by focusing on managing our fixed costs and
reducing our variable costs; (ii) the divestiturc of under-performing and low margin businesses; and (iii) volume
dectines due to our pricing program and the slowdown in residential construction. In 2007, our cost containment
cffons had the most significant impact on our risk management and mainienance and repair costs, while the impact
of divestitures and volume declines provided significant reductions in transfer, disposal and subcontracior costs.
The operating expense declines during 2007 were partially offset by increased “Cost of goods sold™ due 10
significantly higher commodity prices and “Other" operating expenses incurred for labor disputes in Oakland and
Los Angeles, California. These expenses are discussed below.

In eddition to lowering overall costs the last 1wo years, our operating expenses as a percentage of revenues
decreascd by 1.2 percentage points for 2007, from 64.3% in 2006 10 63.1% in 2007, building on the improvement of
1.7 percentage points during 2006. The improvement in opesating expenses as a percentage of revenues reflects our
continued focus on identifying operational efficiencies that translate into cost savings, revenue growth on base
business yield, shedding low margin volumes and divesting operations that arc not improving.

As discussed above, the changes in our “Operating” expenses when comparing 2007, 2006 and 2005 can
largely be attributed 0 our focus on cost control, volume declines and divestitures. Overall, these favorable items
have been slighily offset by the unfavorable effect of changes in Canadian currency exchange rates. However, there
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are severa) additional ilems that affect the comparability of our operating expenses by category for the periods
presented. These additional items are summarized, by category, below:

Labor and related benefits — In each year, wage increases due to annual meril adjustments have partially
offset cost reductions due to headcount reductions related 1o operating efficiencics, divestitures and volume
declines, During 2006, bonus expense was higher than either 2007 or 2005 duc 10 the out-performance of 2006
incentive plan measures. The Company's performance in both 2007 and 2005 was more in line with established
incentive plan largets.

Transfer and disposal costs — In addition 10 the impacts of divestitures and volume declines, the costs
incurred by our collection operations 1o disposc of waste at third-party transfer stations or Jandfills have declined
duc to our focus on improving intemalization.

Maintenance and repairs — Throughout 2006 and 2007, cosi savings were generated from (i) various fleet
initiatives targeted al improving our maintenance practices while reducing maintenance, parts and supplies costs;
and (i) changes in the scope of maintenance projects at our waste-to-energy facilities. In 2006, year-over-year
reductions due to divestitures, volume declines and the items previously noted were outweighed by increased labor
CcOsts.

Subconiractor costs — During the fourth quanter of 2007 and throughout 2006, we experienced increases in
subcontractor costs due to higher diese) fuel prices, which drive the fuel surcharges we pay to third-party
subcontractors. These cost increases were offset in part by the revenue generated from our fue) surcharge program,
which is reflected as fuel yield increases within Operating Revenues. Additionally, in 2006, we incurred significant
subcontractor costs during the Ffirst quarter of 2006 10 assist in providing hurricane refated services.

Cos1 of goods sold — Fluctuations in these costs are generally based on changes in our recycling revenues
because they are primarily related 10 rebates we pay 10 our recycling suppliers. When comparing 2007 with 2006,
substantially higher market prices for recyclable commoditics resulted in significant revenue growth and higher cost
of goods sold. When comparing 2006 with 2005, these costs were lower due to A decrease in market prices for
recyclable commoditics and reduced recycling volumes. Additionally, in 2006, the decrease in costs of goods sold
was partially due (o the completion of the construction of an intcgrated wasle facility in Canada in carly 2006.

Fuel — We experienced an estimated average increase of $0.18 per gallon for 2007 as compared with 2006
and of $0.31 per gallon for 2006 as compared with 2005. Fuel costs were relatively constant through the first nine
months of 2007, but increascd sharply during the fourth quarter. White our fuel surcharge is designed to respond to
changes in the markes price for fuel, the sharp increase late in 2007 negatively affected our ability to recover
increased costs resulting from higher fuel prices within the year duc 1o a lag in the timing of increased revenues
following fuel cost increases. In each year, increased fucl costs have negatively affected our operating margin
percentages. Revenues generated by our fuel surchasge program are reflected as fuel yicld increases within
Operating Revenues.

Disposal and franchise fees and taxes — In 2007, these cost declines were partiatly due to the resolution of a
disposal tax matter in our Eastem Group, which resulted in the recognition of $18 million in favorable adjustments
to operating costs during 2007. In 2006, we expericnced increases in rates for mandated fces and taxes in certain
markets. Certain of these cosl increases are passed through to our customers, and have been reflected as fee yield
increases within Operating Revenues. .

Landfill operating costs — These costs increased during 2007 due 10 charges for revisions in our estimales
associated with remediation obligmions and changes in the risk-free discount rate that we use to estimate the present
value of these obligations. During 2007 we recorded an $8 million charge 10 reduce the discount rate from 4.75% to
4.00% and during 2006 we recorded a $6 miktion decrease in expensc 10 reflect an increase in the rate from 4.25%to
4.75%. For 2006, the cost increases as compared with 2005 generally related 10 higher site maintenance, teachate
collection, monitoring and 1esting, and closure and post-closure cxpenses.

Risk management — Over the lasi two years, we have been increasingly successful in reducing these costs,
which can be atuibuted to our continued focus on safery and reduced sccident and injury rates. For 2007, the
decrease in expense was largely associated with reduced actuarial projections of auto and general liability claims
and, 10 a lesser extent, reduced workers’ compensation costs. During 2006, the decline in expenses as compared
with 2005 was primarily due 10 reduced workers' cOmpensalion costs.
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Other operating expenses — In (he third and fourth quarters of 2007, we incurred a significant increase in
"Other” expenscs due in large part 10 costs incusred for labor disputes with the Teamsters Local 70 in Oakland,
California that was resolved in July 2007 and with Teamsters Local 396in Los Angeles that was resolved in October
2007. These labor disputes negatively affected the “Income from opermions” of our Western Group by $37 million,
including $33 million of additional “Other” operating expenses, for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
increased operating costs were primarily related 1o security and the deployment and lodging costs incurred for the
Company’s replacemem workers who were broughi 1o California from across the organization, For the year ended
December 31, 2006, our Eastern Group incurred $14 million for similas costs, which were primarily for a labor
strike in the New York City area.

Also affecting the comparability of our "Other” operating expenses for 2007 as compared with 2006 were
(i) $21 million of lease termination costs incurred during the first quarter of 2007 associated with the purchase of
one of our independent power production plants that had previously been operated through a iease agreement;
(ii) lower lease and rental expenses in 2007; and (iii) an increase in gains recognized on the sates of assets for 2007.

The lower costs in 2006 as compared with 20035 can be attribuled to (i) Hurricane Katrina related support costs
in 2005, particularly in Lovisiana, where we buili Camp Wasie Management to house and feed employees who
worked in the New Orleans arca 10 help with the cleanup efforts; (i} comparatively higher rentsf expense in 2005,
and (i) a decrease related to the deconsolidation of a variable interest entity in early 2006,

Selling, General and Administrative

Our sefling, general and administrative expenses consist of (i) labor costs, which include salaries, bonuses,
related insurance and benefits, contract labor, paysoll laxes and equity-based compensation; (ii) professional fees,
which include fees for consulting, legal, audit and 1ax services; (iii) provision for bad debts, which inctudes
glfowances for uncollectible customer accounts and collection fees: and (iv) other general and administrative
expenses, which include, among other costs, facility-related expenses, voice and data telecommunication, adver-
lising, travel and cntertainmeni, remals, postage and printing. In addition, the financia) impacts of litigation
seitlements generally are included in our “other” selling, general and administrative expenses.

The following table summarizes the major components of our selling, general and administrative costs for the
years ended December 31 (in millions):

Period-fo- Period-to
2007 Pertod Change 2006 Period Change 2005
Labor and related benefits . .. ... ... ....... $ 835 $4I 52% § 194 §$ 37 49% § 757
Professional fees. . .. .....covveiinnnnnnn. 160 (1) (0.6) 16t 9 59 152
Provision for bad debts .. .. ... ..., e 49 — —_ 49 (3 (5.8 52
OIMET « vt e ere et e e e eiaaaeenn 388 _4 10 _ 384 _6 219 _ 315

$id3z w4 32% 51,388 $112  8.38% $1,276

Our Iabor and relaied benefits, professional fees and other general and administrative costs for the year ended
December 31, 2007 increased by $24 miflion as a result of non-capilalizable costs associated wilh investments in
our information technology and our people strategies. Other significant changes in our seiling, general and
administrative expenses are summarized below.

Labor and related benefits — In both 2007 and 2006. these costs increased year-over-year due 10 higher
compensation costs driven by an increase in the sizc of our sales force; increased investments in our information
technology and people strategics, us noted above; higher non-cash compensation expense associated with the
equity-based compensation provided for by our long-lerm incentive plan; and annual merit raises. The higher labor
costs for our pricing, people and other initiatives are necessary as we implement rew ways to grow our business and
strengthen our ongoing opeeations. Our bonus expenses were relatively higher in 2006 than either 2005 or 2007 due
to the strength of our performance against incentive plan measures in thot year. Fluctuations in our use of coniract
labor for corporate support funclions also caused an increase in 2006 as compared with 2005, These cost increases
in 2006 were partially offse1 by savings associated with our 2005 restructuring,

Professional Fees — In both 2007 and 2006, our consulting fees increased as a result of our strategic
initiatives. In 2007, shis increase was offset by (i)} Jower consulling costs associated with our pricing initiatives; and
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(ii) reductions in legal fees and cxpenses, largely as a result of higher costs in 2006 related 1o indemnification
obligations for former officers in legacy litigation brough by the SEC.

Other — Our "Selling, general and administrative” expenses for the years ended 2007 and 2006 included net
charges of approximately $2 milltion and $20 million, respectively, 1o record our estimated obligations for
unclaimed property. Refer to Note 10 of our Consolidated Financial Siatements for additional information related
10 the nature of these charges.

Additionally, in both 2007 and 2006, our other costs increased due to higher sales and markeling costs and
higher trave] and entertainment costs due partially to the development of our revenue management system and our
efforts 10 implement various initiatives.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization includes (i) depreciation of propeny and equipment, including assels recorded
due to capital leases, on 2 straight-line basis from three to 50 years; (i) amontization of landfill costs, including
those incurred and al) estimated future costs for landfill development, consuuction, assel retirement costs arising
from closure and post-Closure, on @ units-of-consumption method as landfill airspace is consumed over the
eslimated remaining permitted and expansion capacity of a site; {iii) amortization of landfill assei retirement costs
arising from final capping obligations on o units-of-consumption method as airspace is consumed over the
estimated capacily associated with cach final capping event; end (iv) amortization of intangible assets with a
definite life, cither using a 150% declining balance approach or 4 straigh-line basis over the definitive terms of the
related agreements, which are from two 1o ten years depending on the type of asset.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.259 million, or 9.5% of revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2007; $1.334 million, or 10.0% of revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2006; and
$1,361 million, or 10.4% of revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2005. The $75 million decrease when
comparing 2007 with 2006 can be attibuted, in par, 10 landfill volume declines. The $27 million decrease when
comparing 2006 with 2005 was primarily due to the suspension of depreciation on assels held-for-sale and
divestitures. Additonally, in both 2007 and 2006 there were decreases in depreciation due to components of
enterprise-wide software becoming fully depreciated.

The comparability of our depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006,
and 2005 has also been significantly affected by (i) a $21 miltion charge to landfill amontization recognized in 2005
10 adjust the amortization periods of nine of our leased {andfills and (ii) adjustments to landfill airspace and landfill
asset relirement cost amortization recorded in each year for changes in estimates related to our final capping,
closure and post-closure obligations. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, landfill
amortization expense was reduced by $17 million, $1 million and $13 million, respectively, for the effects of
these changes in estimates. In cach year, the majority of the reduced expense resulting from the revised eslimates
was associaled wilh final capping Changes.

Restructuring

Management continuously reviews our organization to determine if we are operating under the most
advantageous sucture, Our 2007 and 2005 restructurings were the result of reviews that highlighted opportunities
for efficiencies and cost savings. The most significant cost savings we have obtained through our restructurings
have been aitributable to the labor and related benefits component of our “Selling, general and edministrative”
expenses.

In the first quarter of 2007, we restructured certain operations and functions, resulting in the recognition of a
charge of approximately $9 mitlion. We incurred an additional $1 million of costs for this restructurtng duning the
second quarter of 2007, increasing the costs incurred to date to $10 million. Approximatcly $7 million of our
restructuring costs was incurred by our Corporaie organization, $2 million was incurred by our Midwest Group and
$1 million was incurred by our Westem Group. These chasges included approximately $8 million for employee
severance and benchit costs and approximately $2 million related 10 operaling Iease agreements.

During the third querter of 2005, we reerganized and simplificd our organizational structure by climinating
certain support functions performed at the Group or Corporate office. We also eliminated the Canadian Group
office, which reduced the number of our operating Groups from seven 1o six. This reorganization reduced costs at
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the Group and Corporate offices and increased the accountability of our Market Arcas. We recorded $28 million of
pre-1ax charges in 2005 for costs associated with the implementation of the new structure, principally for employee
severance and benefit costs.

(Income) Expense from Divestitures, Asset Impairments and Unusual ltems

The following table summarizes the major componenis of "(Income) expense from divestitures, asset
impairments and unusval items” for the year ended December 31 for the respective periods {in millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

W07 W06 2005

(Income) expense from divestitures (including held-for-sale impairments). ... $(59) $(26) $(79)

Impairments of assets held-for-use .......... ... ... ... ... ... 12 24 116
el e e e —_ 1
34D $235 S 68

{Income) expense from divestitures {including held-for-sale impairments) — The net gains from divestitures in
all three years were a resolt of our fix-or-seek exit initiative, and 2005 also included a $39 million gain from the
divestiture of a landfiil in Canada as a result of a Divestiture Order by the Competition Buscav. Gains recognized
from divestitures in 2006 were partially offse1 by the recognition of aggregate impairment charges of $18 million for
operations held for sale as required by SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assels.

Impairments of asseis held-for-use — During 2007, we recognized $12 million in impairment charges dus to
impairments recognized for two landfills in our Southern Group. The impairments were necessary as a result of the
re-evaluation of our business alternatives for one lendfil] and the expiration of 2 contract that we had expected
would be renewed that had significantly contribuled to the volumes for the second landfill.

The $24 miltion of impairment charges recognized during 2006 was primarily related to the impairment of a
landfill in our Eastermn Group as a result of a change in gur expectations for future expansions and the impairment of

. under-performing operations in our WMRA Group.

During the second quarter of 2005, our Eastern Group recorded a $35 million charge for the impairment of the
Poltstown Landfill in Pennsylvania, We determined that the impairment was necessary after the denial of a permit
application for a vertical expansion 8t the landfill was upheld and we decided not lo pursue an appeal of that
decision. In addition, during 2005 we recorded 368 million in impairment charges associated with capitalized
software, driven by a 359 million charge for revenue menagement system software that had previously been under
development. The remaining impairment charges recognized in 2005 were largely relaied to the impairment of a
landfi}l in our Eastern Group as a result of a change in our expetiations for future expansions,

Other — In both 2006 and 2005 we recognized charges associated with the termination of legal matters retated
to issucs that arose in 2000 and earlier. In 2006, we recognized a $26 million charge for the impact of an arbitration
ruling against us related 1o the termination of a joint veniure relationship in 2000. In 2005, we recognized a
$16 miltion charge for the impact of a setilement reached with 2 group of stockholders that had opted not 1o
participaie in the scitlement of the securities class action lawsuit against us related to 1998 and 1999 activity and a
$27 million charge 1o scttle our ongoing defense cosls associated with possible indemnity obligations te former
officers of WM Holdings related 1o the litigation brought against them by the SEC. The 2005 charges were partially
offset by the recognition of a net benefit of $12 million, primarily for adjustments to receivables and estimated
obligations for non-solid waste operations that had been sold in 1999 and 2000.
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Income From Operations by Reportable Segment

The following table summarizes income from operations by reportable segment for the years ended December
31 and provides explanations of significant factors contributing to the identified variances (in millions):

Period-to- Period-to-
2007 Period Change 2006 Period Change 2008

Operaling segments: :
Eastern. ......... .. $ 520 $I13)1 337% $ 389 $56 168% $ 333

Midwest.........0 i 471 43 100 428 50 132 KX
Southern.................. .. ... ceen 316 12 1.5 804 105 150 699
b 171 1 P 635 (12) (1.9 647 98 179 549
Wheclabrator .. ...... R 292 (23) (0.3 315 10 33 3os
WMRA ... it iiaine e 78 64 . 14 I 1.7 13
Other . ... ... i i @0 (17 . 23) (26) * L
Corporate and other . ....... ... Ceaenan e (818 21 (50) _(545) _2 @4 _(570)
Tl .ot $2254 $225 111% S2.029 $319 18.7% $1.710

*+ Percentage change does not provide a meaningful comparison.

Operating segmenis — Increased yield on base business as 8 result of our pricing strategies, our continued
focus on controlling costs through operating efficiencies and higher-margin disposal volumes have improved the
opcrating income of our geographic Groups each year during the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. Base
business yield provided revenue growth for each line of business in 2007 and in 2006, and was driven primarily by
our collection operetions, where we experienced substantial revenue growth in every geographic operating Group
for the third consecutive year, The improvements in operating income have been partiafly offsct by the effects of
declines in revenues due fo lower volumes, which generally are the resalt of pricing competition, as weli as the
significant downtum in residential construction and the slowdown of the general economic environment in 2007. -
See additional discussion in the Operaring Revenues section above.

Other significant items affecting the comparability of the operating segments® results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized below:

Eastern — The Group's operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes (i) net
divestiture gains of $33 million; (i) an $18 million decrease in disposal fees and taxes dve to the favorable
resotution of a disposal 1ax matier; and (iii) a reduction in landfill amortization expense as a result of changes
in certain estimates related to cur final capping, closure and post-closure obligations. The Group's operating
income for the year ended December 31, 2006 was negatively affected by $26 million in charges associated
with (i) the impairmem of businesses being sold as part of our divestiture program and (i) the impairment of a

+  landfill. The year ended December 31, 2005 was negatively affecicd by the recognition of $44 million in
impairment charges related primarily to the Poustown tandfill, Finally, the operating results of our Eastern
Group for 2006 and 2005 were negalively affected by costs incurred in connection with labor strikes. For the
year ended December 31, 2006, we incurred $14 million of costs related primarily to a strike in the New York
City arca. The Group incurred similar costs during the first quarter of 2005 for a labor sirike in New Jersey,
which decreased operating income for the year ended December 31, 2005 by approximately 59 million.

Midwest — Positively affecting operating results in 2007 and in 2005 were reductions in landfill
amortization expense resuliing from changes in certain estimates related 1o our final capping, closurc and
posi-closure obligations,

Southern — During 2007, the Group recorded $12 million of impairment charges anributable to two of its
landfills. These charges were offset by gains on divestitures of $11 miltion. During 2005, several large non-
recurring type items were recognized, impacting comparisons to the other periods presented. These items
include $13 milllon of pre-tax gains recognized on the divestiture of operations during 2005 and declines in
camings retated (0 (i) hurricanes, largely due to the tcmporary suspension of operations in the areas affected by
Hurricane Katrina; (i) the effects of higher land(ill amortization costs, generally due 1o reductions in landfill

»




amortization periods to align the lives of the landfills for amortization purposes with the terms of the
underlying contractual agreements supporting their operations; and (iii) higher landfill amortization eapense
a5 a result of changes in centain estimates related to ocur final capping, closure and post-closure obligations.

Western — The Group's 2007 operating results were negatively affected by $37 million as a result of
various labor disputes, which are discussed in the Operating Expenses section above. Gains on divestitures of
operations were $16 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared with 348 million for 2006 and
$24 million for 2005.

Wheelabrator — The decline in operating income for the year ended December 31, 2007 was driven by a
$21 million charge recorded in the first quarter of 2007 for the early termination of b lease ggreement. The
early termination wes due (0 the Group's purchese of an independent power production plant that it had
previously operated through a lease agreement. Additionally, the termination of an operating and maintenance
agreement in May 2007 resulted in a decline in revenue and operating income compared with the prior years,

WMRA — The Group's 2007 operaling income has benefited from substantial increases in market prices
for commodities and $7 million of ne1 gains on divestitures. In addition, the Group has experienced signiftcam
returns from operational 1mprovcments. including an increased focus on maintaining or reducing rebates made
to suppliers. During 2006, the Group recognized $10 mullion of charges for a loss from a divestiture and an
impairment of certain under-performing operations, which were slightly more than offset by savings asso-
ciated with the Group's cost control efforts. Income from operations in our WMRA Group during 2005
includes costs related to the deployment of new software.

Significant items affecting the comparability of the remaining components of our results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized below:

Other — The changes in operating results for the periods presented are largely related to certain year-end
adjustments recorded in consolidation related to our reportable segments that were not included in the measure
of scgment income from operations used to assess their performance for the periods disclosed. The unfavorable
change in operalifig results in 2007 when compared with 2006 can also be attributed, in part, to the
deconsolidation of a varizble intcrest entity in April 2006. The favorable operating results tn 2005 were
also significantly offected by a 339 million pre-tax gain resulting from the divestiture of onc of our landfills in
Ontario, Canada. This impact is included in “(Income) expense from divestitures, assel impairments and
unusual items” within our Censolidated Statement of Operations, As this landfil]l had been divested ai the time
of our 2005 reorganization, historical financiel information associated with its operations has not been
allocated to our remaining reportable segments. Accordingly, these impacts have been included in Other.

Corporate and Other — In 2007 and 2006 we experienced significanily lower risk management costs
largely duc 10 our focus on safety and controlling costs. Other significant items occurring in 2007 include (i) a
reduction in expenses from the discontinuation of depreciation for certain enterprise-wide software that is now
fully depreciated; (i) increased spending on the suppon and devclopment of our information technology.
people and pricing strategic initiatives; (3ii} increased labor and related benefits costs; and (iv) restructuring
charges.

When comparing 2006 operating results with 2005, in addition to lower risk management costs, we
experienced lower einployee health and welfare plan costs, also as a result of our focus on controlling costs.
Thest cost savings were largely offset by: (i) a $20 million charge reconded 10 recognize unrecorded
cbligations associated with uncleimed property, which is discussed in the Selling, Gereral and Administrative
section above; (ii) increased incentive compensation expense; (iii) higher consuling fees and sales commis-
sions primarily related to our pricing initiatives; (iv) an increase in our marketing costs due to cur national
adventising campaign; (v) the centralization of support functions that were provided by our Group offices prior
to our 2005 reorganization; and (vi) a $26 million charge associated with an arbitration ruling against us related
10 a joint venture relationship thal werminated in 2000.

Qur 2005 operating results include impairment charges of $68 million associated with capitatized
software costs and $31 million of net charges associeted with various legal and divestiture matters. Also
contributing to expenses during 2005 were costs at Corporate associated with our July 2005 restructuring
charge and other organizationsl changes, which were partially offsct by the associated savings at Corporate.
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Other Components of Net Income

The following 1able summarizes the other major components of our income for the year ended December 31
for each respective period (in millions):

Period-to- Period-to-

007 Period Change 1006 Period Change 2008
INIETEST EXPENSE . o v o oo v v iaea e e $(521) $24 (449)Y% 3(545) $(49) 99% $(496)
INErest INCOME . ..ot tee i ieeeae e, 41 (22) . 69 38 . 31
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities. . . . . 35 1 (2.8) (36) i . (1omn
Minority interest ............... i iiens (40) (2} 4.5 (44) 4 (83 (48)
Other, Bl . it et m et 4 3 ’ | (n * 2
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes . ....... 540 215 * 325 413 ¢ (90)

* Percentage change does not provide a meaningful comparison. Refer to the cxplanations of thesc items below for
8 discussion of the relationship between current year and prior year actvity.

Interest Expense

The variances in interest expense during the reported periods are generally related to (i) decreases in our
outstanding debt balances due 10 our repayment of borrowings throughout 2006 and 2007; (ii) the maturity of higher
rate debt that we have effectively refinanced at lower interest rates; and (i) fluctuations in market interest rates,
which influence the impacts of our interest rate swaps and the interest rates of our variable rate debu.

We use interest rate derivative contracts to manage our cxposure 1o changes in market interest raies. The
combined impact of active and terminated interest rate swap agreements resulied in a net interest expense increase
of $11 million for 2007 and $4 million for 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2005, interest rate swaps reduced
nel interest expensc by $39 million. The significant decline in the benefit recognized as a resulyof our active interest
rale swap agreements is attributable 10 the increase in shon-term markel interest rates. Qur periodic interest
obligations under our active interest rale swap agrecments are based on a spread from the three-month LIBOR,
which has varied significantly during the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. Specifically, the three-month
LIBOR was as low as 2.75% in carly 2005 and as high as 5.62% in the sccond half of 2007. Included in the
$11 million net increase in interest expense realized in 2007 for terminated and &ctive imeres rate swap agrecments
is & $37 million reduction in interest expense related to the amontization of terminated swaps. Our terminated
interest rate swaps are expected 10 reduce interest expense by $33 million in 2008, $19 miltion in 2009 and
$12 million in 2010.

Interest Income

In 2007, decreases in our average cash and investment balances on a year-over-year basis resulied in 8 decline
in interest income. In addition, interest income for 2006 included interest income of $14 million realized on tax
refunds received from the IRS for the settlement of severa) federal audits. When comparing 2006 with 2005, the
increase in interest income was due 10 the 2006 tax refund and an increase in our investments in variable rate
demand notes and auction rate securitics throughout the year.

Egquity in Net Losses of Unconsolidated Entities

Qur “Equity in net losses of unconsolidated cntities™ is primarily related to our equily interests in rwo coal-
based synthetic fuel production facilities. Our cquily in the losses of these facilitics was $42 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007, $41 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 and $112 million for the yeas ended
December 31, 2005. The equity losscs generated by the facilities are offset by the tax benefit realized as a resuh of
these investments as discussed below within Provision for (benefit from) income taxes.

Our cquity in the losscs of the facilitics in both 2007 and 2006 have becn significantly affecied by our
expectations for o partial phase-out of Section 45K credits on our contractusl obligations associated with funding
the facilities' losses. The TRS has not yei published the phase-out percentage that must be applicd to Section 45K tax
credits gencrated in 2007, Accordingly, we have used markei information for oil prices to estimate thal we expect
69% of Section 45X tax credits generated in 2007 to be phased-out. The IRS establishment of the final phase-out of
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Section 45K credits generated during 2007 could further impact the equity in Josses of the facilities we recognized
for 2007. Any subsequent adjusiment to the amount of realizable Section 45K credits and related equity losses will
be reflected in our 2008 Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 31, 2006, we had estimated that 36% of Section 45K tax credits generated during 2006 would
be phased oul. On April 4, 2007, the IRS established the fina] phase-out of Section 45K credits generated during
2006 at approximately 33%. We did not experience any phase-out of Section 45K tax credits in 2005.

In addition, the facililies temporarily suspended operations in May 2006, reducing our obligations associated
with funding the facilities’ losses for the year ended December 31, 2006. During the second quarter of 2006, we also
recognized a cumulative adjustment necessary to appropriately reflect our life-10-date obligations 1o fund the costs
of operating the facililies and the value of our investment.

Minority Interest

On December 31, 2003, we consolidated twe limited liability companies that own thres waste-1o-energy
facilities operated by our Wheelabrator Group as & result of our implementation of FIN 46(R). Our minority interest
expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005 is primarily related to the other members' equily imerest in the eamings of these
entities. Additional information related to these invesiments is included in Note 19 1o the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Provision for {Benefit from) Income Taxes

We recorded a provision for income taxes of $540 mallion in 2007 and $325 million in 2006, and a benefit from
income taxcs of $90 million in 2005. These tax provisions eesulted in an effective income tax rate of approximarely
31.7%, 22.1% and {8.2)% for each of the threc years, respectively. The comparability of our reported income taxes
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is primarily affected by (i) increases in our income before
taxes and (i) differences in the impacts of 1ax audil setlements and non-conventional fuel tax credits, which are
discussed in more detail below. Other itcms that have effecied our reported income taxes during the reported periods
include the following:

+ Canadian tax rate changes and the related revaluation of deferred wx balances resulted in a $30 million tax
benefit during 2007 compared with a $20 million tax benefit in 2006 and $4 million of addition] income tax
expense in 2005.

« We recorded reductions (0 income tax expense of $9 million in 2007, $20 million in 2006 and $16 million tn
2005 due to state-related tax items. These impacts were gencrally due to either (i) the revaluation of net
accumulated deferred tax liabilities as a result of a decrease in our effective state tax rale o7 (ii) reductions in
our vejuation allowance related to the expecied wiilization of siate net operating loss and credit
carryforwards,

* In 2005, we recognized $34 million of tax expense for the repatriation of net accumulated earnings and
capital from cenain of our Canadian subsidiaries in accordance with the American Jobs Crealion Act of
2004,

The impacts of 1ax audit settlements and non-conventional fuel tax credits, which are the items that had the
most significant impacts on the comparability of our effective (ax rate during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, are summanized below:

= Tax audir sertlemenis — When excluding the effect of interest income, the setUement of various federa! and
state tax audits resulted in & reduction in income tax €xpense of $40 million for the year ended December 31,
2007 (representing a 2.3 peccentage point reduction in our effective tax rate), $149 million for the year ended
Deccember 31, 2006 (representing a 10.1 percentage point reduction in our cffective tax rate) and
$398 million for the year ended December 3), 2005 (representing & 36.4 percentage point reduction in
our tffective tax rate).

* Non-conventional fuel tax credits — Non-conventional fuel tax credits are derived from our landfills and our
investments in the two coal-based, synthetic fuel production facilities discussed in the Equity in net losses of

unconsolidated entities section above. Pursvant to Section 45K of the Intemal Revenue Code. these tax
credits are phased-out if the price of oil exceeds an annual average as detenmined by the IRS. Based on an
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estimated phasc-out of 69% of Section 43K tax credils generated during 2007, our income taxes for the year
ended December 31, 2007 include $50 million of non-comventiona) fue! tax credits. These tax credits
resulted in a 2.9 percentage point reduction in our effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Our income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2006 inctuded $71 million of non-conventional fuel tax
credits, resulting in a 4.8 percentage point reduction in our effective tax rate, and our income taxes for the
yeas ended December 31, 2005 included $133 million of non-conventional fuel tax credits, resulling in 8
12.2 percentage point reduction in our effective tax rate.

Non-conventional fuel tax credits expired at the end of 2007 pursuant to Section 43K of the Intemal Revenue
Code. Accordingly, at current income levels, we expect that our 2008 cffective tax rate will be approximately 40%
without the benefit of the tax credits,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We continually monitor our actual and forecasted cash flows, our liguidity and our capita) resources, enabling
us to plan for our present needs and fund unbudgeted business activities that may arise during the ycar as a resuit of
changing busincss condilions or new opportunities. In addition to our working capital needs for the general and
administrative costs of our ongoing operations, we have cash requirements for: (i) the construction and expansion of
our landfills; (ii) additions to and maintenance of our trucking feet; (jif) construction, refurbishments and
improvements at wasie-to-energy and malerials recovery facilities; (iv) the container and cquipment needs of
our operations, (v) capping, closure and posi-closure activities at our landfills; and (vi) repaying debt and
discharging other obligations. We also arc committed to providing our sharcholders with a retum on their
investment through our capital allocation program thal provides for dividend payments, shase repurchases and
investments in acquisitions that we believe will be accretive and provide continued growth in our business.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 allowed U.S. companies to repatriate earnings from their foreign
subsidiaries at a reduced tax rate during 2005. Qur Chief Executive Officer and Board of Direclors approved a
domestic reinvestment plan under which we repatriated $496 million of our accumulated foreign eamings and
capita) in 2003. The repatriation was funded with cash on hand and bank bomrowings. For a discussion of the tax
impact and bank borrowings sce Notes 7 and 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Summary of Cash, Short-Term Investments, Restricted Trust and Escrow Accounts and Debt Obligations

The following is a summary of our cash, short-term investments available for use, restricted trust and escrow
accounts and debt balances as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 (in millions):,

o 206
Cash andcash equivalents. . ... ... iiuiiiiiiiinn e $ M8 5 614
Short-term investments available foruse . ... .. ... . it -— 184
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term invesiments available for use . . . $ 343 3§ 798
Restricled trust and escrow accounls: ‘
Tax-exemptbond funds. .. ...... ... i $117 5 %
Closure, post-closure and environmental remediation funds ............... 231 219
Debtservice funds . ....... ... i ittt 47 - 45
L8 1 17- SRS 23 19
Total restricted trust and €SCTOW BECOUMS. . . ... ..o vvvrnrerannran.ss $ 18 § M
——— _—
Debt:
CUMERE POCLION . . . .ottt e e teennr s eiia st an e $ 329 § 82
LOng-term PORION. . . ... e vt e e e 8,008 7,493
Total debl . .. o e e e $8.337 $8.317
Increase in carrying value of debt due to hedge sccounting for interest rate
BWADS « ¢ . oottt a et st a et b e e $ 12§ 19
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Cash and cash equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit, certificates of
deposit, money market accounts, and investment grade commercial paper purchased with original maturities of
three months or less.

Short-term invesimenis available for use — Periodically, we have invesied in guction rate securities and
vanable mte demand notes, which are debt instrements with long-term scheduled maturities and periodic interest
ratc reset dates. The interest rate rese! mechanism for these instruments results in a periodic remarketing of the
undertying secunties through an auction process. Due to the liquidity provided by the interest rate reset mechanism
and the short-term nature of our investmenl in these securities, they have been classified as current assets in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Due 1o the decline in our cverall cash balances near the end of 2007, we did not hold
any of these investments as of December 31, 2007.

Restricted trust and escrow accounts — Restricted wryst and escrow accounts consist primarily of funds held in
trust for the construction of various facilitics or repayment of our debt obligations, funds deposited for purpeses of
sentling landfill closure, post- closure and environmental remediation obligations and insurance escrow deposits.
These balances are primarily included within long-term “Other assets” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See
Note 3 10 the Consolidaled Financial Statements for additional discussion.

Debt — We use long-term borrowings in 2ddition Lo the cash we pencrate from operations as part of our overall
financial strategy 1o support and grow our business. We primarily use senior notes and tax-exempl bonds to borrow
on a long-term basis, but also use other instruments and facilities when appropriate. The components of our long-
term borrowings as of December 31, 2007 are described in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in our outstanding debt balances from December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007 can primarily be
sttributed 1o (i) the cash repayment of $1,200 million of outstanding borrowings 21 their scheduled maturities;
{ii) $944 million of cash borrowings, generally to refinance amounts repaid in cash during the year; (iii) non-cash
proceeds from tax-exempt borrowings, net of principal payments made directly from wust funds of $144 million;
(iv) 8 $53 million increase in the camying value of our debt due to hedge accounting for interest rale swaps; and
(v) the impacts of accounting for other non-cash changes in our balances due to foreign currency translation, interest
and capital leases. '

We have approximately $).2 billion of scheduled dett mawritics during the next twelve months. We have
classified approximately $840 million of these borrowings as long-term as of December 31, 2007 based on our
intent and ability to refinance these borrowings on & long-term basis.

Summary of Cash Flow Activity

The following is a summary of our cash flows for the year ended December 31 for each respective period (in
millions):

20 2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activities . .. .................. % $ 2,540 S=:§,_3___9I_
Net cash used in investing activities. .. ........... e . § (61 §_(788) $(i,062
Net cash used in financing activities. . . ... gl_;__ﬁ) $(1.803) %1,090)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activitics — The comparability of our operating cash flows for the periods
presented is affected by our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006. SFAS No. 123(R) requires reductions
in income taxes payable atiributable o excess tax benefits associated with equity-based transactions to be included
in cash flows from financing activilies, which are discussed below. Prior to adopting SFAS No. 123(R), our excess
tax benefits associated with equity-based transactions were included within cash flows from operaling activities as a
change in “Accounis payable and accrued lisbilities.” During 2005, these excess tax benefits improved our
operating cash flows by approximately $17 million.

The most significant ilems affecting the comparison of our operating cash flows for 2007 and 2006 arc
summarized below:

« Eamings improvements — Qur income from operations, nel of depreciation and amortization, increased by
$150 million, on & year-over-year basis, which positively affecied our cash flows from operations in 2007.
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Decreased incame tax paymenis and refunds — Cash paid for income taxes, net of excess tax benefits
associaled with equity-based transactions, was approximately $80 million lower on 8 year-over-year basis,
largely due to excess tax payments in 2006, which reduced our estimated tax payment made in the third
quarter of 2007. Cash tax refunds attributable to audit seilements decreased by approximately $40 million
on a year-over-year basis.

Risk managemeni asseis and liabilities — During 2007, we have been able 10 reduce risk management
liabilities by spproximately $80 million, primarily as a resuli of reduced actuarial projections of claim losses
for auto and generat liability and worker's compensation claims, which can be attributed to our continued
focus on safety and reduced accident and injury rates. While this non-cash reserve reduction has had a
positive Impact on income from operations, it did not have a significant impact on our cash flow from
operations,

Trade receivables — The change in our receivables balances, net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures,
negatively affected the comparison of our cash flows from operations by approximately $70 million. This
decline is primarily autributable 10 increased trade receivables when comparing 2007 and 2006 as compared
1o decreased trade receivables when comparing 2006 to 2005.

Increased bonus payments ~ Our bonus payments for 2006, which were paid in the firsi quanes of 2007,
were higher than bonus payments for 2005 paid in 2006 due to the relative strength of our financiel
performance against incentive plan measures in 2006 as compared with 2005. The comparative changes in
our liabilitics for bonuses ncgatively affected the comparison of our cash flow from operations by
approximately $60 million.

Liabilities for unclaimed property — In 2007, we made significant cash payments for our obligations
associated with unclaimed property, reducing our liabilities. In 2006, our liabilities for unctaimed propenty
increased, primarily duc to the charge to camings required to fully record our obligations. The changes in our
recorded obligations for unclaimed propenty negatively affected the comparison of our cash flow from
operations by approximately $30 million.

The most significant items affecting the comparison of our operating cash flows for 2006 and 2005 are
summarnized below:

Earmnings improvements — Qur income from operations, net of depreciation and amortization, increased by
$292 million, on a year-over-year basis. This increase positively affected our cash flows from operations in
2006.

Receivables — The change in our receivables balances, net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures,
provided a source of cash of $12 million in 2006, compared toa usc of cash in 2005 of $102 million. {n 2006,
our receivables balances declined in pant due to 8 decrease in fourth quarter revenues as compared with the
prior year, but also due to improved cfficiency of collections as a result of new processes we implemented to
assist our Market Areas with collections. The increases in our receivables balances, and resulting uses of
cash in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, in 2005 were primarily related to increased revenues.

Increased tax payments — We made income tax payments of $475 million in 2006 and $233 million in 2005.
The increase in 2006 is primarily the result of improved eamings and a decline in the tax benefit of Seclion
45K 1ax credits. The decline in the bencfit of Section 45K tax credits when comparing 2006 with 2005 was
largely due to a 36% phasc-out of the credits gencrated during 2006 end the lemporary shutdown of our two
coal-based synthetic fue! production facilitics, which generate 8 significant portion of the credits, from May
2006 to late-September 2006. There was no phase-out of Section 45K tax credits or temporary shuidown of
the coal-based synthetic fuel production facifities in 2005.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities — The most significant items affecting the comparison of our investing
cash flows for the periods presented are summarized below:

Capital expenditures — We used $1,211 million during 2007 for capital expenditures, compared with
$1.329 million in 2006 ard $1,180 million in 2005. Increased capital expenditures in 2006 were due to
relatively high levels of fleet capital spending in order lo adequately prepare for any potential operational
difficultics that could be encountered as a result of significant mandated changes in heavy-duty wuck engines
beginning in January 2007.
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* Purchases and sales of shari-term invesrments — Net sales of shont-term investments provided $184 million
of cash in 2007, compared with $122 million during 2006 and net purchases of $295 million during 2005. In
both 2006 and 2007, we decreased our shor-term investments 10 provide cash that we used (o fund our
common stock repurchases, dividend payments and debi repayments, which are discussed below.

* Proceeds from divestitures — Proceeds from divestitures (net of cash divested) and other sales of assels were
$278 million in 2007, $240 million in 2006 and $194 million in 2005. In 2006 and 2007, our proceeds from
divestitures have been driven by the divestiture of under-performing and non-strategic operations. Approx-
imately $89 million of cur 2005 proceeds were related 1o the sale of one of our landfills in Ontario, Canada as
required by a Divestiture Order from the Canadian Competition Tribunal.

* Cash paid for acquisitions — Qur spending on acquisitions increased from $32 million during 2006 10
$90 million in 2007 due 10 an increased focus on accretive acquisitions and other investments that will
contribute to improved future results of operutions and enhance and expand our existing service offerings.
Cash paid for acquisitions in 2005 was $142 million, and was related principally 10 tuck-in acquisitions of
relalively small operations that could be easily integrated with our core operations.

* Net receipts from restricied funds — Net funds reccived from our restricted trust and escrow accounts, which
are largely gencrated from the issvance of wax-cxempt bonds for our capital needs, contributed $120 million
to our investing eciivities in 2007 compared with 5253 million in 2006 and $395 million in 2005, The
decrease is generally due 10 2 decline in new lax-cxempt borrowings.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activiifes — The most significant items affecting the comparison of our financing
cash flows for the periods presented are summarized below:

* Share repurchases and dividend payments — Our 2007, 2005 and 2005 share repurchases and dividend
paymenis have been made in accordance with a three-year capita) allocation program that was approved by
our Board of Directors. This capital allocation program authorized up to $1.2 billion of combincd share
repurchases and dividend paymenis cach year during 2005, 2006 and 2007. In June 2006, the Board of
Directors authorized up to $350 million of additional share repurchases in 2006, increasing the total of
capital authorized for share repurchases and dividends in 2006 10 $1.535 billion. In March 2007, our Board of
Directors approved up to $600 million of additional share repurchases for 2007, and in November 2007
approved up to $300 million of additional share repurchases. As a result, the maximum emount of capital 10
be allocaled 10 our share repurchases end dividend payments in 2007 was $2.1 billion. Any remaining
portion of the $300 million of additional share repurchases approved by the Board of Directors in November
2007 that was not ulilized in 2007 may be wilized in future years.

In December 2007, our Board of Direciors approved a new capital allocation program that includes the
authorization for up 10 $1.4 billion in combined cash dividends and common stock repurchases in 2008.
Approximately § 184 million of the additional authorization of $300 million in November 2007 was not used
in 2007, As a result, the maximum amount of capital 10 be allocated to our share repurchases and dividend
poyments in 2008 is $1,584 million. We currently intend 1o allocate up to $1.4 billion of capital to dividends
and share repurchases in 2008,

We paid $1,421 million for sharc repurchases in 2007, as compared with §1,072 million in 2006 and
$706 mithion in 2005. We repurchased approximately 40 million, 31 million and 25 million shares of our
common stock in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We currenily expect 10 continue repurchasing common
stock under the capital allocation program discussed above.

We paid an aggregate of $495 million in cash dividends during 2007 compared with $476 million in 2006
and $449 million in 2003. The increase in dividend payments is due 10 our quanierly per share dividend
increasing from $0.20 in 200S. 10 $0.22 in 2006 and (0 $0.24 in 2007, The impact of the year-over-year
increasces in the per share dividend has been partially offset by a reduction in the number of our outstonding
shares as a result of cur share repurchase program. In December 2007, the Board of Directors announced
that it expects future quarterly dividend payments will be $0.27 per share. All future dividend declarations
are at the discretion of the Board of Directors, and depend on various faciors, including our net eamings,
financial condition. cash required for future prospects and other factors the Board may deem relevam.
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s Proceeds and 1ax benefits from the exercise of options and warrants — The exercise of common stock
options and warrants and the related excess tax bencfits gencrated a total of $168 million of financing cash
inflows during 2007, compared with $340 milllon in 2006 and $129 miltion in 2005, We believe the
significant increase in stock option and warrant exercises in 2006 was due (0 the substantial increase in the
market value of our common stock during 2006, The accelerated vesting of all outstanding stock options in
December 2005 also resulted in increased cash proceeds from stock option exercises because the accel-
eration made additional options available for exercise. As discussed above, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)
on January 1, 2006 resulted in the classification of tax savings provided by equity-based compensation as a
financing cash inflow rather than an operating cash inflow beginning in the first quarter of 2006. This change
in accounting increased cash flows from financing activitics by $26 million in 2007 and $45 million in 2006.

Net debr repayments — Nev debt repayments were $256 million in 2007, $500 million in 2006 &nd
$11 million in 2005. The following summarizes our most significant cash borrowings and debi repayments
made during cach year (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2003
Borrowings:
Revolving credit facility. .. ... ..., i $ 30 $ — § —
Canadian credit facility ......... ..o ivoiviiiaiiiiiiny 644 432 365
$ 944 $432 $365
Repayments:
Canadian credit facility ................oeiiiiiin $ (680) $(479) $ —
S EIIOT DOIES & o v v e v me e et ns s et aaeaensnsiinannn ey (300 (3000 (103)
Taxexemplbonds ... ... o.vvve e (52) (%} -
Tax exempl project bonds .. .. ... o iiair e {61) (50) (46)
Convertible subordinated nOIES. .. . ..o vvvecnn v e —_ — (35)
Capital leascs and otherdebt . ........oiviiiii ot (107 (94) (192)
$(1,2000 $(932) $(376)
NEITEPGYMERIS . . oo oo s it i n et te e araiannns $ (256) $S00) § (1)

+ Change in cash averdraft position — Changes in our cash overdraft position arc reflected as “Other”
financing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The significant changes in our cash
overdraft positions as of each year-end are gencrally attributable to the timing of cash deposits.
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Summary of Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 and the anticipated effect
of 1hese obligations on our liquidity in future years (in millions):
2003 2009 2010 2011 2011 Thereafter Toia)

Recorded Obligations:
Expected environmental liabilitics(a)
Final capping, closure and post-closurc ... $ 106 $ 1208 113 $ 73 § 97 31668 $ 2,177

Environmental remediation . ........... 44 k]| 31 18 18 170 312
150 150 44 91 115 1838 2489
Debt paymenis(b), (€) . .- .. oo vt 1,164 697 715 230 576 4874 8276
Unrecorded Obligations:(d)
Share repurchases(e) ................. 99 —_ - - - -_ 9
Non-cancelable operating lease
obligations. . ..................... 87 M 61 48 4l 165 471
Esbmated unconditional purchase }
obligations(f). . ................... 179 181 i6d 95 4l 307 967
Anticipated liquidity impact as of _
December 31,2007 .............. $1.679 $1,098 $1.084 $484 $773 §7.184 512,302

(a) Environmental liabilities inctude final capping, closure, post-closure and environmental remediation costs. The
amounts included here reflect environmental liabilities recorded in our Consclidated Balance, Sheet as of
December 31, 2007 without the impact of discounting and inflation. Qur recorded environmental liabilities will
increase as we continue to place additional tons within the permitied airspace at our landfills.

(b) Our debt obigations as of December 31, 2007 include $192 million of fixed rate 1ax-exempt bords subject to
repricing within the next iwelve months, which is prior 10 their scheduled maturities. If the re-offerings of the
bonds are unsuccessful, then the bonds can be put to us, requiring immediate repayment. We have classificd the
gnticipated cash flows for these contractual obligations based on the scheduled maturity of the borrowing for
purposes of this disclosure. For additional information regarding the classification of these bosrowings in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2007, refer 1o Note 7 1o the Consolidated Financial Stalements.

(¢} Our recorded debt obligations include non-cash adjustmenis associated with discounts, premiums and fair value
adjustments for interest rale hedging activities. These amoumts have been excluded here because they will not
result in an impact to our liquidity in future periods. In addition, $47 million of our fulure debt payments and
related interest obligations will be made with debt service funds held in trust and included as long-1erm “Other
assets™ within our December 31, 2007 Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(¢) Qur unrecorded obligations represent operating lease obligations and purchase commitments from which we
cxpect 1o realize an economic beaefitin future periods. We have also made certain guaraniees, as discussed in
Note 10 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements, that we do not expect 1o maierially affect our curvent or
furure financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(¢} In November 2007, we enicred into a plan under SEC Rule 10b5-1 to cffect market purchases of our common
stock. The $99 million disclosed here represents the minimum amount of commen stock that could be
repurchased under the terms of the plan. These commen stock repurchases were made in accordance with our
Board of Directors approved capital allocation program which authorizes up to $1.4 billion in share repurchases
ond dividends in 2008. We repurchased $175 million of our common stock pursuant 1o the plan, which was
completed on February 7, 2008,

(H Our unconditional purchase obligations arc for various contractual obligations that we generally incur in the
ordinary course of cur business. Certain of our obligations are quantity driven. For these contracts, we have
estimated our future obligations based on the current market values of the underlying products or services. See
Note 10 1o the Consolidated Financial Staiemens for discussion of the nawre and terms of our unconditional
purchase obligations.
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We have contingencics that are not considered reasonably likely. As a result, the impact of these contingencies
have not been included in the above table. Sec Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for furthes
discussion of these tontingencies.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are party to guaranice avangements with unconsolidated entities as discussed in the Guaransees section of
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statemnents. Our third-party gearantee arrangements are gencrally established
to support our financial assurance needs and landfill operations. These arrangements have not materially affecied
our financial position, results of operations or liquidity during the year ended December 31, 2007 nor are they
expected to have a material impact on our future financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Seasonal Trends and Inflation

Our operating revenues tend to be somewhat higher in the summer months, primarily due to the higher volume
of construction and demolition waste. The volumes of industrial and residentia) waste in centain regions where we
operate also tend {0 increase during the summer months, Qur second end third quarter revenues and results of
operations typically reflect these seasonal rends. Additionally, certain destructive weather conditions that tend to
occur during the second half of the year, such as the humicanes experienced in 2004 and 2005, can ectually increase
our revenues in the arcas affected. However, for several reasons, including significant start-up costs, such revenue
often gencraies comparatively lower margins. Certain weather conditions may result in the temporary suspension of
our operations, which can significantly affect the operating results of the affected regions. The operating results of
our first quarter also often reflect higher repair and maintenance expenses because we rely on the slower winter
moaths, wheii waste flows are generally lower, to perform scheduled maintenance at our waste-to-energy facilities.

While inflationary increases in costs, including the cost of fuel, have affected our operating margins in recent
periods, we beticve that inflation generally has not had, and in the near future is not expected to have, any material
adverse effect on our results of operations. However, management's cstimates associated with inflation have had,
and will continue to have, an impact on our accounting for landfill and environmental remediation liabilities.

New Accounting Propouncements
SFAS No. 157 — Falr Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issved SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and cxpands disclosures about fair value measurcments.
SFAS No. 157 will be cffeclive for (he Company beginning January 1, 2008. We do oot cumrently expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008 to have a materia) impact on our consolidated financial statements.
However, we are continuing to assess the potential cffects of SFAS No. 157 as additional guidance becomes
available.

SFAS No. 159 — Fair Value Option for Financlal Assets and Financial Liobilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, which permits cntities to choose (o measure
many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective for the Company
beginning Janvary 1, 2008. The Company has elected not to measure eligible items at fair value upon initia)
adoplion and docs not belicve the adoption of this statement will have 8 material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

SFAS No. 141(R) — Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, which establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes and measures in the financial siatements the
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identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the acquirce. This statement
also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business combination and
determines what information to disclose 1o enable users of the financial staiements to evaluate the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2009. We arc currently evaluating the effect the adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will have on our
accounting and reporting for future acquisitions.

SFAS No. 160 — Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements-an amendment of ARB
No. 51

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Inserests in Consolidated Financial
Sratements — an amendment of ARB No. 51, which establishes accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontroiling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of @ subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equily in the
consolidated financial siatements. SFAS No. 160 will be effective for the Company beginning January |, 2009. We
are currently evaluating the effect the adoption of SFAS 160 will have on gur consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risks, including changes in interest rates, Canadian
currency rates and certain commodity prices. From time totime, we use derivatives to manage some portion of these
nisks. Qur derivatives are agreements with independent counterparties that provide for payments based on a notional
amount, with no mullipliers or leverage. As of December 31, 2007, all of our derivative transactions were related to
actual or anticipaled economic exposures although certain transactions did not qualify for hedge accounting. We are
exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by our denivative counterparties. However, we monitor our
derivative positions by regularly evalualing our positions and the creditworthiness of the counterparties, all of
whom we cither consider credit-worthy, or who have issved letters of credit to support their performance.

We have performed sensilivity analyses to determine how market rate changes might affect the fair value of our
market risk sensitive derivatives and related positions. These analyses are inherently limited because they reflect a
singular, hypothetical set of assumptions. Actual market movements may vary Significantly from our assumptions.
The effects of market movements may also directly or indirectly affect our assumptions and our rights and
obligations not covered by the seasitivily analyses. Fair value sensitivily is not necessarily indicative of the ultimare
cash flow or the earnings effect from the assumed market ratc movements.

Interest Rate Exposure.  Qur exposure (0 market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our debt
obligations, which are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition. we use interest rate swaps (0 manage the
mix of fixed and floating rate debs obligations, which directly impacts varisbility in interest costs. An instantaneous,
one percentoge point increase in interest sates across all malturities and applicable yield curves would have
decreased the fair value of our combined debt and interest rate swap positions by approximately $4435 miltion a1
December 31, 2007 and $460 million at December 31, 2006, This analysis does not reflect the effect that increasing
interest rates would have on other items, such as new borrowings, nor the unfavorable impact they would have on
interest expense and cash payments for interest.

We are also exposed 0 interest rate markel risk because we have $418 million and $377 million of assets held
in restricted trust funds and escrow accounts primarily included within long-term “Other assets”™ in our Consol-
idated Balance Sheeis at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These assels are generally restricted for future
capital expenditures and closure, post-closure and environmenial remediation activities at our disposa) facilities and
are, thercfore, invested in high quality, liquid instruments including money market accounts and U.S. government
agency debt securities. Because of the short terms 1o maturity of these investments, we believe that our exposure to
changes in fair value due 10 intcrest rate fluctuations is insignificant.

Currency Rate Exposure. From time to time, we have used currency derivatives to miligate the impact of
currency translation on cash flows of intercompany Canadian-currency denominated debt transactions. Qur foreign
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currency derivatives have not materially affected our financial position or results of operations for the periods
presented. In addition, while changes in foreign curmency exchange rates could significantly affect the fair vatue of
our foreign currency derivalives, we believe these changes in fair valuc would not have a material impact to the
Company.

Commodities Price Exposure. We markar recycled products such as wastepaper, aluminum and glass from
our matcrial recovery facitilics. We have entcred inlo commodity swaps and options 1o mitigate the variability in
cash flows from a portion of these sales. Under the swap agreements, we pay a floating index price and receive a
fixed price for a fixed period of time. With regard to our option agrecments, we have purchased price protection on
certain wastepaper sales via synthetic floors (put options) and pricc protection on certain wastepaper purchases via
synihetic ceilings (cal) opiions). Additionally, we have entered into collars (combination of & put and call option)
with financial instilutions in which we receive the marker price for our wasicpaper and aluminum sales within a
specificd Noor and ceiling. We record changes in the fair value of commodity derivatives not designaied as hedges
to earnings, as requircd. The fair vatue position of our commodity derivatives is not material 1o our financial
position a1 December 31, 2007 and 2006,
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chiel Financial Officer, is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Qur internal controls were
designed to provide reasonable assurance as 1o (i) the reliability of our financial reporting; (ii) the reliability of the
preparstion and presentation of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States; and (iii) the safeguarding of assets from unauthorized
use or disposition.

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007 based on the framework in Intemal Controt — Integrated Framework issued by the Committce
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Through this evaluation, we did not identify any
material weaknesses in our internal controls. There are inherent limitations in the effectivencss of any syster of
internal control over financial reporting; however, based on our cvaluation, we have concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

The effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting has been audited by Emst & Young LLF, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their repon which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Waste Management, Inc.

We have avdited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wasie Management, Inc. (the “Company™)
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidaied staiements of operations, stockholders’ cquity, and
cash Mows for cach of the three years in the penod ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's manugement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. '

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 1the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require thal we plan and perform the audic 1o obtin reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements arc free of material missioiement. An audit includes examining, on a tesi basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant eslimates made by management, as well as cvalvating the overall
financial siatement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred lo above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Wasic Managemeni, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for cach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in
conformity with U.S. geacrally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 10 the consolidated financial statements, cffective Janvary 1, 2007, the Company
adopted Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB)} Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes (an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109) and FASB Staff Position No. FIN 48-1 “Definition of
Settlement in FASB Interpreiation No. 48.” Additionally, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopicd
Siatement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United Stales), Wastc Management, Inc.'s intemal contred over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issucd by the Committee of Sponsoring Orga-
nizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 18, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 18, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Wasie Management, Inc.

We have audited Wastc Managemen, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Inicgrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spensering
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria), Waste Management, Inc.'s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Intenal Controd Over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is 10 express an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audil.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audii 1o obtain reasonable assurance 2boul
whether effective internal conirol over financia! reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our sudit
included obiaining an understanding of inienal contro] over financia) reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and cvalusting the design and operating effectiveness of intemnal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considercd nccessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audil provides a rcasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurunce
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial siatements for external purposes in
sccordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes thosc policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thal, in reasonuble deail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary lo permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and thai receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detcction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assels that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures muy detcriorate.

In our opinion, Waste Management, Inc. maintained, in all matenal respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the siandards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(Uniled States), the consolidated balance sheets of Waste Management, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, und
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three ycars in
the period ended December 31, 2007 and our report dated February 18, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 18, 2008
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share and par value amounts)

December 31,
2007 2004
ASSETS
Currcn! assets:
Cashandcashequivalents . ......... ... .. ittt iiiini it iainns $ 33 5 614
Accounis receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 346 and $51,

PESPECtIVENY L e e 1,674 1,650
OtRerreceivables . . ... . i e i 218 208
Partsand supplies .. ... ... e 103 100
Defermed inCOME LAXES . ., . oottt e et e iane e et enaanssens 51 82
Other 885€15, . . ... ovnv s eeeeaera i enenss e 86 527

Tota) CUTERL BSSEIS. . .\ . oottt v e e e ib e nn e oa s anaeassaarnsens 2,480 3182

Property and equnpmcru net of accumulaled dcpmc:nuon and amonimuon of $12,844
and $11.993, 1ESPECIIVEIY . - . o« v v et erie st et 1,35 1,179
Goodwill. . .. e e bereeeees 5,406 5,292
Other intangible asses, NEt . ... ..o a i i Ceeaaa e 124 121
L0 71 §14 826
Toral assels ... ...t e $20,175  $20,600
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOURS PAYBDIE. . . . .o it iie i $ 6% $ 0693
Accrued liabilisies .. .......... et b e araaaac s ey yens t,151 1,298
Delermd MEVERUES . . . .ot e s ie it a e 462 455
Current portionof long-term debl. . .. .. .. v e s 329 §22
TFotal current labilities . ... 0. 0t 2,598 3,268
Long-term debt, 1SS CUMERt POrtion. . .. ... .\ vt evie i ... B0 7.495
DEfermed IMCOMIE BAXES . . . . ..\t i v et nnaatsaeannserteneecneenannaaaanrerras 1,441 t,363
Landfill and environmemal remediation liabilitles. . . ........ ... ... s 1,12 1,234
Other Habilities . . ... ... i e e e e 744 741
Total Babilities . . . ... it e et s r et 14,073 14,103
Minority intcrest in subsidiaries and variable interest entities ......... ... ... .. 310 275
Commiiments and contingencies
Siockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par vatuc: 1.500,000,000 shares authorized; 630,282,461 shares
T 1 O AR 6 6
Additional paid-incapital. . ... ... . e i i i 4,542 4,513
RetBined CAMINGS . ...t ut ot i s teaann i iraaasansrianrernannansass 5.080 4410
Accumulated other comprchensive income .. ... ..o o i 229 129
Treasury stock Bt cost, 130,163,692 and 96,598,567 shares, respectively ........... (4.065) _(2.836)
Total stockholders” equity. ... ...t e e - 1Y ) /1 6,222
Total liabilitics and stockholders’ equity ... ....... et $20,175  $20,600

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December M,
2007 2006
OPErating rEvenUES. . ... oou it in vt rraa s s i $13.310 §i3.363
Cosis and expenses:
L0 T T 8,402 8,587
Selling, general and administralive .. ... ... i 1,432 1,388
Depreciation and amMOTLZALON. | .. .. vee e ineierrerraaaan s 1,259 1,334
RESUUCIUTING . . o0\ vt oo e it e i ien et e nanns 10 —_
(Income) expense from divestitures, asset impairments and unusual items. . {47) 25
11,056 11,334
Income FrOM OPERBYIONS . . .. o cvuvrvvr i taa e eens 2,254 2,029
Other income {(cxpense):
INIEIESL EXPONSE . . . .o\ ot e inan s e mmia ettt o e {521) {545}
INlEreSt AMCOMIE. . . .t eers e ae st e 47 69
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated emtities . ... ... oLl (35) (36)
Minority intereSl. .. ... ... s (46) (44)
0 11 = - T 4 1
(551) {559)
Income before INCOME BRXES . . . v« oo ve e et ieii v 1,703 1474
Provision for {benefit from) INCOME tAXES . . .. ..o iii it e 540 325
b LT T o111 - O T § 1,163 1,149
Basic earmnings percommon Share . . ... ..ot § 225 2.13
Diluted camings per common share ... ... ... s $ 228 2.10
Cash dividends declared per common share (2005 includes $0.22 paid in
066 § 102

1 T R EEEEEEE PR $ 096

See notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statemenis.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{In millions)
Years Eoded December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Cash Nows from operating activities:

L IR $1163 51,149 $§1i.182
Provisionforbad debts .. .. ..o o e e 19 43 0
Depreciation and smortization . ...... ... ..o i e ey Ve 1,259 1,334 1,361
Deferred income Mx provision . ... ........ ot iire i s 70 (23) (1)
MinomiTy IMETESt . .. ... . i e s 4% 44 48
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities, net of distibutions .. ............ g 47 76
Net gain from disposal 0 asSels .. . ... .ottt it e e @n (13%) (14}
Effect of (income) cxpense from divestitures, asset impaimments and unusuad ilems. . . (47 25 68
Excess 1ax benefits associnted with equity-based compensation. . .. ............. (26) (45) -
Change in opcrating assets and liabilitics, net of ¢ffecis of scquisitions and

divestitures:

RECEIVADIES . . . oo vt et e e e e e (22) 2 (102)

OHRET CUNTEI BSSEIS « . & v e v o e it e ieiee et et sannnanoaranresnnn 6 (1) 27

OHRET BSEEIS. . ... it vt i e e et e e e 5 [£)) (20

Accounts paysble and sccrued lisbiflies. ... ............... [N .. +1)] (4%) (187)

Deflerred revenues and other liabifities .. .. ... .. . o i _mm _ A 17
Net cash provided by opersting dctivilies . ... ... ... i e 2,439 2,540 2,391
Cash flows from invesling activilics:

Acquisitons of businesses. nevof cashsoquired ., ... .. e (90} {32) (142)

Capital expendilures . . ... ... .. et i (2 (1,329 (1.180)

Proceeds from divestitures of businesses (net of cash divesicd) and other sales of
BESRIS . o, v bt e e e 218 240 194

Purchases of short-1enn IVESIMENTS . . .. ... v e s nrrmetinnararsananns ve. (L2200 (3001 (LOT)

Proceeds [rom sales of short-term dnvestments . .. ... .. oo ni e e 1,404 3123 784

Net receipts from restricted trust 8nd SCTOW BECOUMS . . . . ... ve i v s ennnans 120 253 395

L0, (42) (42) (34)

Net cash used in investing activitles . . .. ... . ... ... i e (761) (788)  (1.062)
Cash Nows from financing activities:

New Bomowings . .. ... ot iiiet i cii i e e 944 432 365

Db EPAYMENIS. . .. . .. ot e e e b e, (1,200) (932) (376

Common SIOck MEPUICREES . . ..o vt n s i ias et cne e s nan et (1420) (1.072) (706)

Coshdividends . .. . ... .. ... i it inat st ta e trasa st (495) (476) (449)

Excrcise of common stock OpHons and WaAITADIS . ... ... .. ..o a e 142 295 129

Excess tax benefits associsted with equity-based transactions. . ... ... .. ... .h o 26 45 —

Minority interestdistibutions paid .. . . ... ... L. e (20) (22) (26)

[ 115 T8 (73) (27)

Net cash used in financing sClivities. . . ... . ... o it e s (1,946) (1.803) (1.090)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashequivalents . . . .................. 2 () 3
Increase {(decrease} incashand cashequivalenls . ... ... ... i i (266) (52) 242
Cash and cash cquivalenis st beginningof year . ....... ... it 6l4 666 424
Caosh and cash equivalents al end OF YERE. . . . ... ... vt iiicinnnar e, $ 38 § 614 § 666
Supplcmental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the yewr for:
Interest, net of capitalized interest and periodic settlements from interest mte swap
BRICCTNIENLS . . ... ottt ne it t e st e s aan e e $ 543 $ 548 § 505
L G 416 475 213

Sec notes to Consolidated Financial Siatements.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except shares in thousands)

Upreatized gain resulting from changos
in fair vatoes of derivitive
ipstromeras, ne1 of ez of $EY. .. . .

Realined lones on derivetive mstruments
ml:sﬁed Imo eamings, oct of taxes

Unrealized gain on enarketable socuritics,
ioftaxesof$). . ... ........

Transtation adjustment of foreign

repurehases. ...
lzed loss resuhting from clanges
{n fair valucs of derivative
instruments, oot of xca of 87 ... ..
Readized tosses on derivativg instroments
M!m:ﬂed ino camings, ael of taxcs
Umunud wnmmtcubkmm
ocofuesof $3.......... .
Translstion adjusiment of foreign
CROTENCY FUERIETRS , . o\ v v b s
Underfunded post-miirement benefit
owpummdmu of$3......

Tusoctions,

in fxir values of derivative

imsryments, ne! of wxesof $27. .. ..
Realized bosses on derivative instrumens

rectxssifiedd into carnings, et of tacs

Unrealired gain on marketable socurilies,
tofaxaol$d.............
Trasiation adjestment of foreign
COTTEnCY SIIETERIS . . L L p . e a e
Chng:mrwdoﬂmnoldrﬁmd
gncmplmluhlluumofmot

wceum.lasmmipl: .......

A:cundnd
Additional Cﬂnwthﬁv nsuﬂ.
e
_Common Stock “peidfa  Retadard Stk Comprebensive
Shares Amounts Capltal  Esrtinp (un) Cmprnﬂw Shares  Amoazls Toceme
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See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SFTATEMENTS
Years cnded December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

1. Businesy

The fnancial statements prescnted in this report represent the consolidation of Waste Management, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, our wholty-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and certain variable intcresi entities for
which we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary (See Noic 19). Wasic Management, Inc. is 8 holding
company and all operations are conducted by subsidiasics. When the 1erms “the Company,” “we,” “us™ or “our” arc
used in this document, those terms refer to Waste Management, Inc., its consolidated subsidiaries and consolidated

variable interest entitics. When we use the term "WML, we are referring only to the parent holding company.

We are the leading provider of integrated waste services in Norih America. Using our vast network of assets
and employces. we provide a comprehensive range of wasie management services. Through our subsidiaries we
provide collection, transfer, recycling, disposal and wasie-to-energy services. In providing these services, we
aclively pursue projects and initigtives that we believe make a positive difference for our environment, including
recovering and processing the methanc gas produced naturally by [andfills intc a renewable energy source. Qur
customers include commercial, industrial, municipal and residential customers, other wasie management compa-
nics, clectric utilities and governmenial cntites.

We manage and cvaluate our principal operations through six operating Groups, of which four are organized by
geographic arca and two are organized by function. The geographic Groups include our Eastern, Midwest, Southern
and Western Groups, and the 1wo functional Groups are our Wheelabrator Group, which provides waste-to-energy
services, and our WM Recycle America, or WMRA, Group, which provides recycling services not managed by our
geographic Groups, We also provide additional wasie management services that arc not managed through our six
Groups, which are presented in this repon as “Other.” Refer to Note 20 for additional information relaied (0 our
segmenis.

2. Accounting Changes and Reclassifications
Accounting Changes
FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In June 2006, the Financial Accounling Standards Board issued Imerpreiation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncentainty in Income Taxes (an interpretation of FASB Statemen: No. 109). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement atiribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or
capecied 10 be taken in 1ax returns. In addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on the de-recognition, classification and
disclosure of 1ax positions, as well as the accounting for related interess and penalties. On May 2, 2007, the FASB
issued FSP No. FIN 4B-1, Definition of Sctilement in FASB Interpretation No. 48, to provide guidance associaled
with the criteria that must be evaluaied in determining if a tax position has been effectively scitled and should be
recognized as a tax benefn,

Our adoption of FIN 48 and FSP No. 48-1 effective January 1, 2007 resulted in the recognition of a $28 milion
increase in our liabilitics for unrecognized tax benefits, a $32 million increase in our non-current deferred {ax ussels
and a $4 million increase in our beginning retained camings as a cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle,

Refer to Note 8 for edditional information about our unrecognized tax benefils.

SFAS No. 158 — Emplayers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

In Scptember 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Emplayers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASE Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS No. 158
requires companics 10 recognize the overfunded or underfunded siatus of their defined benefit pension and other
posi-retirement plans as an asset or liability and 10 recognize changes in that funded stats through comprehensive
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income in the year in which the changes occur. As required, the Company adopied SFAS No. 158 on Deccmber 31,
2006.

With the zdoption of SFAS No. 158 on December 31, 2006, we recorded a liability and a corresponding
deferred loss adjustment to "Accumulated other comprehensive income™ of $2 million related to the previously
unaccrued lisbility balance associated with our defincd benefit pension and other post-retiement plans. The
December 31, 2006 net increase of $1 million in “Accumulated other comprehensive income™ atiributable to the
underfunded status of our post-retirement plans is associated with the net impact of adjustments to increase deferrcd
tax assets by $3 million, partially offse1 by the additional $2 million related 10 liabilities recorded.

SFAS No. 123(R) — Share-Based Payment

On January !, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, which requires
compensation expense to be recognized for all share-based payments made to employees based on the fair value of
the award 8t the date of grant. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospeclive method, which results
in {i) the recogniticn of compensation expensc using the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share-based awands
granted or modified after December 31, 2005 and (ii) the recognition of compensation expense using the provisions
of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation for all unvested awards outstanding at the date of
adoption. Under this transition method, the results of operations of prior periods have not been restated. Accord-
ingly, we will continue to provide pro forma financial information for periods prior to January 1, 2006 to illustrate
the effect on net income and eamings per share of applying the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123.

Through December 31, 2005, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, we accounted for equily-based compensation in
eccordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as
amended. Under APB No. 25, we recognized compensation expense based on an award’s intrinsic value. Fer stock
options, which were the primary form of equily-based awards we granted through December 31, 2004, this meant
we recognized no compensation cxpense in connection with the grants, as the exercise price of the options wascqual
10 the fair market value of our commaon stock on the date of grant and all other provisions were fixed. As discussed
below, beginning in 2005, restricied stock units and performance share units became the primary form of equity-
based compensation awarded under our long-term incentive plans. For restricted stock nits, intrinsic value is equal
1o the market value of our common stock on the date of grant. For performance share units, APB No. 25 required
"variable accounting,” which resulted in the recognition of compensation expense based on the intrinsic veluc of
each award at the end of cach reporting period untit such time that the number of shares to be issued and ol other
provisions are fixed.
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The most significant difference between the fair value approaches prescribed by SFAS No. 123 and
SFAS No. 123(R) and the inrrinsic value method prescribed by APB No. 25 relaies 10 the recognition of
compensalion expense for stock opticn awards based on their grant dole fair valve. Under SFAS No. 123, we
estimated the fair value of stock option granis using the Black-Scholes-Merion option-pricing model. The following
1able reflects the pro forma impact on net income and eamings per common share for the year ended December 31,
2005 of accounting for our equity-based compensation using SFAS No. 123 (in millions, except per share amounis):

Reported Nt iCOMME . ...t v vt s in et r e naaa st $1,182
Add: Equity-based compensation expensc included in reported net income, net of 1ax

115 1 T P 12
Less: Total equity-based compensation cxpense per SFAS No. 123, net of tax bepefit ... .. 99
PO fOrma MEL IMCOME. . . .ottt ettt vt e ura e aananeeranacaassannnsennes $1,095

Basic earnings per common share:

Reported NI inCOME ... . ottt ii it e irnor s rr e an e 521
Add: Equity-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax

L 1 2RSS P 0.02
Less: Total equity-based compensation expense per SFAS No. 123, net of tax benelit ... .. 0.17)
Pro forma REliDCUMIE. .. ..ottt iiim s irie it e e $ 196

Dituted earnings per common share:

Reported et inCOME . ..o oo v it v iieir i tan e iaar s ae it $ 209
Aud: Equity-based compensation cxpense included in reported net income, nel of 1ax

T2 7. 7 g 0.02
Less: Tolal equity-based compensation expense per SFAS No. 123, net of tax benefir ... .. (0.17)
Pro forma net income. . .. .......... P $ 194
Weighied average fair value per share of stock options granted . ..................... $ 626

In December 2005, the Management Developmen and Compensation Commitiee of our Board of Directors
approved the acccleration of the vesting of all unvested stock options awarded under our stock incentive plans,
effective December 28, 2005. The decision to accelerate the vesling of outstanding siock oplions was made
primarily to reduce the non-cash compensation expense that we would have otherwise recorded in fusure periods as
a result of adopling SFAS No. 123(R). We estimated that the acceleration eliminated approximately 355 miilion of
cumulative pre-1ax compensation charges that would have been recognized during 2006, 2007 and 2008 as the stock
options would have continued to vesl. We recognized a $2 million pre-tax charge to compensation expense during
the fourth quarter of 2005 as a result of the acceleration, but do not expect to recognize future compensation expense
for the accelerated options under SFAS No. 123(R). Total equity-based compensation expense per SFAS No, 123,
net of tax benefit as presented in the 1able above, includes a pro forma charge of $41 million, net of 1ax benefit, for
the December 2005 accelerated vesting of outstanding stock options.

Additionally, as a result of changes in accounting required by SFAS No. 123(R) and a desire to design our long-
term incentive plans in 2 manner thai creales a stronger link to operating and market performance, the Managemerit
Development and Compensation Commitiee approved a substantial change in the form of awards that we grant.
Beginning in 2005, annuul stock option grants were ¢liminatcd and, for key members of our management and
operations personnel, replaced with grants of restricted stock units and performance share units. Stock option grants
in connection with new hires and promotions were replaced with grants of restricted stock units. The 1emms of our
restricted stock units and performance sharc units arc summarized in Note 15.
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As a resuft of the acceleration of the vesting of stock options and the replacement of future awards of sfock
options with other forms of equity awards, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January §, 2006 did not significanily
affect our accounting for cquity-based compensation or our net income for the years ended December 31,2007 or
2006. We do not currenily expect this change in accounting to significantly impact our future results of operations.
However, we do expect equity-based compensation cxpense to increase over the next lwo years becouse of the
incremental expense that will be recognized each ycar as additional awards are granted.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we included all 1ax benefits associated with equity-bascd
compensaiion as operating cash flows in the Statement of Cash Flows. SFAS No. 123(R) requires any reduction
in 1axes payabic resulting from tax deductions that exceed the recognized tax benefit associated with compensation
expense (¢xcess 1ax beneflts) 1o be cassified as financing cash flows. We included $26 million and $45 million of
excess tax benefits in our cash flows from financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively that would have been classified as an operaling cash flow if we hed not been required to edopt
SFAS No. 123(R). During the year ended December 31, 2005, excess 1ax benefits improved our operating cash
flows by approximately $17 million.

Reclassifications

In the firs: quarter of 2007, we realigned our Eastem, Midwest and Westem Group orgenizations to facililate
improved business exccution. We reassigned responsibility for the management of certpin market arcas in the
Eastern and Midwes Groups to the Midwest and Westem Groups, respectively. In addition, in carly 2007 we moved
certain of our WMRA operations to our Western Group to more closcly align their recycling operations with the
related collection, wansfer and disposal operations. We have reflecied the impact of these realignments for all
periods presented to provide financial information thet consistently reflects our current approach 10 managing our
operations. Refer 1o Note 20 for further discussion aboul our reportable segmenis.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements inclede the accounts of WMI, its wholly-owned and
majority-owned subsidiarics and centain variable inicrest entities for which we have determined thar we arc the
primary beneficiary, All material intercompany balances and Iransactions have been eliminated. Investments in
entities in which we do not have a controlling financial interest are accounted for under clther the equity method or
cost method of accounting, as appropriatc.

Estimates and assumptions

In preparing our financial statements. we make numerous estimates and assumnptions that affect the accounting
for end recognition and disclosure of assets, liabilities, stockholders’ equily, revenues and expenses. We must make
these estimates and assumptions because certain information thal we usc is dependent on future events, cannot be
calculated with a high degree of precision from data available or simply cannot be readily calculated based on
generally accepted methodologics. In some cascs, these estimates are panticularly difficult 1o determine and we
must cxercise significant judgment. In preparing our financial statcments, the most difficult, subjective and complex
estimales and the assumptions that dcal with 1he greatest amount of uncenainty relate lo our accounting for landfills,
environmental remediation liabilities, asset impairments, and self-insurance reserves and secoverics. Each of these
items is discusscd in odditional detail befow. Actual sesults could differ materially from the estimates and
assumptions that we use in the preparation of our financial statements.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit, certificates of deposii, monty market accounts,
and invesiment grade commercial paper purchased with original maturities of three months or less.

Short-term investments available for use

Periodically, we invest in auction rate sccuritics and variable rate demand noles, which are debt instruments
with long-term scheduled malurities and periodic interest rate reset dates. The interest rale reset mechanism for
these instruments results in a periodic remarketing of the underlying securities through an auction process. Due to
the liquidity provided by the interest rate resel mechanism and the shon-term pature of our investment in these
securnilies, they have been classified as current assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2006,
£184 million of invesiments in auction rate securitics and variable rate demand notes have been included as &
component of current “QOther assets.” We did not have any investments in this type of securitics as of December 31,
2007. Gross purchascs and sales of these investments are presented within “Cash Mows from investing activities” in
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primanly of cash and
cash ¢quivalents, shon-ierm invesiments, invesiments tield within our trust funds and escrow accOunts, accounts
receiveble and derivative instuments. We control our exposure 1o credil risk associaled with these instruments by
(i) placing our asscts and other financial interests with a diverse group of credit-worthy financial Institulions;
(ii) holding high-quality financial instruments while limiting investments in any one instrument; and (iii) main-
taining strict policies over credit extension that include credit evaluations, credit limits and monitoring procedures,
although generally we do not have collateral requirements. In addition, our overall credit risk associated with trade
receivables is limited duc 1o the large number of geographically diverse customers we service. At December 31,
2007 and 2006. no single customer represenied greater than 5% of total atcounts receivable.

Trade and other receivables

Our receivables are recorded when billed or advanced and represent claims against third parties that will be
sentled in cash. The carrying value of our receivables, net of the altowance for doubtful accounts, represents their
estimated net realizable value. We estimate our allowance for doubtful eccounts based on historical collection
trends, type of customer, such as municipal or non-municipal, the age of outstanding reccivables and existing
economic conditions. If events or changes in circumsiances indicate thal specific receivable balances may be
impaired, further consideration is given o the collectibility of those balances and the allowance is adjusied
accordingly. Past-duc receivable balances are writien-off when our internal collection effonis have been unsuc-
cessful in collecting the amount due. Also, we recognize interest income on long-term inlerest-bearing notes
receivable as the interest accrues under the terms of the notes.

Landfill accounting

Cost Basis of Landfill Assets — We capitalize various costs that we incur to make a landfill ready 1o accept
waste, These costs generally include expenditures for land (inctuding the landfill footprint and required landfill
buffer property), permitting, excavation, liner material and installation, tandfill leachate collection systems, landfil)
gas collection systems, ¢nvironmental monitoring cquipment for groundwater and landfill gas, directly related
enginccring, capitalized interest, and on-site road construction and other capital infrastructyre costs. The cost basis
of our landfill assets also includes estimates of future costs associated with 1andfill final capping, closure and post-
closure activities in accordance with SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retiremens Obligations and its
Interpretations. These costs are discussed below.
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Final Capping. Closure and Posi-Closure Costs — Following is a desceiption of our asset retirement activities
and our related accounting:

* Final Capping — Involves the installation of flexible membranc liners and geosyntheiic clay liners,
drainage and compacted soil layers and topsoil over areas of a landfill where 1otal airspace capacity has
been consumed. Final capping asset relirement obligations are recorded on a units-of-consumplion basis as
airspace is consumed related 1o the specific final capping event with comesponding increase in the landfill
asset. Each final capping event is accounted for as a discrete obligation and recorded as an asset and o
liability based on estimates of the discounted cash Mows and capacity associated with cach final capping
evenl.

» Closure — Includes the construction of the final portion of methane gas collection systems (when required).
demobilization and routine maintenance costs. These are costs incuired after the site ceases 1o accept wasie,
but before the landfill is certified as closed by the applicable state regulatory agency. These costs are accrued
as an asset retirement obligation as airspace is consumed over the life of the landfill with a corresponding
increase in the landfill asser. Closurc obligations are accrued over the life of the landfill based on estimaies of
the discounted cash flows associated with performing closure activitics.

+ Post-Closure — Involves the maintenance and monitoring of a landfill site that has been certified closed by
the applicable regulatory agency. Generally, we are required to maintain and monitor landfill sites for a
30-year period. These maintenance and moniloring costs are accrued as an asset retiremeni obligation as
airspace is consumed over the life of the landfill with o comresponding increase in the landfill asset. Post-
closure obligations are accrued over the life of the landfill based on estimates of the discounted cash flows
associzted with performing post-closure activities.

We develop our estimates of these obligations using input from our operations personnel, engincers and
accountants. Our estimalcs are based on our interpretation of curtent sequirements and proposed regulatory changes
and arc intended 1o approximate fair valuc under the provisions of SFAS No. 143. Abseni quoied market prices, the
estimate of fair value should be based on the best available information, including the results of present value
techniques. In many cases, we contract with third partics to fulfill our obligations for final capping, closure and post-
closure. We use hisiorical experience, professional enginecring judgment and quoted and actual prices paid for
similar work 10 determine the fair vatue of these obligations. We are required to recognize these obligations 2t
market prices whether we plan to contract with third parties or perform the work ourselves. In those instances where
we perform the work with inieral resources, the incremenial profit margin realized is recognized as a componem of
operating income when the work is performed.

Additionally, an estimate of fair value should also include the price thai marketplace participants are able to
receive for bearing the uncertainties inherent in these cash flows. However, when using discounted cash flow
techniques, veliablz estimates of market premiums may not be obtainable. In the waste industry, there is genernlly
not 2 market for selling the responsibility for final capping, closure and post-closure obligations indcpendent of
selting the landfill in its entirery. Accordingly, we do not believe that it is possibie 10 develop a methodology to
reliably estimale a market risk premium. We have excluded any such market risk premium from our detcrmination
of capected cash flows for landfill asset retirement obligations.

Once we have determined the final capping. closure and posi-closure costs, we inflate those costs to the
expected time of payment und discount those expected future costs back 1o present value, During the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we inflnted these costs in current dollars untif the expected time of payment using an
infation rate of 2.5%. We discount these cos!s 1o presem value using the credit-adjusied, risk-free rate cffective at
the time an obligation is incurred consistent with the expecied cash flow approach. Any changes in expectations that
result in an upward revision 1o the estimated cash flows are treated as a new liability and discounted at the current
rate while downward revisions are discounted at the historical weighted-average raic of the recorded cbligation. As
a result, the credit-adjusted, risk-free discount rate used to calculate the present valuc of an obligation is specific to
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each individual asset retirement obligation. The weighted-avernge rale applicable 10 our asset retirement obliga-
tions at December 31, 2007 is berween 6.00% and 7.23%, the range of the credit-adjusted, risk-free discount mites
cffective since adopting SFAS No. 143 in 2003,

We record 1he estimated fair value of final capping, closure and post-closure liabilities for our landfilis based
on the capacity consumed through the current period. The fair value of final capping obligations is developed based
on our estimates of the airspace consumed 1o date for each final capping event and the expecied timing of each final
copping event. The fair value of closure and posi-closure obligations is developed based on our estimates of the
airspace consumed 10 date for the entire Jandfill and the expected timing of each closure and post-closure aclivily,
Because these obligations are measured al estimated fair value using presemt value lechniques, changes in the
cstimated cost or liming of future final capping. closure and posi-closure activities could result in a meterial change
in these liabilities, related assets and results of operations. We assess the appropriateness of the estimates vsed 10
develop our recorded balances annually, or more often if significant facts change.

Changes in inflation rates or the estimated costs, liming or extemt of future final capping and ¢losure and post-
closure aclivitics typicalty result in both (i) a current adjusiment to the recorded liability and Jandfill assct; and (ii) a
change in liability and asse1 amounts to be recorded prospectively over either the remaining cepacity of the relaed
discrete final capping event or the remaining permitted and expansion airspace (as defined below) of the landfill.
Any changes related 10 the capitalized and {uture cost of the landfil) assets are then recognized in accordance with
our amortization policy, which would generally result in amortization expense being recognized prospectively over
the remaining capacity of the final capping cveat or the remaining permitied and expansion airspace of the fandfill,
as appropriaic. Changes in such estimates associated with airspace that has been fully utilized result in an
adjustment 10 the recorded liability and landfill assets with an immediatc comresponding adjustment to landfill
airspace amortization expense.

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, adjusiments associated with changes in our
expectations for the timing and cost of future final capping, closure and posi-closure of fully utilized alespace
resulted in $17 million, $1 miltion and $13 million in ne1 credits to landfill airspace amortizalion expense,
respectively, with the majority of these credits resulting from revised estimates associated with final capping
changes. [n managing our landfills, our engineers look for ways to reduce or defer our construction costs, including
final capping costs. Most of the benefit recognized in these years was the resull of concerted efforts to improve the
operating efficiencies of our landfills allowing us to delay spending for final capping activities, landfill expansions
that resulied in reduced or deferred final capping costs, or completed final capping construction that cost less than
anticipated.

Interest accretion on final capping. closure &nd post-closure linbilities is recorded using the cffective interest
method and is recorded as final capping, closure and post-closure expense, which is included in “Operating” costs
and expenses within our Consolidated Siatements of Operations,

Amontization of Landfill Assets — The amortizable basis of a landfill includes (i) amounts previously
expended and capitalized; (ii) capitalized landfilt final capping. closure and post-closurc costs: (iii) projections
of future purchase and development costs required 1o develop the landfill site 10 its remaining permitied and
expansion capacity; and {iv) projecied asset retirement costs related 10 landfil) final capping, closure and post-
closure activities.

Amortization is recorded on a units-of-consumption basis, applying cosi as a rate per ton, The rate per 1on is
calculated by dividing cach component of the amortizable basis of a landfill by the number of tons necded to fill the
corresponding asset’s airspace. For landfills that we do not own, but operate through operating or lease arvange-
ments, the rate per ton Is calculated based on the lesser of the contraciual 12rm of the undertying agreement or the
life of the 1andfill.
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We apply the following guidelines in determining a landfill's remaining permitted and expansion sirspacc:

« Remaining Permitted Airspace — Qur engincers, in consultation with third-party engincesing consuliants
and surveyors, are responsible for determining remaining permitied airspace at our landfills. The remaining
permitted airspace is determined by an annual survey, which is then used 10 compare the existing landfill
topography 10 the expected final Jandfill 1opography.

+ Expansion Airspace — We also include curvently unpermiited airspace in our estimate of remaiaing
permilted and expansion eirspace in certain circumstances. Firsl, to include airspace associated with an
expansion effort, we must gencrally expect the initial expansion permit application to be submitted within
onc year, and the final expansion permit to be received within five years. Second, we must believe the
success of obtaining the expansion permit is likely, considering the following criteria:

« Personnel are ectively working to obiain land use and Jocal, state or proviacial spprovals for an expansion
of an cxisting landfill;

» It is likely that the approvals will be reccived within the normal application and processing time periods
for approvals in the jurisdiction in which the landfill is located;

* We have a legat right 1o use or obtain lend to be included in the capansion plan;

« There are no significant known technical, lcgal, community, business, or political restrictions or similar
issucs that could impair the success of such expansion; »

» Financial enalysis has been completed, and the results demonstrate that the expansion has a positive
financial and operationel impact; and

» Airspace and related costs, including additional closure and post-closure costs, have been estimated based
on conceptual design.

For unpermincd airspece to be initially included in our cstimate of remaining permitted and expansion
airspace, the cxpansion cffort must meet all of the critenia liseed above. These criteria are cvaluated by our ficld-
based engineers, accountants, managers and others to identify potential obstacles to odialning the permits. Once the
unpermincd airspace is includcd, our policy provides that airspace may continue to be included in remaining
permitied and expansion airspace cven if these criteria are no longer met, based on the facts and circumstances of a
specific landfill. In these circumstances, continued inclusion must be approved through a landfill-specific revicw
process that includes approval of the Chief Financial Officer and a review by the Audit Comminee of the Board of
Directors on o quarterly basis. Of the 54 landfill sites with expansions a1 December 31, 2007, 18 landfills required
the Chief Financial Officcr to approve the inclusion of the unpermitted airspace. Eight of these landfills required
approval by the Chief Financial Officer becausc of a lack of community or political support that could impede the
expansion process. The remaining ten landfills required approval primarily due to the permit application processes
not mecting the one- or five-ycar requirements, as a result of state-specific permining procedures.

Once the remaining permitted and expansion airspace is determined, an airspace utilization factor, or AUF, is
established to catculate the remaining permitted and expansion capacity in tons, The AUF is established using the
measured density obtained from previous annual surveys and then adjusted to account for seitiement. The amount of
setilement that is forecasted will take into account several site-specific factors including current and projected mix
of waste type, initial and projected wastc density, estimated number of years of life remaining, depth of underlying
waste, and anticipated access to moisture through precipitation or recirculation of landfill leachate. In addition, the
initial sclection of the AUF is subject to a subsequent multi-level revicw by our engineering group and the AUF used
is reviewed on a periodic basis and revised as necessary. Our historical experience generally indicates that the
impact of settlement a1 a landfill is greater later in the life of the landfill when the waste placed a1 the landfill
approaches its highest point under the permit requirements.
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When we include the expansion airspace in our caleulations of remaining permiticd and expansion airspace,
we als0 includc the projected costs for development, as well as the projected asset retirement costs relaied 10 final
capping, and closure and post-closure of the expansion in the amortization basis of the landfill.

Afier determining the costs and remaifling permirtied and expansion capacity at each of our landfills, we
determine the per Lon rates that will be expensed through landfill amortization. We look at factors such as the wasie
stream, geography and rate of compaction, among others, 10 detcrmine the number of tons necessary to fill the
remaining permitied and cxpansion #irspace relating to these costs and activities. We then divide costs by the
comesponding number of tons, giving us the rate per ton to expense for each aclivity as waste is received and
deposited at the landfill. We calculate per ton amortization rates for cach landfill for assets associated with each
final capping cvent, for asscts related to closure and post-closure activities and for all other costs capitalized or tobe
capitalized in the future. Thesc rates per 1on are updated annually, or more often, as significant facts change.

1t is possible that actud results, including the amount of costs incurred, the iming of final capping, closure and
posi-closure activities, our airspace utilization or the success of our expansion efforts, could ultimately turm cut to be
significantly different from our ¢stimates and assumptions. To the extent that such estimates, or relaled assump-
tions, prove to be significantly different than actual resuits, lower profitability may be experienced due to higher
amortizalion rates, higher final capping, closure or posi-closure mates, or higher expenses; or higher profitability
may result if the opposite occurs. Most significantly, if our belief that we will receive an expansion permit changes
adversely and it is determined that the expansion capacity should no longer be considered in calculating the
recoverability of the Jandfil) asset, we may be required to recognize an asset impainment. If it is determined that the
likelihood of receiving the expansion permilt has become remote, the capitalized costs related to the expansion effort
are expensed immediately.

Environmental Remediarion Liabilities — We arc subject (0 an amay of taws and regulations relating to the
protection of the environment, Under current laws and regulations, we may have liabilities for environmental
damage caused by operations, or for damage caused by conditions that existed before we acquired a site. Such
liabilities include potentially responsible party (“PRP”) investigations, settlements, certain legal and consultant
fees, as well as costs directly associated with site investigation and clean up, such as materials and incremental
intermal costs directly relaied (o the remedy. We provide for expenses associaled with environmental remediation
obligations when such amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated. We routinely review and evaluate
sites that require remedialion and determine our estimated cost for the likely remedy based on several estimates and
assumplions,

We estimate costs required to remedlate sites where it is probable that a lisbility has been incurred based on
site-specific facts and circumstances. We routinely review and evaluate sites that require remediation, considering
whether we werc an Owner, Opergtor, transporter, or generator at the site, the amount and type of waste hauled o the
site and the oumber of years we were associated with the site. Next, we review the same type of information with
respect (0 other named and unnamed PRPs. Estimates of the cost for the likely remedy are then either developed
using our intcmal resources or by third-party environmentat engincers or other service providers. Internally
developed estimates are based on:

* Management’s judgment and experience in remediating our own: and unrelated parties” sites;
» Information available from regulatory agencies as 1o costs of remediation;

* The number, financial resources and relative degree of responsibility of other PRPs who may be liable for
remediation of a specific site; and

* The typical allocaticn of costs among PRPs unless the actual allocation has been determined.

There can sometimes be a range of rcasonable estimates of the costs assoctated with the likely remedy of a site.
In these cases, we use the ainount within the range that constituies our best estimate. If no amount within the range
appears Lo be a better estimate than any other, we use the amounts that are the low ends of such ranges in accordance
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with SFAS No. 5. Accounting for Contingencies and its Interpretations. If we used the high ends of such ranges, our
aggregale potential liability would be approximaiely 3190 mitlion higher on a discounted basis than the
$284 million recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2007.

Estimating our degree of responsibility for remediation of a panicular site is inherently difficult and
determining the method and ultimaie cost of remediation requires that a number of assumptions be made. Qur
ultimate responsibility may differ materially from current estimates. It is possible that lechnological, regulatory or
enforcement developments. the resulis of environmental studies, the inability to identify other PRPs, the inability of
other PRPs 10 contribute 10 the sertlements of such liabilitics, or other factors could require us 10 record additional
liabilities thai could be motcrial. Additionally, our angoing review of our remediation liabilhies could result in
revisions that could cause upward or downward edjustments to income from operutions. These adjustments could
also be material in any given period.

Where we believe that both the amount of a particular environmental remediation liabitity and the timing of the
payments are reliably determinable, we inflate the cost in current dollars (by 2.5% at both December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006) uniil the expecicd time of payment and discount the cost to present value using a risk-free
discount rate, which is based on the rate for United States treasury bonds with a term approximating the weighied
average period until setticment of the underlying obligation. We determine the risk-free discount rate and the
inflation ratc on an annual basis unless interim changes would significantly impact our results of operations. As a
result of an increase in our risk-free discount rate, from 4.25% for 2005 10 4.75% for 2006, we recorded a $6 million
reduction in “Operating” cxpenses during the first quarter of 2006 and a corresponding decrease in environmental
remediation ilabilitics. As a resul of & decrease in our risk-free discount rate, from 4.75% for 2006 to 4.00% for
2007, we recorded an $8 million charge to “Operating” expenses during the fourth quaster of 2007 and &
corresponding Increasc in environmental remediation liabilities. For remedil liabilitics that have been discoumied,
we include intcrest accretion. based on the effective interest method, in “Operating” costs and expenses in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The portion of our recorded cnvironmentat remediation liabilities that has
never been subject to inflation or discounting as the amounts and timing of payments are pot readily determinable
was $47 million and $55 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Had we not discounted any portion
of our environmental remediation liability, the amount recorded would have been increased by $28 million at
December 31, 2007 and $41 million ot December 31, 2006.

Property and equipment (Exclusive of landfills discussed above)

Property and equipment are recorded o1 cost. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are
capitalized while major maintenance activitics arc expensed as incurred, Depreciation is provided over the
cstimated useful lives of these assets using the straight-line method. We assume no salvage value for our
depreciable property and equipment. The cstimated vseful tives for significant property and equipment catcgories
are as follows (in years):

Useful Lives
Vehicles —excluding mail haul cars. . ... ool Je 10
Vehicles —rail haul Cars . ..o vt vt it i et G020
Machinery and eQUIPIMENT. .. ..o inr e ennni e 3w 30
Buildings and improvemenis — excluding waste-to-energy fecilities. .............-. w040
Waste-to-cnergy facilities and related equipment . .. ... up to 50
Fumiture, fixiores and office EQUIPMER ... ... .. cih it i e Jwlo

We include capitalized cosis associated with developing or oblaining intemal-use software within furniture,
fixtures and office equipment. These cosis include external direct costs of materials and services used in developing
or obtnining the software and payrols and payroll-related costs for employees directly associated with the sofiware
development project. As of December 31, 2007, capitalized costs for sofiware placed in service, net of accumulated
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depreciation, were $40 million. In addition, our fumiture, fixtures and office equipment includes $81 million as of
December 31, 2007 and $68 million as of December 31, 2006 for costs incusred for software under development
This includes $70 million of costs associated with the development of our revenue management system. Our
implementation processes associated with this software identified issues with the sofiware that have delayed the
development and implementation of the system. Based on this information, we are currenily evaluating the overall
effectiveness of the softwire pertion of the system and re-examining our implementation plan. No impairment of
this asset has been required through December 31, 2007, although there can be 0o assurances that an impairmen
may not be required in future periods.

When property and equipment are retired, sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depre-
ciation are removed from nur accounts and any resulling gain or loss is included in results of operations as offsets or
increases (o operating expense for the period.

 Leases

We lease property and equipment in the ordinary course of our business. Our most significant lease obligations
are for propenty and equipment specific to our industry, including real property operated as a landfill, transfer station
or wasle-to-energy facility and equipment such as compactors. Our leases have varying terms. Some may include
renewal or purchase options, escalation clauses, restrictions, penaliies or other obligations that we consider in
determining minimum lease payments. The leases are classified as cither operating leases or capital leases, as

eppropriate.

Operating leases — The majority of our leases are operating leases. This classification generally can be
attributed to cither (i) relatively low fixed minimum lease payments as a result of rea) property lease obligations that
vary based on the volume of waste we receive or process or (ii) minimum lease terms that are much shorter than the
assets’ economic vscful lives, Management expects thal in the norma! course of business our operating leases will
be renewed, replaced by other leases, or replaced with fixed asset expenditures. Our rent expense during each of the
Jast three years and our fulure minimum operating lease payments for cach of the next five years, for which we are
contractually obligated as of December 31, 2007, are disclosed in Note 10.

Capital Jeases — Assets under capilal feases are capitatized using inlerest rates appropriate at the inception of
cach Jeasc and are amontized over cither the useful life of the asset or the lease term, as appropriate, on a straight-line
basis. The present value of the related lease payments is recorded as a debt obligation. Our future minimum annual
capital lease payments are included in our total future debt obligations as disclosed in Noie 7.

Business combinations

We account for the assets acquircd and liabilitics assumed in a business combination based on fair value
estimates as of the date of acquisition. These estimates are revised during the allocation period as necessary if, and
when, information regarding conlingencies becomes available to further define and quantify assels acquired and
liabilities assumed. The allocation period generally docs not exceed one year. To the extent contingencies such as
preacquisition environmental matiers, litigation and related legal fees are resolved or setited during the allocation
period, such items are included in the revised allocation of the purchase price. After the allocation period, the effect
of changes in such contingencies is included in results of operations in the periods in which the adjustments are
detcrmined.

In certain business combinalions, we agree to pay addiliona) amounts to sellers contingent upon achievement
by the acquired businesses of cerain negotiated goals, such as targeicd revenue levels, targeted disposal volumes ot
the issuance of permits for expanded landfill airspacc. Contingent payments, when incurred, arc recorded as
purchase price adjusiments Or COmMPpENsation expense, &s appropriate, based on the nature of each contingent
payment. Refer to the Guaransees section of Note 10 for additional information related 1o these contingent
obligations.
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Assets held-for-sale

During our operations review processes, we, from time to time, identify under-performing operations, We
assess thesc operations for opportunities to improve their performance. A possible conclusion of this revicw may be
that offering the retated asscts for salc to others is in our best inkerests. Additionally, we continually review our real
estate pordolio and identily any surplus propenty.

We classify these asseis as beld-for-sale when they meet the following criteria: (i) management, having the
authority to approve the action, commits to a plan to scll the asscts; (ii) the assets arc available for immediate sale in
their present condition, subject onfy 10 conditions that are usual and customary for the sale of such asscts; (iil) weare
actively scarching for & buyer; (iv) the asseis are being marketed at 8 price that is reasonable in relation to their
current fair value; (v) aclions necessary o compleic the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to
the plan will be made or the plan will be withdrawn; and (vi) the sale is probable and the wansfer is expected (0
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within onc year.

These assets are recorded et the Jower of their carrying amount or their fair value less the estimated cost to sell
and are included within current "Other assets™ within our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We continue o review our
classification of assets held-for-sale to cnsure they meet our held-for-sale criteria.

Discontinued operations

We analyze our operations that have been divested or classified as held-for-sale in order to determine if they
qualify for discontinued operstions accounting. Only operations that qualify as a component of an entity
(“Component”) under generally accepted accounting principles can be included in discontinued operations. Only
Components where we do not have significant continuing involvement with the divesied operations would qualify
for discontinued operations eccounting. For our purposes, continuing involvement would include continuing to
reccive waste &1 our landfil), waste-1o-cncrgy facility or recycling facility from a divested hauling operation or
wansfer station or continuing to dispose of waste at a divested landfifl or transfer station. After completing our
analysis at December 31, 2007, we determined that the operations that qualify for discontinued operations
accounting are not material to our Consolidated Staiemeals of Operations.

Goodwill and other intangible assers

Goodwill is the excess of our purchase cost over the fair value of the nct asscts of acquired busincsses. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, we do not amortize goodwill. As discussed
in the Asser impairments section below, we assess our goodwill for impairment at least annually.

Other intangible assets consist primarily of customer contracts, customer lists, covenants not-lo-compete,
licenses, permits (other than landfill permits, as all fandfill related intangible asscts are combined with landfill
tangible assets and amortized using our landfil amortization policy) and other contracts. Other intangible 8ssets are
recorded at cost and are amortized using cither 8 1 50% declining balance approach or on a straight-line basis as we
determine appropriate. Customer conuacts and customer lists are generally amontized over seven (0 len yCars.
Covenants not-lo-compete are amortized over the term of the non-compete covenant, which is generally two to five
years, Licenses, permits and other contracts are amortized over the definitive terms of the related agreements. If the
underlying agreement does not contain definitive terms and the useful life is determined to be indefinite, the assetis
not amortized.

Asset impairments

We monitor the carrying value of our tong-lived assets for potential impainment and test the recoverability of
such assets whenever cvents Of changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may Rrot be
recoverable. If an indication of impairment occurs, the asset is reviewed to deicrmine whether there has been
an impairmenL. An impairment l0ss is recorded as the difference between the carrying amount and fair value of the
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asset. If significant events or changes in circumstances indicaie thal the carrying vatuc of an assct or asset group may
not be recoverable, we perform a test of recoverability by comparing the carrying vatue of the assel or asset group to
its undiscounied expecied future cash flows. I cash flows cannot be separalely and independemly identified fora
single assel, we will determine whether an impairment has occunred for the group of assets for which we can identify
the projected cash flow. 11 the carrying values are in cxcess of undiscounicd expected future cash flows, we measure
any impairment by comparing the fair value of the assct or asset group lo its carrying value. Fair valug is determined
by either an internally developed discounted projected cash flow analysis of the asset or asset group or an actual
third-pany valuation. If the fair value of an asset or asset group is determined to be Iess than the carrying amount of
the asset or asset group, an impairment in the amount of the difference is recorded in the period that the impairment
indicator occurs and is included in the “(Income) expense from divestilures, asset impairments and unusual items”
line itern in our Consolidined Statemem of Operations. Estimating future cash flows requires significant judgment
and projections may vary from cash flows eventually realized. There are other considerations for impairments of
landfills and goodwili, as described below.

Landfills — Cenain impairment indicators require significant judgment and understanding of the waste
industry when applicd 1¢ 1andfill development or cxpansion projects. For example. a regulator may initially deny a
landfill cxpanston permil application though the expansion permit is ultimately granted, In addition, management
may periodically divent waste from onc Jandfill to ancther lo conserve remaining permitied landfill airspace.
Therefore, centain events could occur in the ordinary course of business and not necessarily be considered indicators
of impairment of our tandhill assets due to the unique nature of the waste indusiry,

Goodwill — At lcast annually. we assess whether goodwill js impaired. We assess whether an impairment
exisis by comparing the carrying value of cach Group's goodwill to its implied fair value. The implicd fair value of
goodwill is determined by deducting the fair value of cach Group's identifiable assets and liabilitics from the fair
valug of the Group as a whole. We rely on discounted cash flow analysis. which requires significant judgments and
estimates about the future operations of each Group, to develop our estimates of fair value. Additional impairment
asscssments may be performed on an interim basis if we encounter cvents or changes in circumstances that would
indicate that, more likely than not, the carrying value of goodwill has been impaired.

Restricted trust and escrow accounis

As of December 31, 2007, our restricted rust and cserow accounts consist principally of (i) funds deposited for
purposcs of sctiling landfill closure, post-<closure and environmental remediation obligations; (if) funds held in trust
for the construction of varicus facilitics; and (iii) funds held in trusi for the repayment of our debt obligations. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had $418 million and $377 million. respectively, of restricted trust and cscrow
accounts, which are primarily included in long-term “Other assets” in our Consolidaled Balance Sheets.

Closure, posi-closure and environmental remediation funds — Al several of our landfills, we provide financial
assurance by depositing cash into restricted trust funds or escrow accounts for purposes of settling closure, post-
closure and environmental remediation obligations. Balances maintained in these trust funds and escrow accounts
will Ruciuate based on (i) changes in statutory requirements; (ii) future deposits made 1o comply with contraciual
wrrangements; (iii) the ongoing use of funds for qualifying closure, post-closure and environmenta) remediation
activities: (iv) acquisitions or divestitures of landfilis; and (v) changes in the fair value of the financial instruments
held in the trust fund or cscrow accounts,

Tax-exempt bond funds — We obtain funds from the issuance of industrial revenue bonds for the construction
of collection and disposal facilitics and for cquipment necessary (o provide waste management services, Proceeds
from these arrangements arc direcily deposited into trust accounts, and we do not have the ability 1o use the funds in
regular operaling activities. Accordingly, these borrowings are excluded from financing activilies in our Stalcment
of Cash Flows. At the time our construction and equipmem expenditures have been documented and approved by
the applicablc bond trustee, the funds are released and we receive cash. These amounts are reported in the Statement
of Cash Flaws as an investing activity when the cash is releascd from the trust funds. Generally. the funds arc fully
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expended within o few years of the debt issuance. When the debt matures, we repay our obligation with cash on hand
and the debt repayments are included as a financing activity in the Stalcment of Cash Flows.

Debi service funds — Funds are held in trust to mees future principal and inlcrest payments required under
cenain of our tax-cxempt project bonds.

Denivative financial instruments

We use derivative financial instruments to manage our risk associated with fluctuations in interest mtes,
commodity prices and foreign currency exchange rates. We use interest rate swaps to maintein a strategic portion of
our debt obligations at variable, market-driven interest rates. In prior periods, we have entered into interesi rate
derivatives in anticipation of our senior note issuances to effectively lock ina fixed interest rate. We have entered
into commodity derivatives, including swaps and options, to mitigate some of the risk associated with our WMRA
Group's transactions, which can be significantly affected by market prices for recyclable commodities. Foreign
cumency exchange rate derivatives are ofien used to hedge our exposure to changes in exchange rates for anticipated
cash lransactions between WM Holdings and its Canadian subsidiaries.

We obtain current valuations of our interest rate hedging instruments from third-party pricing models to
account for the fair value of outstanding interest rate derivatives. We estimate the fulure prices of commodity fiber
products based upon traded exchange market prices and broker price quotations to derive the current fair value of
commodity derivatives. The fair value of our foreign currency exchange rate derivatives is based on quoted market
prices. The estimated fair values of derivatives used to hedge risks fluciuate over time and should be viewed in
relation to the underlying hedged transaction a2nd the overall manzgement of our exposure o fluctuations in the
underlying risks. The fair value of derivatives is included in other current assets. other long-term assets, accrued
liabilities or other bong-1erm liabilities, as appropriate. Any incffectivencss present in either fair value or cash flow
hedges is recognized immediately in eamings without offsel. There was no significant incffectiveness in 2007, 2006

ar 2005.

v Cash flow hedges — The effective portion of those derivatives designated as cash flow hedges for
accounting purposes is recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income™ within the equity section
of our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Upon termination, the associated balance in othes comprehensive
income is amonized to carnings as the hedged cash flows occur.

+ Fair value hedges — The offsetting amounts for those derivatives designated as fair value hedges for
accounting purposes are recorded as adjustments 10 the camying values of the hedged items. Upon
termination, this camrying value adjustment is amortized to camings over the remaining life of the hedged
item.

As of December 31,2007, 2006 and 2008, the net fair value and earnings impact of our commeodity and foreign
currency derivatives were immatcrial 1o our financial position and results of operations. As funther discussed in
Note 7, our use of interest rate derivatives to manage our fixed to floating rate position has had a material impact on
our operating cash flows, carrying value of debt and interest expense during these periods,

Self-insurance reserves and recoveries

We have retained a significant portion of the risks related to our health and welfare, automobile, gencrad
liability and workers' compensation insurance programs. The exposure for unpaid claims and associated cxpenses.
including incurred but nox reported losses, generally is estimated with the assistance of extemal actuaries and by
factoring in pending cloims and historical trends and data. The gross estimated liability associated with seitling
unpaid claims is included in “Accrued liabilities™ in our Consolidated Bajance Sheets if expecied 1o be setiled
within onc year, or otherwise is included in long-term “Other Liabilitics.” Estimated insurance recoveries related to
recorded liabilities are reflected as current “Other receivables” or long-term “Other assets” in our Consolidatcd
Balance Sheets when we believe that the receipt of such amounis is probable.
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Foreign currency

We have significant operations in Canada. The functional currency of cur Canadian subsidiaries is Canadian
dollars, The assets and liabilitics of our foreign operations arc ransiated to U.S. doflars using the exchange rare at
the balance sheet date, Revenucs and expenses are translated 10 U.S, dollars using the average exchange raie during
the period. The resulting translation difference is reflecied as a component of comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition

Our revenues are gencrated from the fees we charge for waste collection, transfer, disposal and recycling
services and the sale of recycled commoditics. clectricity and steam. The fees charged for our services are generally
defined in our service agreements and vary based on contract specific tenms such as frequency of service, weight,
votume and the general market factors influcncing a region's rates. We generally recognize revenue as services are
performed or products are delivered. For example, revenue typically is recognized as waste is collected, tons are
reccived at our landfills or transfer stations, recycling commoditics are delivered or as kilowaits are delivered o a
customer by o wasteto-cnergy facility or independent power production plant.

We bill for cenain services prior to performance. Such services include, among others, certain residential
contracts that aze billed on a quarterly basis and equipment rentals. These advance billings are included in deferred
revenues and recognized as revenue in the period service is provided.

Capitalized interest

We capitalize imerest on cenain projects under development, including intermnal-use software and landfill
cxpansion projecis, and on certain assets under construciion, including operating landfills and waste-t0-energy
facilities. During 2007, 2006 and 2008, total interest costs were $543 million, $563 million and $505 million,
respectively, of which $22 million for 2007, $!8 million for 2006 and $9 millien for 2005, were capitalized,
primarily for landfill construction costs. The capitalization of interest for operating landfills is based on the costs
incurred on discrete landfitl cell construction projects that are expecied to exceed $500,000 and require over 60 days
to construct. [n addition 1o the direct cost of the cell construction project, the cateulation of capitalized interest
includes an allocated portion of the common landfill site costs. The commeon landfill siie costs include the
development costs of a landfill projecs or the purchase price of an operating landfill, and the ongoing infrastruciure
costs bencfiting the landfill over its useful life. These costs are amostized lo eapense in & manner consistent with
opther landfill site costs. Interest capitalized in 2005 included fewer projects on which interest was capitalized and an
adjustment in the second quarter of 2005 reducing amounts previously capitalized to a large capital project.

Income taxes

The Company is subject 10 income tax in the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico. Current wax obligations
associated with our provision for income 1axes arc reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets s a
component of “Accrucd liabilities,” and the deferred 1ax obligations are reflecied in “Deferred income taxes.”

Deferred income taxes are based on the difference between the financial reporting and rax basis of assets and
liabilitics. The defemred income tax provision represents the change during the reporting period in the deferred 1ax
assets and deferred tax liabilities, net of the effect of acquisitions ang dispositions. Deferred 1ax assets inctude tax
Joss and credit carryforwards and are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on availabie evidence, it is more
likely than not that some portion or ail of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Significant judgment is
required in assessing the liming and emounts of deductible and taxable items. We establish reserves when, despite
our belief that our LaX return positions are fully supportable, we belicve that certain positions may be challenged and
polentially disallowed. When facts and circumstances change, we adjust these reserves through our provision for
income laxcs.
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To the extent interest and penaltics may be ussessed by taxing authoritics on any underpayment of income tax,
such amounts have been accrued and are classified as a component of income tax expensc in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We clected this accounting policy, which is a continuation of our historical policy, in
connection with our adoption of FIN 48.

Contingent liabilities

We estimate the amount of potential exposure we may have with respect to claims, assessments and litigation
in accordance with SFAS No. 5. We are party to pending or threatened legal proceedings covering a wide range of
matters in various jurisdictions. It is not always possible to predict the outcome of litigation, as it is subject to many
uncerainties. Additionally, it is not always possiblc for management to make a meaningful estimate of the potential
loss of range of loss associated with such litigation.

Supplemental cash flow information

Non-cash investing and financing activities are excluded from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, non-cash activities included proceeds from tax-exempl
borrowings, nct of principal payments made directly frem trust funds, of $144 million, $!57 million and
$201 mitlion, respectively.

On December 15, 2005, we declared our first quarterly cash dividend for 2006. The first quarter 2006 dividend
was $0.22 per common share and was paid on March 24, 2006 to stockholders of record on March 6, 2006. As of
December 31, 2005, $122 million had been accrued for this dividend declaralion. As the dividend payments did nox
occur until March 2006 they were excluded from our “Net cash used in financing activities” in our Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2005. This dividend payment was reftecied as “Cash
dividends” in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2006.

4. Landfill and Environmental Remediation Liabilities
Liabilities for landfill 2nd environmemal remediation costs are presented in the table below (in millions):

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Environmental Enviroumental
Landfilk Remediation Tola) Landfil) Remedintion Totad
Current (in accrucd liabilities). ... § 106 sS4 $ 150 § 11 3 M $ 15§
Long-term .................. 1,072 240 1,312 1,010 224 1,234

$1,178 $284 51462 S1.12 ﬂ $1.389
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The changes to landfill and envirenmental remediation liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007 arc as follows (in millions):

Environmental
Landfill Remediation
December 31, 2008 . .. .. .. . i et $1.052 $289
Obligavions incurred and capitalized . . . ... ... ..o 61 -
Obligations settled . , .. ..... ... ... .. .. . ns e e (74) 29
T L I Tl 4+ 12« T 0 9
Revisions in cstimates ..., . e C e e e 14 -—
Acquisitions, divestilures and othtr adjustiments ... .................. __ (@ _m
December 31, 2006 .0 e e e 1,121 268
Obligations incurred and capitalized . . . ............ ... .. ... 54 _
Obligations settled . . .. . . e e e (64) (33)
Interestaceretion .. . .......... . hiiiiin... e e 74 9
RV ONS 1N ESImMalES .. ... ittt e {13) 35
Acquisitions, divestilures and other adjustments . ........ .. ... ... .. __ 6 _3
Decomber 31, 2007 ... ... o 31,178 3284

Our recorded liabilitics as of December 31, 2007 include the impacts of inflating certain of these costs based on
our cxpectations for the timing of cash senlement and of discounting certain of these costs 1o present value.
Anticipated payments of cumently identified environmental remediation lisbilitics for the next five ycars and
thercafier as measured in current dollars are reflected below {in millions):

008 e 2010 1) 2012 Thereaer
$44 $3] $31 3i8 $18 5170

At several of our landfills, we provide financial assurance by depositing cash into restricted truse funds or
escrow accounts for purposes of sculing closure, post-closure and cnvironmental remcediation obligations. The fair
value of these escrow accounts and trusi funds was $23]1 million at December 31, 2007 and $219 million al
December 31, 2006, and is pimarily included as long-term "Other assets” in our Consolidmed Bolance Sheets.
Balances maintained in these restricted trust funds and escrow accounts will fluctuate based on (i) changes in
wialutory requirements; (i) future deposits made to comply with contractual arrangements; (iii) the ongoing use of
funds for qualifying closure, post-closure and environmental remediation activitics: (iv) acquisitions or divestilures
of landfills; and (v) changes in the fair value of the financial instruments held in the trust fund or escrow accounts.
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S. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31 consisted of the following (in millions):

2007 2006
. U $ 598 §$ 528
LandallS. . .o e e 11,549 10,866
VEIE oS - o ettt e e 3,646 367
Machinery and equUIPMERL . . ... ..ot 2929 2,840
OMLATIETS .+ . vt vt n e ne s s n e trnnaaa e et s aa e 2.291 2,272
Buildings and improvements . . .......... et 2,541 2,385
Furniture, fixtures and office €quipment, ... ... v v iinvenen. e 641 610

4,195 B3aMn2
Less sccumulated depreciation on tangible property and equipment .. ....... (7.010)  (6,645)
Less accumulated [andfil] airspace amortization . . .. ... ....v v (5,83d) (5,348)

$11,358 11,179

Depreciation and amertization expense, including amonization expense for assets recorded as capital leases,
was comprised of the following for the yeass ended December 31 (in millions):
2007 006 2008

Depreciation of tangible propenty and equipment . ............. ... $796 5 829 § 847
Amontization of landfill aitspace .. ... ... oo 440 479 483
Depreciation and &MOTZation EXPENSE . . .« vt vvcanronnna $1,236  $),308 $1,330

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assels

We incurred no impairment of goodwill as a resuh of our annval goodwill impairment tests in 2007, 2006 or
2005. Additionally, we did not encounter any events or changes in circumstances that indicated that an impairment
was more likely than not during interim periods in 2007, 2006 or 2005. However, there can be no assurance that
goodwill will not be impaired at any time in the future.

Refer to Note 20 for a summary of changes in our goodwill during 2007 and 2006 by Teportable segment,
Qur other intangible assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were compriscd of the following (in millions):

Customer
Comrcty and ~ Covenants Licenses,
Customer Not-to- Permits
Lists Compele and Otber Towa!
December 31, 2007
Intangible asseds .. ........ oo 3109 $55 $ 60 $224
Less accumulated amontization. ... ........... (52) _(34) _4) {100
3 57 s $ 45 3124
—— _— — t———
December 31, 2006
Intangible assets ... .......iciiaaeen s $97 $ 61 $58 $ 06
Less accumulated amortization. . . ............ (46) _(36) 0% (95
5 51 g $45 $ 121
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Landfill operaiing permits are not prescnted above and arc recognized on & combined basis with other tandfill
asse1s and amonized using our landfill amontization method. Amortization expense for other intangible asseis was
$23 million for 2007, $26 million for 2006 and $3| million for 2005. At December 31, 2007, we had $¢ million of
other intangible assets that are not subject 10 amortization. The intengible assel emortization expense estimated as
of December 31, 2007, for the next five years is as follows (in millions):

2008 w0 200 o1 an
521 1”7 $14 $13 $12

7. Debt and Interest Rate Derivatives

Debdt
The following table summarizes the major components of deix a1 December 31 (in millions):
w0 06
Revolving credit facility (weighted average interest rate of 5.4% a1 December 31,

L1, 7 $ 30 §$ —
Letter of credit facilities . . ... ... .. . o i i e e e e — -—
Canadian ¢vedit facitity (weighted average interest rate of 5.3% at December 31,

2007 and 4.8% at December 31, 2008) ... ... ... i 336 308

Senior notes and debentures, maturing through 2032, interest retes ranging from
5.0% 10 8.75% (weighted average interest rate of 7.09% al December 31, 2007
BN 2000 . .. e e e e e et 4584 4,829

Tax-exempt bonds maturing through 2039, fixed and variable interest rates

ranging from 2.9% to 7.4% (wceighted average interesi rate of 4.4% at

December 31, 2007 and 4.5% at December 31, 2006) ......c it 2,533 2,440
Tax-exempt project bonds, principal payable in periodic installments, maturing

through 2027, fixed and variable interest rates ranging from 3.5% 10 9.3%

(weighted average inlerest rate of 5.3% et December 31, 2007 and 5.4% at

December 3, 2006 . .. ...t i e e 290 s
Capital leases and other, matuning through 20386, interest rates up to 12% ... ... _ %4 388
$8,337 38317

Less CUMTERI POTION . ... i e i e 39 _ 8
38008 §$7.495

Revolving credit facility — On Augusi 17, 2006, WMI eniered into a five-year, $2.4 billion revolving credit
facility, replacing the $2 4 billion syndicated revolving credit facility thal would have expired in October 2009. This
facility provides us with credit capacity 1o be used for either cash bormowings or 10 support lenters of credit. At
December 31, 2007, we had $300 million of outstanding borrowings and 31,437 million of tetters of credit issued
and supporied by the facility. Qur unused and available credit capacity of the fecility was $663 million as of
December 31, 2007. The borrowings outsianding a1 December 31, 2007 mature in the first quarter of 2008. In
January 2008, we repaid $50 million of the outstanding borrowings with available cash. We currenily intend to0
refinance the remaining outstanding borrowings on a long-term basis. Accordingly, $250 million of this outstanding
debt obligation has been reflected as long-tenm in our December 31, 2007 Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Lenter of credit facilities — We have a $350 miltion letter of credit facility that matures in December 2008 and
three letter of credit and term loan agreements for an sggregate of $295 million maturing at various points from
2008 through 2013. These facilities are currently being used to back letters of credit issued 1o support our bonding
and financial assurance needs. Our letters of credit generslly have terms providing for automalic renewal after one
year. In the event of an unreimbursed draw on e keiter of credil, the amount of the draw paid by the letter of credit
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provider generatly converts into a term loan for the remaining term of the respective agreement or facility. Through
December 31, 2007, we had not experienced any unreimbursed draws on leniers of credit.

As of December 31, 2007, no borTowings were oulstanding under our letter of credit facilitics, and we had
unused and available credit capacity of $1 million under the facilities. The fallowing table summarizes our
outstanding letters of credit (in millions) categorized by cach facility outstanding at December 31:

- 206
Letterof credit facility . . .. ... ... i i e 3350 $346
Letter of credit and term loan agreements. ... .. ... oo i i 294 295
L 1 S e e 90 75

$734 716

Canadian Credit Facility — In November 2005, Waste Management of Canada Corporation, one of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a three-year credit facility agreement with an initia) credit capacity of up to
Canadian $410 million. The agreement was entered into to facilitale WMI's repairiziion of accumulated camings
and capital from its Canadian subsidiaries, which is discussed in Notc 8. In December 2007, we amended the
agreement 1o increase the available capacity, which had been reduced to Canadian $305 million due to debi
repayments, to Canadian $340 million, extend the maturity date to November 202 and add an uncommired option
10 increase the capacity by an additiona) Canadian $25 million.

As of December 31, 2007, we hud US $342 million of principal (US $336 million net of discount) oulstanding
under this credit facility. Advances under the facility do not accrue Interest during their terms. Accordingly, the
proceeds we initially received were for the principal amount of the advances net of the 10tal interest obligation due
for the term of the advance. and the debt was initially recorded based on the net proceeds received. The advances
have a weighted average effective interest raie of 5.3% a1 December 31, 2007, which is being amonized to interest
expense with a corresponding increase in our recorded debt obligation using the effective tnterest method. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, we increased the carrying value of the debt for the recognition of $15 million of
tnterest expense. A total of $36 million of advances under the facility matured during 2007 and were repaid with
available cash. Accounting for changes in the Canadian currency translation rote increased the camrying value of
these borrowings by $49 million during 2007.

Our outstanding advances mature less than ane year from the date of issuance, but may be renewed under the
terms of the facility, which matures in November 2012. We currently expect to repay a portion of our bormowings
under the facility with available cash and refinance the remaining borrowings. Accordingly, $281 million of these
borrowings are classified as long-term in our December 31, 2007 Consolidated Balance Sheet based on our intent
and ability to refinance the obligations under the terms of the facility. As of December 31, 2006, we had expected 10
repay our borrowings under the facility within one year with available cash and these borrowings were classified s
current in our December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Shect,

Senior notes — On October 1, 2007, $300 million of 7.125% senior notes matured and were repaid with
available cash. We have $244 million of 8.75% senior notes that become callable by us in May 2008 and
$386 million of 6.5% senior notes that mature in November 2008. We are curtemly evaluating our repayment
options associated with these obligations, but Cumently expect to refinance them on a long-term basis. The
$244 million of callable senior notes are classified as long-ierm os of December 31, 2007 based on the terms of their
scheduled maturity, which is May 201 8. Approximately $310 miltion of our $386 million stnior notes that mature in
November 2008 is classified as long-lerm as of December 31, 2007 based on our intent and ability lo refinance the
obligation on ¢ long-icrm basis.

Tax-exempt bonds — We actively issue tax-exempt bonds as a means of accessing low-cost financing for
capital expenditures. We issued $145 million of 1ax-exempt bonds during 2007. The proceeds from thesc debt
issuances may only be used for the specific purpose for which the moncy was roised, which is generally to finance
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expenditures for landfill construction and development, equipment, vehicles and facilities in support of our
operations. Procecds from bond issues are held in trust until such time as we incur qualified expenditures, at which
time we are reimbursed from the wust funds. We issue both fixed and floating rale obligations. Interest rates on
floating rate bonds are re-sct On a weekly basis and the underlying bonds arc supportcd by lesters of credil. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, $52 million of our 1ax-cxempt bonds matured and were repaid with cither
available cash or debr service funds.

As of December 31, 2007, $192 million of fixed rate tax-exempt bonds are subject to repricing within the pext
twelve months, which is prior 1o their scheduled maturities. If the re-offerings of the bonds are unsuccessful, then
the bonds can be put 10 us, requiring immediale repayment. These bonds are not backed by leniers of credit
supported by our revolving credit facility that would serve 1o guarantee repayment in the eveni of afailed re-offering
and are, therefore, copsidered a current obligation for financial reponing purposes. However, these bonds have been
classified as long-term in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2007, The classification of these
obligations as Jong-term was based upon our intent 10 refinance the borrowings with other long-term financings in
the even! of a failed re-offering and our ability, in the evenl other sources of long-1erm financing arc nor available, 10
use our five-year revolving credin facility.

in addition, as of December 31, 2007, we have $696 million of tax-exempt bonds thar are remarketed either
daily or weekly by a remarketing agent 10 effectively maintain a variable yield. ¥f the remarkelting agent is unable to
remarker the bonds, then the remarketing agent can put the bonds to us. These bonds are supporied by letters of
credit guaranteeing repayment of the bonds in this evemt. We classified these borrowings as long-term in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2007 because the barrowings are supponed by leiters of credit issued
under our five-year revolving credit facility, which is long-term.

Tax-exempt project bonds -~ Tax-exemp! project bonds have been used by our Wheclabrator Group to finance
the developmenm of wasie-1o-encrgy fecilities. These facilitics are integral to the local communitics they serve, and,
as such, are supported by long-term conlrects with multiple municipalities. The bonds generally have periodic
amontizations that are supponed by the cash flow of cach specific facility being financed. During the year ended
December 3), 2007, we repaid $61 million of our tax-cxempt project bonds with either available cash or deb
service funds. As of December 31, 2007, we had $46 million of tax-exempt project bonds that are remarketed either
daily or weekly by a remarketing agent to cffectively mainwain 8 variable yield. If the remarkering agen! is unable 1o
remarket the bonds, then the remarketing agent can put the bonds to us. These bonds arc supported by ietters of
¢redit guaramecing repayment of the bonds in this eveni. We classified these borrowings as long-term in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet a1 December 31, 2007 because the borrowings are supported by letiers of credit issued
under our five-year revolving credit facility, which is long-term.

Capital leases and ather — The decrease in our capital lcases and other debt obligations in 2007 is primarily
related 1o the repaymeni of various borrowings upon their scheduled mamrities.

Scheduled debt and capital lease paymenis — The schedule of anticipated debt and capital lease payments
(including the current portion) for the next five years is presenied below (in millions). Our recorded debi and capital
lease obligations include non-cash adjustments associated with discounts, premiums and fair value adjustments fos
interest rate hedging activities, which have been excluded here because they will not result in cash payments.

2008 200 P10 o pLIH
$1.164 $697 §$715 $250 $576

Secured debt ~— Qur debt balances are geperally upsccured, except for $20t million of the 1ax-cxempt project
bonds outsianding at December 31, 2007 that were issued by cenain subsidiaries within our Wheelabraior Group.
These bonds are secured by the relaied subsidiarics” asscts that have a carying value of $447 miilion and the related
subsidiaries’ furure revepue. Addiionally, our consolidated variable interest entities have $13 million of our-
standing borrowings that are collalcralized by cenain of their assets. These assets have a carrying value of
$271 million as of December 31, 2007. See Note 19 for funther discussion.
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Debt Covenants

Our revolving credit facility and certain other finoncing ogreements contain financial covenants, The most
restrictive of these financial covenants are contained in our revolving credit facility. The following 1able sum-
marizes the requirements of these financial covenants and the results of the calculation, as defined by the revelving
credit facility:

Reguirement
per December 31,  December 31,
Covenant Facility 2007 2006
Interest COverage 1Mo . - . .o oo ot v e > 2750 41101} 36101
Total debt 0 EBITDA . .. ....... ot s <35tel 2410 25101

Our revolving credit facility and scnior notes also contain certain restrictions intended 1o monitor our level of
indebiedness, types of investments and net worth. We monitor our compliance with these restrictions, but do not
beficve that they significantly impact our ability to enter into investing or financing arrangements typical for our
business. As of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with the covenants and restrictions under all of our debt
agrecments.

Interest rate swaps

We manage the interest rote risk of our debi portfolio largely by using interest rate derivatives to achicve 8
desired position of fixed and floating rate debt. As of December 31, 2007, the interest payments on $2.1 billion of
our fixed rate debt have becn swapped 1o variable rates, allowing us 1o mointin approximately 66% of our debi 21
fixed imerest rotes and spproximately 34% of our debt at variable interesi rates. We do not usc interest raie
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. Our significant interest ralc swap agreements that were oulstanding
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are set forth in the table below (dolars in millions):

Falr Volue
Notlonal Net
As of Amount Recelve Poy Muaturity Dowe Liobilityin)
Decemnber 31, 2007, . $2,100 Fixed 5.00%~7.65% Flouting 4.50%-9.09% Through December 15, 2017 $ (28)(b)
December 31, 2006. . $2.3%0 Fixed 5.00%-7.65%  Flonting 5.16%-9.75%  Through December 15, 2017 $(118)(c)

(2) These inlerest rate derivatives qualify for hedge accounting. Therefore. the foir value adjustments to the
underlying deb are deferred and recognized as an adjusiment to interest cxpense over the remaining serm of the
hedged instrumen:.

{b) The fair volue for these interesi rate derivatives is comprised of $5 million of long-ierm assets. $4 million of
current liabilities and $29 million of tong-term liabilities.

(c) The fair valuc for these interest rate derivatives is comprised of $3 million of current liabilities and $115 million
of long-term liabilities.

Fair value hedge accounting for interest rate swap contracts increased the currying volue of debt instruments by
$72 million os of December 31,2007 and $19 million as of December 31,2006, The following table summarizes the
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accumulated fair valuc adjustments from interest rate swap agreements by underlying debt instrument category at
December 31 (in millions):

tncresse (decrease) Ip carrylng vaine of debt due o hedge accounting for Interest rute swaps 2007 2006

Senicr notes and debentures:

ACHVE SWAP ABTEEMENTS .. . .. vt vt o tienennc e rr v nenm vt nr e anaaaaens $(28) s(18)

Terminated swap agreements{a). . . ... ... .o ivn it it i 100 136

n 18

Tax-exempt and project bonds:

Terminated Swap agreements(8). . .. .. .. ..o iutrr it — 1
$712 3 19

(a) AtDecember 31,2007, $33 million (on a pre-tax basis) of the carrying value of debt associated with terminated

swap agreements is scheduled to be reclassified as a credit to interest expense over the next twelve months.
Approximately $37 million (on a pre-tax basis) of the December 31, 2006 balance was reclassificd into eamnings
during 2007.

Interest rate swap agreements increascd net interest expense by $11 miltion and $4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and reduced net interest capense by $39 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The significani decline in the benefit recognized as a result of our interest rate swap agreements
is largely attributable to the increase in short-term magket interest rates, which drive our periodic interest obligations
under these agreements. The significant terms of the interest rate contracts and the underlying debs instruments are
identical and 1therefore np incffectiveness has been realized.

Interest rate locks

In the pasi, we have entered into cash flow hedges to secure underlying interest rates in anticipation of senior
note issuances. Thesc hedging agrecments resulted in a defered loss, net of taxes, of $24 million ot December 31,
2007 and $28 million at December 31, 2006, which is included in “Accumulaled other comprehensive income.” As
of December 31, 2007, 36 million (on a pre-lax basis) is scheduled to be reclassified into interest expense over the
next twelve months.
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8. Income Taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Our provision for (bencfit from) income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

Years Ended December 3,
2007 2006 20058

Current
Federml. . oo e e e e $412 3283 $(80)
Lo 71 - RS 33 55 39
FOMBIGN ..ot e 225 10 n
41 348 @9
Deferred
Federal. .. .ttt et ae e N (14) (63)
BT 1L O RN 3 (14) (22)
77 7] < O I s 5 _24
00y 6
Provision fOr inCOME IAXES . . ... . .vvvnveoe e $540 $325 5090

The U.S. federal statutory income tax rate is reconciled to the effective rate as follows:

Yenars Ended December 31,
2007 2005 005

Income 1ax expense 8t U.S. federal stamtory mate .. ... .. c.onven it 3500% 35.00% 35.00%
Siate and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit. ........ 269 281 3.15
Non-conventional fuel tax credits. . . .. ..o oo i (2.61) (4.57) (12.20)
Taxing authority audit settlements and other tax adjusiments. . ......... (1.22) (934 (33.92)
Nondeductible costs relating 10 acquired intangibles................. L 1.20 0.90
Tax rate differential on foreign income. .. ....... ...t 04 - 1.80
Cumulative effect of change in tax fBIES. ... .. ..o oiie it (1.81) (1.96) (1.18)
OIMET oottt et (14D (1.09) (179
Provision for INCOME AXES. . . .. v v e i rrn e, 31.73% 22.05% (8.24)%

The comparability of our reported income taxes for the reported perinds has been significantly affected by
increases in our income befere income taxes, tax audit senlements and non-conventional fuel 1ax credits, which are
discussed in more detai) below, For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes showing domestic and
foreign sources was as follows (in millions) for the years ended December 31. 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Years Ended December 31,

007 2006 2005
DOmestic .. .ooveieiee i e $1.605 $1.390 § 957
[ 98 84 135
Income before INCOME 1AXES - . ... v cvvve v v enmcancannnas $1,703 $1474 %1092

Other ilems that have significantly affecied the comparability of our income taxes during the reported periods
include (i) various state and Canadian tax rate changes, which have resulied in the revaluation of our defemed 1ax
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balances; (ii) a reduction in the valuation allowance refated to the expected utilization of state net operating loss and
credit carryforwards; and (ifi) the 2005 repatriztion of nct accumulated carnings and capitol from certain of our
Canadian subsidiaries in accordance with the Amenican Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The impacts of these itcms on
our reporied income laxcs and our effective lax ratd arc discussed in more detail below.

Tax audit settlements — The Company end ils subsidiarics file income 1ax retums in the Uniled States and
Pucnio Rico, as well as various state and local jurisdictions and Canada. We are currently under audit by the IRS and
from time 1o time we are audited by other taxing awthonities. Qur audits are in various stages of completion.

During 2007, we setited an IRS audit for the tax years 2004 and 2005 and various state lax audits, resulting in a
reduction in income 1ax expense of $40 million. or $0.08 per diluted share. Qur 2007 nel income alse increased by
$1 million due 1o intercst income recognized from audit setlie ments. During 2006 we completed the IRS audit for
the years 2002 and 2003. The seutement of the [RS audit, as well as other slatc and foreign tax audit matters,
resulted in a reduction in income 1ax expensc (excluding the effects of related interest income) of $149 million, or
$0.27 per diluted share, for 2006. Our 2006 nct income also increased by $14 million, or §9 million net of tax,
principally duc to interest income from audii scttlements. The [RS audits for the tax years 1989 10 2001 were
completed during 2005, resulting in net tax benefits of $398 miltion. or $0.70 per dilutcd share. The reduction in
income taxes recognized as a result of these setilements is pimarily due to the associated reduction in our long-term
accrued tax liabilitics. Qur recorded liabilities nssociated with uncertain 1ax positions are discussed below.

We are currently in the cxamination phase of an IRS audil for the ycars 2006 and 2007, and expect this audit to
be completed within the next 12 months. Audits associated with state and local jurisdictions date back to 1999 and
Canadian examinations date back to 2002.

Non-conventional fuel tax credits — The impact of non-conventional fuel tax credits on our effective lax rate
has been derived from cur investments in two coal-based, synthetic fuet production fucititics and our landfill gas-1o-
energy projects. The fucl gencrated from the facilitics and our landfill gas-to-cnergy projects qualified for 1ax
credits through 2007 under Section 45K of the Intemal Revenue Code.

The 1ax credits are subject to a phase-oul if the price of crude oil exceeds an annual average price threshold
determined by the Intemal Revenue Service. The IRS has not yet published the phase-out percentage that must be
applied to Section 45K tax credits penerated in 2007, Accordingly, we have used market information for il prices (0
estimate that we expect 69% of Section 45K 1ax credils generated in 2007 to be phased-out. The IRS cstablishment
of the final phase-out of Section 45K credits generated during 2007 could further impact the Section 45K tax
benefits we recognized for 2007. Any subscquent adjusiment to the amount of realizabie Section 45K credits will be
reflected in our 2008 Consolidaied Financial Staiements.

As of December 31, 2006, we had estimated that 36% of Section 45K 1ax credits generated during 2006 would
be phased out. On April 4, 2007, the IRS cstablished the final phase-out of Section 45K credits generated during
2006 ar approximaicly 33%. We did not experience any phosc-out of Section 45K 1ax credits in 2005.

Our minority owncrship interests in the facilitics result in the recognition of our pro-rata share of the faciliies’
losses, the amontization of our investments, and additional expense associated with other estimated obligations all
being recorded as “Equity in net losses of unconsolidated cntitics” within our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. We arc required to pay for tax credits bused on the facilitics’ production, regardlcss of whether or
noi a phasc-out of the 1ax credits is anticipated, Amounts paid 10 the facilities for which we donot ultimately realize
a tax benefit arc refundable to us, subject 10 centain limitations.
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The following lable summarizes the impact of our invesiments in the facilities on our Consolidated Statements
of Operations (in millions):

Years Encded December 31,

e e w3
Equity in net Josses of unconsolidated entities{a) . .. .. ...... ... ..oont $42 341 $l2
TOIErESt BXPENSE . . .. o ottt 1 _4 1
Loss before tncome taxes(a) .. ... ..o i e 43 45 19
Benefit from income taxes(a), (b) ....... ... 33 o 145
NEtINCOME(B) . . ..o cv v ii ittt ves e e iimr i s1o sI19 26

(a) The comparison of the impacts of our investments in the facilities during the periods presenied have been
significantly affected by the phasc-out of 69% of Section 45K tax credits in 2007 and 36% in 2006. In addition,
for the year ended December 31, 2006, our “Equity in net losses of unconsolidated entities” was reduced by a
cumulative adjusiment recorded during the second quarter of 2006, which was necessary lo appropriaiely
reflect our life-to-date obligations to fund the costs of operating the facililics and the value of our investment.
We determined that the recognition of the cumulalive adjustment was not material to our financial stalements
presented herein, Equity losses for our estimate of contraciual obligations associsted with the [facilities’
operations and associaled lax benefits were also relatively lower in 2006 due to the suspension of operations of
the facilities from May 2006 10 late Scptember 2006.

(b) The benefit from income taxes atuributable 1o the facilities includes tax credits of $37 million, $47 million and
$99 miltion for the ycars cnded December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The tax credits generated by our landfills are provided by our Renewable Energy Program, under which we
develop, operate and promote the beneficial use of tandfill gas. Qur recorded taxes inctude benefits of $13 million,
$24 miltion, and $34 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, from tax credits
generated by our landfill gas-10-energy projects.

Effective state tax rate change — Our cstimaied effective state tax rate declined during 2006 and 2003,
resulling in a net benefit of $9 million and $16 miilion, respectively, refated to the revaluation of net accumulated
deferred tax liabilities. Our stale estimated effective tax rate did not change in 2007; therefore no revaluation of net
accumulated deferred tax labilities was necessary in the cument reporting period.

Canada siatutory 1ax rate change — During 2007, the Canadian federal government enacted tax rate
reductions, which resulted in a $30 million tax benefit for the revaluation of our deferred tax balances. During
2006, both the Canadian federal government and several provinces enacted tax rate reductions. The reveluation of
our deferred tax balances for these rate changes resulted ina $20 million tax benefit for the year ended December 31,
2006. Additionally, during 2005 a provincial 1ax rate change in Quebec resulted in additional income tax expense of
$4 million. -

Repatriation of earnings in foreign subsidiaries —The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 allowed
U.S. companies to repatriate eamings from their foreign subsidiaries 2t a reduced tax rate during 2005. We
repatriated net accumulated earnings and capital from certain of our Canadian subsidiaries in accordance with this
provision, which were previously accounted for as permanenily reinvested in accordance with APB Opinion No. 23,
Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areas. During 2005, our Chief Executive Officer ard Board of Directors
approved a domestic reinvestment plan under which we repatriaied $496 million of our accumulated foreign
eamings and capital through cash on hand as well as debt borrowings. During 2005, we accrued $34 million in tax
expense for these repatriations. The repatriation of camnings from our Canadian subsidiaries increased our 2005
eflective tax rate by approximately 3.1%, which has been reflected as a companent of the *“Tax rate differential on
foreign income™ line item of the effective Lax rate reconcilialion provided above. During 2006, we repatriated an
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additiona) $12 million of our accumulated foreign earnings resulting in an increase in tax expense of $3 million. No
additional foreign earnings were repatriated during 2007,

At December 31, 2007, remaining unremiticd eamings in foreign operations were approximately $400 million,
which are considered perinanently invested and, therefore, no provision for U.S. income 1axcs has been accrued for
these unremitted earnings.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
The componenls of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 are as follows (in millions):
December 31,
_2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loSs, capital loss and tax credit carryforwards .. ............. $ 178§ 326
Landfil! and environmental remediation ligbilities . . . .. .................. 35 61
Miscellancous and other reserves ... ... . . ien .. e 241 243
Fo 111 Lo, 11 454 630
ValURtiON BlOWANCE . . .. et e e (168) (288)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment . ... ... ... ... i (957) (1,011)
Goodwill and other intangibles . ................ ... oo, (689) (614)
Net deferred tax liabilities. . .. ... vttt rna s $(1,360) §(1,283)

At December 31, 2007 we had $27 million of federal net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards, $2.0 billion of
slatc NOL carryforwards, and $13 million of Canadian NOL carryforwards, The federal and state NOL carryfor-
wards have expiration datcs through the year 2027, The Canadian NOL carryforwands have the following expiry:
$11 million in 2009 and 32 million in 2015. In addition, we have $42 million of state tax credit camryforwards at
December 31. 2007

We have cstablished valuation allowances for uncentainties in realizing the benefit of 1ax loss and credit
carryforwards and other deferred tax asscts. While we expect 10 realize the deferred ax assets, net of the valuation
allowances, changes in estimates of future taxable income or in tax laws may after this cxpectation. The valuation
altowance decreased $120 million in 2007. We realized a $9 million stole tax bencfis due to a reduction in the
valuation allowance related to the expected utilizatlon of staie NOL and credit carryforwards. The remaining
reduction in our valuation allowance was offsct by chanpes in our gross deferred tax assets due to changes in stale
NOL and credil carryforwards and our adoption of FIN 48,

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions

As discussed in Note 2, we adopted FIN 48 and FSP No. 48-1 effective January 1, 2007. As a result of both of
these adoptions, we recognized, as o cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, a $28 million increase in
our liabilitics for unrecognized 1ax benefits, 8 $32 million increase in our nan-current deferred tax asscis and 8
$4 million increase in our beginning retained camings.
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Upon edoption of FIN 48 and FSP No. 48- 1, our income tax liabilities as of January 1, 2007 included a total of

$101 million for unrecognized tax benefits and $16 million of related accrued interest. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, including accrued interest, is as follows (in millions):

Balance atJanuary 1, 2007 .. ... .. $117
Additions bascd on tax positions related to the current year ... 10
Additions related 1o tax positions of prior Years ... ... .. oo i e 4
ACCIUEE IMIETESL . o\ v v vt e v v et e e enc s natasansn st nsatssnsnesosusason 7
Reductions for tax positions of prioryears............ et {1)
L 11011 T (26)
Lapse of statute of limitations .. ............ci i s _®

Balance at December 31,2007 .. ... o it c i e i $l=02

These liabilitics are primarily included as a component of long-term “Other liabilities™ in our Consolidated
Balance Sheet because the Company generally does not anticipate that senlement of the liabilities will require
payment of cash within the next twelve months. As of December 31, 2007, $72 million of unrecognized tax bencefits,
if recognized in future periods, would impact our cffective tax rate.

We recognize interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits in lax expense. During the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 we recognized approximately $7 million, $7 million and $18 million,
respectively, of such intcrest cxpense as & component of our “Provision for (bencefit from) income taxes™ We had
approximately $13 million and $16 million of accrued interest in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We do not have any accrued liabHitics or expense for penaliies related
to unrecognized tax bencfits for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

We anticipate that approximalely $29 million of ligbilities for unrecognized 1ax benefits, including accrued
interest, and $8 miltion of related deferred tax assets may be reversed within the next 12 months, The anticipated
reversals are primarily related 1o state tax items, nonc of which are material, and are expected to result from audit
settlements or the cxpiration of the applicable statute of limitations period.

9. Employee Benefit Plans

Defined contribution plans — Qur Waste Management Retirement Savings Plan covers employees (except
these working subject to coliective bargaining agrecments, which do not provide for coverage under Such plans)
following a 90-day waiting period after hirc. Eligible cmployces may comtribute as much as 25% of their annual
compensation under the Savings Plan. All employee contributions are subject to annual contribution limitations
established by the IRS. Under the Savings Plan, we match, in cash, 100% of employce contributions on the first 3%
of their cligible compensation and match 50% of employee contributions on the next 3% of their cligible
compensation, resulting in a maximum match of 4.5%. Both cmployee and company comtributions vest imme-
diately. Charges to “Operating” and “Selling, general and administrative™ expenses for our defined contribution
plans were $54 million in 2007, $51 million in 2006 and $48 miliion in 2005.

Defined benefis plans — Certain of the Company's subsidiaries sponsor pension plans that cover employees
not covered by the Savings Plan. These employees are members of collective bargaining units. In addition,
Wheelabrator Technologies Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, sponsors a pension plan for its former executives and
former Board members. The combined benefit obligation of these pension plans is $63 million as of December 31,
2007, These plans have approximately $53 million of plan assets as of December 31, 2007.

In addition, Waste Management Holdings, Inc. and ccrtain of its subsidiarics provided post-retirement health
care and other bencfits to eligible employees. In conjunction with our acquisition of WM Holdings in July 1998, we
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limited pasticipation in tbese plans 1o participating retired employees as of December 31, 1998. The unfunded
benefit obligation for these plans was $58 million at December 31, 2007,

Our accrued benefit liabilities for our defined benefit pension and other post-relirement plans arc $68 million
as of December 31, 2007 and are included as a compenenl of “Accrued liabililies™ in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

In addition, certain of our subsidiaries participate in various multi-employer employee benefit and pension
plans covering union employees not covered under other pension plans. These multi-employer plans are generally
defined contribulion plans. Specific benefit le vels provided by union pension plans are not negotiated with or known
by the employer contributors. Additionally, we have one instance of a site-specific plan for employees not covered
under other plans. The projected bencfit obligation, plan assets and unfunded liability of the multi-employer
pension plans and the sile specific plan are not material. Contributions of $33 million in 2007, $37 million in 2006
and $38 million in 2005 were charged (o operations for those subsidiaries’ defined benefit and contribution plans.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Financial instrumenis — We have obtained letiers of credit, performance bonds and insurance policies and
have established trust funds and issued financia! guarantees to support lax-exempt bonds, contracts, performance of
landfill closure and posi-closure requirements, environmental remediation, and other obligations.

Historically, our revolving credil facilities have been used to obtain leuers of credit to support our bonding and
financial assurance needs. We also have letter of credit and term loan agreements and a letter of credit facility that
were established 1o provide us with additional sources of capacity from which we may obtain letters of credit. These
facilities and agreements are discussed further ip Note 7. We obtain surety bonds and insurance polici¢s from wo
entities in which we have a non-controlling financia) interest. We also obtain insurance from a2 wholly-owned
insurance company, the sole business of which is (o issue policies for the parent holding company and its other
subsidiaries, (p secure such performance obligations. In those instances where our use of captive insurance is nOt
allowed, we gencrally have available alternative bonding mechanisms.

Because virtually no claims have been made against the financial instruments we use lo support our
obligations, and considering our current financial position, management does not expect thar any claims against
of draws on these instruments would have a material adverse ¢ffect on our consolidated financial statements, We
have not experienced any unmanageable difficulty in obtaining the required financial assurance instruments for our
cument operations. In an ongoing cffort to mitigate risks of fulure cost increases and reductions in available
capacity, we conlinue to evaluate various options (o access cosi-effective sources of financial assurance.

Insurance — We carry insurance coverage for protection of our assets and operalions from certain nisks
including automobile liability, general liability, real and personal property, workers' compensation, directors’ and
officers* liability, pollution legal liability and other coverages we believe are customary to the industry, Qur
exposure to loss for insurance claims is generally limited to the per incident deductible under the related insurance
policy. Qur exposure, however, could increase if our insurers were unable to meet their commitments on a Limely
basis.

We have retained a significant portion of the risks related lo our automobile, general liability and workers'
compensation insurance programs. For our self-insured retentions, the exposure for unpaid claims and associaled
expenses, including incurred but not reparted losses, is based on an actuarial valuation and internal estimates. The
estimated accruals for these liabilities could be affected if fulure occurrences or Joss development significantly
differ from the assumptions used. As of December 31, 2007, our general liability, workers’ compensation and auto
liabitity insurance programis carry self-insurance exposures of up to $2.5 million, $1.5 million and $1 million per
incident, respectively. Effective lanuary |, 2008, wc increased the per incident deductible of our worker's
compensation insurance program lo $5 million. Self-insurance claims reserves acquired as part of our acquisition
of WM Holdings in July 1998 were discounted at 4.0% at December 3), 2007 and 4,65% at December 31, 2006. The
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changes to our net insurance liabilities for the ycars ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 are summanized below (in

millions):
Gross Clalms  Estimated lnsurance  Net Claims

Liabiity Recoveries(a) Liahitity

Balance, December 31,2004 . . ... ... ... 3 681 $(321) $ 360
Self-insurance expense (benefit) .............. 227 (57 170
Cash {(paid) received . .. .............innn. (248) 67 (181)
Balance, December 31,2005 ... ... ..., 660 (3n 349
Scll-insurance expense (bepefit) .............. 233 31) 202
Cash (paid) received . . ... ... (241) 75 (166)
Balance, December 31,2006 ... ... ... ... ... 652 (267) 385
Self-insurance expense (bepefin) ... ... ... ..., 144 (n 143
Cash (paid) received . ... ... ... ... ... ... (229) 54 (171)
Balance, December 31,2007 .................. $57) $(214) $ 357
Current portion at December 31,2007 . .......... $ 147 $(M) $ 74
Long-term poriion at December 31,2007 ......... $424 3(141) $283

(a) Amounts reportcd as estimated insurance recoverics are related to both paid and unpaid claims fiabilities.

For the 14 months ended January 1, 2000, we insured cenain risks, including auto, general liabifity and
workers’ compensation, with Reliance National Insurance Company, whose parent filed for bankrupicy in June
2001. In October 2001, the parent and certain of its subsidiaries, including Reliance National Insurance Company,
were placed in liquidation. We belicve that because of probable recoveries from the liquidation, currently estimated
1o be $18 million, it is unlikely that cvents relating to Reliance will have a material adverse impact on our financial
Stalements.

We do not expect the impact of any known casualty, property, environmental or other contingency 10 have a
malcrial impact on our financia! condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Operating leases — Rental expense for leased propenties was $135 million, $122 million and $129 million
during 2007, 2006 and 2008, respectively. These amounts primarily include rents under operating leases. Minimum
contraciual payments due during each of the next five years for our operating lease obligations arc noted below (in
millions):

2008 2009 Ll 2 gL

$87 569 $6l 5438 341

Our minimum contrzctual payments for lease agreements during future periods is significantly less than
curtent year cent expensc because our significant lease agreements at landfills have variable tcrms based cither on 2
percentage of revenue OF 8 rate per on of waste received.

Other commitments — We have the following unconditional obligations:

« Share Repurchases — In November 2007, we entered into a plan under SEC Rule 10b5-1 to effect marker
purchases of our common stock during the first quarter of 2008. See Note 14 for additional information
related to this agreement,

= Fuel Supply — We have purchase agreemems expiring 21 various dates through 201} that reguire us to
purchase minimum amounts of waste and conventional fucls ar our independent power production plants.
These fuel supplies are used to produce clectricity for sale 10 electric ulilitics, which is generally subject to
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the terms and conditions of long-term contracts. Our purchase agreements have been establisked based on
the plants' anticipated fuel supply needs to meet the demands of our customers under these long-term
electricity sale contracts. Under our fuel supply take-or-pay contracts, we are gencrally obligaied to pay fora
minimum amount of waste or conventional fuel a1 a siated rate even if such quantitics are not required in our
operations.

Disposal — We have several agreements expiring a1 various dates through 2024 that require us 10 dispose of
& minimum number of tons at third-party disposal facilitics. Under these put-or-pay agrecments, we are
required to pay for the agreed upon minimum volumes regardless of the actual number of tons placed at the
facilities.

Waste Paper — We are party to a wastc paper purchasc agreement that requires us 10 purchase & minimum
number of tons of waste paper. The cost per ton we pay is based on market prices plus the cosi of delivery to
our customers. We currenily expect to fulfill our purchase obligation in 2012,

Royalties — At some of our landfills, we are required o make minimum royally payments 1o the prior land
owners, lessors or host communities where the Jandfills are located. Our obligations cxpire a1 various dates
through 2023. Although we have an obligation 1o make minimum payments, actual payments are based on
per 1on rates for waste received at the landfill and are significanily higher.

* Property — From time to time, we make commitments 10 purchase assets that we cxpect 10 use in our
operations. We are currenily party 10 an agreement 1o purchase a corporate aircrafi to replace an existing
aircraft, the lease for which is expiring in 2010. The agreement requires that we make installment payments
beiween now and delivery, expecied in 2010, based on the 1018} purchase price for the aircrafi.

Our unconditional obligations arc established in the ordinary course of our business and are structured in g
manner thay provides us with access 10 importan! resources at competitive, marker-driven rates. Our actual future
obligations under these outstanding agreements are generally quantity driven, and, as a result, our essociated
financial obligaions are not fined as of December 31, 2007. We currently expect the products and scrvices provided
by these agreements 1o continue 10 meet the needs of our ongoing operations. Therefore, we do not expect these
cstablished arrangements to materially impact our future financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Guarantzes — We have cnicred into the following guaraniee agreements associaled with our operations:

* As of December 31, 2007, WM Holdings has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of WMI's senior
indebiedness, which matures through 2032, WMI has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the senior
indebtedness of WM Holdings, which matures through 2026. Performance under these guaranice agree-
ments would be required if cither party defaulted on their respective cbligations. No additional liabilities
have been recorded for these guarantees because the underlying obligations are reflected in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. See Note 22 for further information.

« WMI and WM Holdings have guaranteed the tax-cxempt bonds and other debt obligations of their
subsidiarics. If a subsidiary fails 10 meet its obligations associated with its debt agreements as they come
duc, WMI or WM Holdings will be required to perform under the related guarantee agreement. No
additional liabilitics have been recorded for these guarantees because the underdying obligations are

| reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 7 for information related to the balances and

| maturitics of cur tax-exempi bonds.

* We have guaranteed contain financial obligations of unconsolidared cntities. The related obligations, which
mature through 2020, are not recorded on our Consolidaled Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2007, our
maximum future payments associated with these guarantees are approaimaiely $12 million. We do not

' betieve that it is likely that we will be required to perform under these guarantees.
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* WM Holdings has guaranteed all seimbursement obligations of WMI under its $350 million letter of credit
facility and $295 million !ener of credit and 1erm loan agreements. Under thosc facilities, WMI must
reimburse the catities funding the facilities for any draw on a tetter of credit supported by the facilities. As of
December 31, 2007, we had $644 million in outstanding leners of credit under these facilities.

-

In connection with the $350 million lenter of credit facility, WMI and WM Holdings guarantced the interest
ralc swaps enlered inlo by the entity funding the letter of credit facility. The probability of loss for the
guarsnices was determined to be remote and the fair value of the guarantees is immaterial 1o our financial
position and results of operations.

Certain of our subsidiaries have guaranteed the markel value of cenain homeowners” propenties that are
adjacent 10 certain of our landfills. These guaraniee agreements extend over the life of the respective landfill.
Under these agreements, we would be responsible for the difference between the sale valuc and the
guaranieed market value of the homeowners' propertics, if any. Generally, it is not possible to determine the
contingent obligation associaled with thesc guaranices, but we do not believe that these contingent
obligations will have 2 material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

-

We have indemnified the purchasers of businesses or divested assets for the occurrence of specified evenls
under cenain of our divestiture agreements. Other than cenain identified items that are currenily recorded as
obligations, we do not believe that it is possible to determine the contingent obligations associaled with these
indemnitics, Additionally, under certain of our acquisition agreements, we have provided for additional
consideration 1o be paid to the sellcrs if csiablished financial targets are achieved posi-closing. The costs
associated with any additional consideration requirements are accounted for as incurred.

« WM} and WM Holdings guarantee the service, lease, financial and general operating obligations of centain
of their subsidiaries. If such a subsidiary fails 1o meet its contractual obligations as they come due, the
guarantor has an unconditional obligation to perform on its behalf. No additional liability has been recorded
for service, Financial or gencral operating guarantees because the substdiaries’ obligations are properly
accounted for as costs of operations as services are provided or generel operating obligaions as incurred. No
sdditional liability has been recorded for the lcase guarantees becnuse the subsidiaries’ obligalions are
properly accounted for os operating or capital leases, as appropriate.

We currently do not believe il is reasonably likely that we would be called upon to perform under these
guarantees and do not belicve that any of the obligations would have  material effect on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Environmental marters — Qur business is intrinsically connected with the protection of the environment. As
such, a significant portion of our operating costs and capital expenditures could be characterized as costs of
environmental protection. Such costs may increase in the future as a result of Iegislation or regulation. However, we
generally do not belicve that increases in environmental regulation negatively affect our business, because such
regulations increase the demand for our services, and we have the resources and experience 10 manage cnviron-
memal risk.

We are subject to an array of laws and regulations relating lo the protection of the environment. Under current
Jaws and regulations, we may have Jiabilities for environmental damage caused by operations, or for damage caused
by conditions tha existed before we acquired a site. Such liabilitics include potentially responsible party , or PRP.
investigations, settlements, cenain legal and consullant fees, as well as cosis directly associated with sile
invesligation and clean up, such as malcrials and incremental inlemal costs directly related to the remedy.

Estimating our degree of responsibility for remediation of a particular site is inheremly difficult and
determining the method and whimaie cost of remediaton requires that a number of assumptions be made. Qur
ultimate responsibilily may differ materially from current estimates. It is possible that technological, regulatory or
enforcement developments, the results of environmental studics, the inability to identify other PRPs, the Inabilliy of
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other PRPs to contribute 1o the scttlements of such Yabilities, or other factors could require us to record additional
linbilities that could be material. There can sometimes be & range of reasonable estimates of the costs associated
with the likely remedy of & site. In these cases, we use the amoum within the range thal conslilutes our best cstimate.
If no amount within the range appears to be a betier cstimate than any other, we use the amounts that arc the low cnds
of such ranges in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and its intcrpretations. If we used the
high ends of such ranges, our aggregate potential liability would be approximately $190 million higher than the
$284 million fecorded in the Consolidated Financial Sistements os of December 31, 2007. Our ongoing review of
our remediation liabalitics could result in revisions that could cause upward or downward adjustments to income
from opcrations, These adjustments could also be material in any given period.

As of December 31, 2007, we had been notified that we are 2 PRP in conneciion with 75 locations listed on the
EPA’s National Prioritics List , or NPL. Of the 75 sites at which claims have been made against us, 16 are sites we
own. Each of the NPL sites we own were initially developed by others as landfill disposal facilities, At each of these
facilities, we are working in conjunction with the government to characicrize or remediate idenlificd site problems,
and we have cither agreed with other legally liable partics on an arrangement for sharing the costs of remediation or
are purswing resolution of an allocation formula. We generally cxpect to receive any amounts due from these parties
ot or ncar the time that we make the remedial expenditures. The other 59 NPL siles, which we do not gwn, are &1
various procedural stages under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended, known as CERCLA or Superfund.

‘The majority of these procecdings involve allegations that certain of our subsidiaries (or their predecessors)
transported hazardous substances to the sites, often prior to our acquisition of these subsidiaries. CERCLA
generally provides for liability for those partics owning, operating, transporting to or disposing at the sites.
Proceedings arising under Superfund typically involve numerous waste generators and other waste transportation
and disposa) companies and seck 10 allocale or recaver cosls associated with site investigation and remediation,
which costs could be substantial and could have a maicria} adverse cffect on our conselidated financial statements,
Al some of the sitcs al which we have been identificd as a PRP, our liability is well defined as a consequence of a
governmental decision and an agreement among liable panies as to the share cach will pay for implementing that
remedy. A1 other sites, where no remedy has been selecied or the liable parties have been unable to agree on an
oppropriate allocation, our future costs are uncertain. Any of hese matiers potentially could have a material adverse
cffect on our consolidated financial siatements.

For more information regarding commitments and contingencics with respect 1o environmental maticrs, see
Note 3.

Litigarion — In December 1999, en individual brought an action against WMI, five former officers of
WM Holdings, and WM Holdings® former independent auditor, Arthur Andersen LLP, in Wlinois sate court on
behalf of a proposed class of individuals who purchased WM Holdings commen stock before November 3, 1994,
and who held that stock through February 24, 1998. The action is for alleged acts of common law fraud, ncgligence
and breach of fiduciury duty. This casc has been dormant for some time, and based on U.S. Supreme Count
decisions, the Company belicves this casc will not proceed as a class action, thereby ending the litigation,

in April 2002, a former participant in WM Holdings’ ERISA plans and another individual filed a lawsuit in
Washington, D.C. against WM, WM Holdings and others, antempting to increase the recovery of a class of ERISA
plan participants based on allegations relaicd to both the events alleged in, and the settlements relating 1o, the
securities class action against WM Holdings that was settled in 1998 and the sccurities class action against us that
was settled in November 2001. Subsequently, the issucs related to the tatter class action have becn dropped as to
WM), its officers and directors. The casc is ongoing with respect to WM Holdings and others, and WM Holdings
intends 10 defend itselfl vigorously.

There arc two scparatc wage and howr lawsuits pending against us in California, cach sccking class
certification. Bolh actions make the same general allegations that the defendants failed to comply with certain
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California wage and hour laws, including allegedly failing 10 provide meal and rest periods, and failing 10 properly
pay hourly and overtime wages. We deny the plaintifTs’ claims and intend to vigorously defend these malters. As the
litigation is in the carly stages of the legal process, and given the inherent uncertninties of litigation, the ultimate
outcome cannot be predicied ai this time, nor can the amount of any potential loss be reasonably estimated.

From 1ime 10 time, we pay [ines or penaliies in cnvironmenial proceedings retating primarily to waste
treatment, storage or disposal facilities. As of December 31, 2007, there were four proceedings involving our
subsidiaries where we reasonably belicve that the sanctions could equal or exceed $100,000. The matiers involve
allegations thar subsidiaries (i) failed 10 comply with leachaie siorage requirements at an operating landfill;
(i3} viotared federal air regulations ar an operating landfil); (iii) failed to meet reporting requirements under federul
air regulations a1 an operating landfill; and (iv) violated Nariona) Pollytam Discharge Elimination Sysiem permit
condiions at an operating landfill. We do nox believe that the fines or other penalties in any of these matters will,
individually or in the aggregaic, have a marerial adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

From time 1o time, we also are named as defendants in personal injury and property damage lawsuits, including
purported class actions, on the basis of having owned, operated or Lransported waste 1o a disposal facility that is
alteged 10 have contaminated the environment Or, in ceriain cases, on the basis of having conducied environmental
remediation activities at sites. Some of the lawsuits may scek 10 have us pay the costs of monitoring of allegedly
affecied sites and healih care examinations of allegedly affected persons for 8 subsiantial period of time even where
no actual damage s proven. While we believe we have meritorious defenses 1o these lawsuils, the ullimate
resolution is often substamially uncertain due to1he difficulty of determining the cause, extent and impact of alleged
contamination (which may have occumed over a long period of time), the potential for successive groups of
complainants 1o emerge. the diversity of the individual plaintiffs’ circumstances, and the potential contribution or
indemnification obligations of co-defendants or other third pasties, among other factors. Accordingly, it is possible
such matters could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial siaicments.

As a large company wilh operations across the United Siates and Canada, we arc subject 10 various
proceedings, lawsuits, dispules and claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. Many of these actions
raise complex faciual and legal issues and are subject to uncenainties. Actions filed against us include commenrvial,
customer, and employment related claims, including purported class action lawsuils related 1o our customer service
agreements and purporied class actions involving federal and siate wage and hour and other laws. The plaintiffs in
some aclions seek unspecified damages or injunctive relicf, or both. These actions arc in various procedursi stages,
and some are covered in pant by insurance. We currently do not believe thal any such actions will ultimately have a
material adverse impact on our consolidated financial statemenis.

WMI's charter and bylaws currently require indemnification of its officers and directors if stattory standards
of conduct have been mer and allow the advancement of expenscs 10 these individuals upon receipt of an
undenaking by the individuals to repay all expenses if it is ullimately determined thay they did not meet the required
standards of conduct. Additionally, WM has entered into scparate indemnificalion agreements with each of the
members of its Board of Directors as well as its Chicf Executive Officer, its President and its Chief Financial
Officer. The charter and bylaw documents of certain of WMJ's subsidiaries, including WM Holdings, also include
similar indemnification provisions, and some subsidiarics, tncluding WM Holdings, emered into scparate indem-
nification agreements with their officers and direciors prior to our acquisition of them that provide for cven greater
rights and protections for the individuals than WMI's charter and bylaws. A company’s obligations to indemnify
and advance expenses are determined based on the governing documents in effect and the status of the individual a1
the time the actions giving rise to the claim occurred. As a result, we may have obligations 10 individuals after they
leave the Company, 10 individuals thal were associated with companies prior 10 our acquisition of them and to
individunls that are or were employees of the Company, but who were neither an officer or a dircetor, even though
the curreni documenis only require indemnification and advancement to officers and dircctors. The Compuny may
incur substantial expenses in connection with the fulfillment of its advancement of costs and indcmnification

9




WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

obligations in connection with current ections involving former officers of the Company or its subsidiaries or other
actions or procecdings that may be brought against its former or curvent officers, directors and employees.

Tax marters — We arc currently under audit by the IRS and from time 10 time are audiled by other taxing
authorities. We fully cooperate with all audits, but defend our positions vigorously. Qur audits are in various stages
of completion. We have concluded several audits in the last two years. During the second quaster of 2006, we
concluded the IRS audit for the years 2002 and 2003, In the firsi quarter of 2007, we concluded the [RS audit forthe
years 2004 and 2005. The current period financial statement impact of concluding various audits is discussed in
Noie 8, In addition, we are currently in the examination phase of an IRS audii for the years 2006 and 2007. We
expect this sudit to be completed withinthe next 12 months. Audits associated with state and local jurisdictions date
back to 1999 and examinations associated with Canada date back to 2002. To provide for cenain potential tax
exposures, we maintain a liability for unrecognized tax benefits, the balance of which management belicves is
adequate. For additional information rclated to our liability for unrecognized tax benefits refer 10 Note 8. Results of
audit assessments by taxing authorities could have a material effect on our quarterly or annual cash flows as audits
arc completed, although we do not believe that current tax audil matters will have 2 material adverse impact on our
results of operations.

Asdiscussed in Note 7, we have approximately $2.8 billion of tax-exempt financings as of December 31, 2007,
Tax-exempt financings are structured pursuan! {o centain terms and conditions of the Iniemal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code™), which exempts from taxation the intercst income camed by the bondholders in the
transzclions. The requirements of the Code can be complex, and failure 1o comply with these requirements could
cauSc certain past interest payments made on the bonds to be 1axable and could cause cither outstanding principal
amounis on the bonds to be accelerated or future interest payments on the bonds 10 be waxable. Some of the
Company’s tax-cxemp financings have been, or currently are, the subject of examinations by the IRS to detcrmine
whether the financings mecet the requirements of the Code and applicable regulations. It is possible that an adverse
determination by the IRS could have a material adverse effect on the Company's cash flows and results of
operations,

Unclgimed property audils — State escheal laws generally require entities to report and remit abandoned and
unclaimed property including unclaimed wages, vendor payments and customer refunds. Failure to timely repon
and remit the propenty can result in assessments that include substantial interest and penaliies, in eddition to the
payment of the escheat liability itself. During 2007, alt ongoing unclaimed propenty audits have been concluded,
and we have satisfied all resulting financial obligations. As a result of the conclusion of these audits, we recognized
a $5 million charge, including $2 million of “'Sclling, general and administrative” expenses and $3 million of
“Interest expense,” in 2007. During 2006, we submitted unclaimed property filings with all of the states except those
where we were under eudit, and, as a result of our findings, we determined that we had estimated unrecorded
obligations associated with unclaimed property for escheatable items for various periods between 1980 and 2004.
Ouvr “Selling, general and administrative” expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 included a charge of
approximatcly $20 million to fully record our estimated obligations for unclaimed propenty. During 2006, we also
recognized $1 miilion of estimated interest obligations associated with our findings, which has been included in
“Interest expense” in our Consolidated Siatement of Operations. We have delermined that the impact of these
adjustmems is not material Lo current or prior perieds’ results of operations. Although we cannot currently estimate
the potentia) financial impacts that our previous voluntary compliance filings may have, we do not expect any
resulting obligations to have a material adverse cffect on our consolidated results of operations or cash flows.

1[. Restructurlng

2007 Restructuring and Realignment — In the first quarter of 2007, we restructured certain operations and
functions, resulting in the recognition of a charge of approximately $9 mitlion. We incurred an additional $1 million
of cosis for this restructuring during the second quarter of 2007, increasing the costs incurred to date to $10 million.
Approximately $7 million of our restructuring costs was incurred by our Corporate organization, $2 million was
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incurred by our Midwest Group and $1 million was incurred by our Westen Group. These charges included
approaimately $8 million for ¢employee severance and benefit cosis and approximately $2 million related 10
operating |ease agreements,

Through December 31, 2007. we had paid approximately $6 million of the employee severance and benefit
costs incurred as a result of this restructuring. The length of time we are obligated (o make severance payments
varies, with the longest obligation continuing through the first quarter of 2009.

2005 Restructuring and Workforce Reduction — During the third quarter of 2005, we reorganized and
simplified our management structere by reducing our Group and corporate office staffing levels. This reorgani-
zation increased the accountability and responsibility of our Market Areas and allowed us 1o sireamline business
decisions and to reduce costs at the Group and Corporate offices. Additionally, as part of our restructuring, the
responsibility for the management of our Canadian operations was assumed by our Eastemn, Midwest and Western
Groups, thus eliminating the Canadian Group. Sce discussion at Note 20.

The reorganization eliminated about 600 employee positions throughout the Company. ln 2005, we recorded
$28 million for costs associated with the implementation of the new structure. These charges included $25 million
for employee severance and benefit costs, $1 million related to abandoned operating lease agreements and
$2 million related 10 consuliing fees incurred to align our sales strategy to our changes in both resources and
leadership that resulted from the reorganization.

Through December 31, 3007, an employee severance and benefit costs incurred asa resuli of this restructuring
have becn paid. Approximately $1 million, $6 million and $18 million of these payments were made during 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The length of time we were obligated 10 make severance payments varied, with the
longest obligation cnding in the third quarter of 2007,

The following table summarizes the total costs recorded for this resiructuring by our current repontable
segments (in millions):

ot + VAU A AN NS P PP $3
MBS . o . oot ettt e e e e e 3
Southern .......... it e e e 3
R L= T T L 5
W A BIOr . .. o o —_
WMRA ...... e e et et b . k)
L0t Y T T R n
1 R R $28

12. (Income) Expense from Divestitures, Asset Impairments and Unusual Items

The following table summarizes the major components of “(Income) expense from divestitures, asset
impairments and unusual items” for the year ended December 31 for the respective periods (in millions):

Yeary Ended
December 31,
2001 2006 03
(Income) expense from divestitures (including held-for-sale impairments). ... $(59) $@26) $(79)
Impairments of assets held-for-use ., ... e 12 24 16
OMRT . . e et e e e e = i __3_1.

) $25 368
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{Income} expense from divestitures fincluding held-for-sale impairments} — The net gains from divestitures in
alt three years were a resull of our {fix-or-seek exit initiative, and 2005 also included a $39 million gain from the
divestiture of a landfil) in Canada as a result of & Divestiture Order by the Competition Bureau. Gains recognized
from divestitures in 2006 were pantially offset by the recognition of aggregate impairment charges of $18 million for
operations held for sale us required by SFAS No. 144, Accounring for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assels.

Impairmernis of assets held-for-use - During 2007, we recognized $12 million in impairment charges due to
impairments recognized for two landfills in our Southern Group. The impairmenls were necessary as a result of the
re-cvaluation of our busincss aliernatives for one [andfill and the expiration of a contrect that we had expected
would be renewed thal had significantly contributed 1o the volumes for the second landfill,

The $24 million of impairment charges recognized during 2006 was primasily related to the impairment of a
landfill in our Eastern Group as a result of a change in our expectations for future expansions and the impairment of
under-performing operations in our WMRA Group.

During the second quarter of 2005, our Eastern Group recorded a $35 million charge for the impairment of the
Pottstown Landfill in Pennsylvania, We determined that the impairment was necessary afier the denial of a permit
application for a vertical expansion at the landfill was upheld and we decided not 1o pursue an appeal of that
decision. In addition, during 2005 we recorded $68 million in impaimment charges associaled with capitalized
software, driven by a $59 million charge for revenue management system software that had previously been under
development. The remaining impairment charges recognized in 2005 were largely related to the impairment of a
tandfill in ovr Eastern Group as a result of a change in our expectations for future expansions.

Other — In both 2006 and 2005 we recognized charges associated with the icrmination of legal matters related
10 issues thal arose in 2000 and earlier. In 2006, we recognized & $26 million charge for the impact of an arbitration
ruling against us related to the tenmination of a joint venture relationship in 2000, In 2005, we recognized a
$16 million charge for the impact of a senlement reached with a group of siockholders that had opted not to
participate in the settlement of the securities class action lawsuit against us refated to 1998 and 1999 activity and a
$27 million charge to setle our ongoing defense costs associnted with possible indemnity obligations to former
offtcers of WM Holdings related to the litigation brought against them by the SEC. The 2005 charges were partially
offset by the recognition of a net benefit of $12 million, primarily for adjustments to receivables and ¢stimated
obligations for non-solid waste operations that had been sold in 1999 and 2000.

I3. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income were as follows (in millions):

December 31,
007 2006 1005

Accumulated unrealized loss on derivalive instruments, net of a lax benefi

of $13 for 2007, $21 for 2006, and $17 for 2005 .. ................. 5200 533 327
Accumulated unrealized gein on marketable securities, nct of taxes of §3 for
2007, 36 for 2006 and $3for 2005. ... ... ... ... 5 10 b
Cumulative transiation adjustment of foreign currency slatements . .. ...... 240 i3t 148
Underfunded posi-reticement benefit obligations, net of 1axes of $0 for 2007
and 33 For 2006, .. .. .. .o e 1 —
$229 35129 3126
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14. Capital Stock, Share Repurchases and Dividends
Capital stock

As of December 31, 2007, we have 500.1 million shares of common siock issued and outsianding. We have
1.5 billion shares of authorized common stock with a par value of $0.01 per common share. The Board of Direclors
is authorized (o issue preferred stock in serics, and with respeci to cach Series, to fix its designation, relative rights
(including voting, dividend, conversion, sinking fund, and redemption rights), preferences (including dividends and
liquidation) and limitations. We have ten million shares of authorized preferred stock, $0.01 par value, none of
which is currently ouistanding.

Share repurchases

In 2004, our Board of Directors approved a capital allocation plan that allowed for up to $1.2 billion in annual
share repurchases, and dividend payments, for each of 2005, 2006 and 2007. In June 2006, our Board of Direciors
approved up to $350 million of additional sharc repurchases for 2006, increasing the maximum amount of capital to
be allocated to our share repurchases and dividend payments for 2006 10 $1.55 billion. In March 2007, our Board of
Directors approved up to $600 million of additional share repurchases for 2007 and in November 2007 our Board of
Dircctors approved up to $300 million of additional share repurchases, which is not limited 10 any calendar year. As
a resull, the maximum amount of capital 10 be allocaied 1o our share repurchases and dividend payments in 2007
was $2.1 billion. All share repurchases in 2005, 2006 and 2007 have been made pursuant to these Board authorized
capilal allocation plans.

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a new capital silocation program that includes the
authorization for up to $1.4 billion in combined cash dividends and common stock repurchases in 2008.
Approximately $184 million of the November 2007 additional authorization of $300 million remaincd available
for repurchases at year-cnd. As a result, the maximum amount of capital to be allocated to our share repurchases and
dividend payments in 2008 is approximately $1,584 million.

The following is a summary of activity under our stock repurchase programs for cach year presented:
Years Ended December 31.

2007 2006 2008
Shares repurchased (in thousands) ... ... .... 39.946 30965 24,727
Per sharc purchase price ..., .....ouen--. $33.00-$40.13  $3223-338.49  $27.01-530.67
Total repurchases (in millions) .. .. .......... $1.421 $1.072 $706

Our 2006 share repurchase activily includes $29) million paid to repurchase our common stock through an
accelerated share repurchase transaction. The number of shares we repurchased under the accelerated repurchase
transaction was delermined by dividing $275 million by the fair market value of our common stock on the
repurchase date. At the end of the valuation period, which was in February 2006, we were required 10 make a
settlement payment for the difference between the $275 million paid at the inception of the valuation period and the
weighicd average daily market price of our common stock during the valuation period times the number of shares
we repurchased, or $16 miltion. We ¢lected to make the required senlement payment in cash,

In November 2007, we entered into a plan under SEC Rule 10b5-1 10 effect market purchascs of our common
stock in 2008. These common stock repurchases were made in accordance with our Board approved capilal
allocation program. We repurchased $175 million of our common stock pursuant to the plan, which was compleied
on February 7, 2008.

Future share repurchases will be made within the Jimits approved by our Board of Directors at the discretion of
management, and witl depend on factors similar 10 those considcred by 1he Board in making dividend declarations.
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Dividends

Our quarterly dividends have been declared by our Board of Directors and paid in accordance with the capital
allocation programs discussed above. The following is & summary of dividends declared and paid each year:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Cash dividends per commeon share:

Declared{B). ... ...t i e e e 096 3066 3$1.02

2 $096 $0.88 $0.80
Total cash dividends (in millions):

Declared(@). . ..o e e e e e $495 $355 3571

Paid . . e e e $495 $476 $449

(a) In 2005, the cash dividend declared amounts included the Board of Directors’ declaretion of the first quanerdy
dividend for 2006 of $0.22 per share, or $122 million.

In December 2007, we announced that our Board of Directors expects 1o increase the per share quarterly
dividend from $0.24 1o $0.27 for dividends declarcd in 2008. However, all future dividend declarations are at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, and depend on various factors, including our nel eamings, financial condition,
cash required for future business plans and other factors the Board may deem relevant.

15. Stock-Based Compensation
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan under which employces that have been employed for at leasi
30 days may purchase shares of our commen stock at a discount. The plan provides for two offering periods for
purchases: January through Jung and July through December. At the end of each offering period, employees are able
to purchase shares of common stock at a price equal 10 85% of the tesser of the market value of the stock on the first
or last day of such offcring period. The purchases are made through payroll deductions, and the number of shares
that may be purchased is limited by IRS regulations. The total number of shares issued under the plan for the
offering periods in each of 2007, 2006 and 2005 was approximately 713,000, 644,060, and 675,000, rcspectively.
Inctuding the impact of the January 2008 issuance of shares associated with the July to December 2007 offering
peried, approximately 1.3 million shares remain available for issuance under the plan.

Our Employee Slock Purchase Plan is “compensatory” under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Accordingly,
beginning with cur adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January §, 2006 we recognize compensation expense
associated with cur employees’ panicipation in the Stock Purchase Plan. Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan
increased annual compensation expense by approximately $5 million, or $3 million net of tax for both 2007 and
2(“. +

Employce Stock Incentive Plans

Pursuant to our stock incentive plan, we have the ability to issue stock options, stock awards and slock
appreciation rights, all on terms and conditions determined by the Management Development and Compensation
Committee of out Board of Directors.

As of January 1, 2004, we had Iwo plans under which we granted stock options and restricied siock awards: the
2000 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2000 Broad-Based Plan. These two plans allowed for grants of stock options,
appreciation rights and stock awards to key employees, except grants under the 2000 Broad-Based Plan could not be
made 0 any executive officer. All of the options granted under these plans had exercise prices equal to the fair
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market value as of the date of the grant, expired no later than ten years from the date of grani and vested ratably over
a four or five-year period.

Since May 2004, all stock-based compensation awards described herein have been made under the Company's
2004 Stock Incentive Plan, which authorizes the issuance of a maximum of 34 million shares of our commeon siock.
Upon adeption by the Management Development and Compensation Commitee of the Board of Directors and the
approval by the stockhalders of the 2004 Stock Encentive Plan at the 2004 Annual Meeting of stockholders, all of the
Company's other siock-based incentive plaps were terminated, with the exception of the 2000 Brogd-Based
Employec Plan. The Broad-Based Employee Plan was nol required to be approved by stockholders, as no executive
officers of the Company may receive any grants under the plan. However, only approximately 100,000 shares
remain available for issuance under that plan. We currenily wiilize treasury shares 10 meet the needs of our equily-
based compensation programs under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and 1o settle outslanding awards granted
pursuant 10 previous incentive plans,

As a resull of both the changes in accounting required by SFAS No. 123(R) for share-based payments and a
desire 1o design our long-term incentive plans in a manner thal creates a stronger link (0 operaling and market
performance, the Management Development and Compensation Committee approved a substantial change in the
form of awards that we grant, As discussed above, through December 31, 2004, stock oplion awards were the
primary form of equity-based compensation. Beginning in 2005, annual stock option grants were eliminated and,
for key members of our management and operalions personnel, replaced with grants of resiricied stock unils and
performance share units. Stock option grants in connection with new hires and promotions were replaced with
grants of restricied stock units.

Restricted stock units — During the year ended December 31, 2007, we granted approximately 324,000
restricted stock units. Restricted siock units provide award recipients with dividend cquivalents during the vesting
period, but the unils may not be voied or sold untit time-based vesting restrictions have lapsed. Restricted stock units
granicd prior 10 2007 vest raiably over a four-year period. In 2007, the Management Development and Compen-
sation Commiltee changed the terms of the restricted stock units granted to provide for three-year cliff vesting.
Unvested units are subject to forfeiture in the event of voluntary or for-cause termination. Restricted stock unils
granted in 2007 are subject 1o pro-raia vesting upon an employee’s relirement Or involuntary termination other than
for cause and become immediately vested in the event of an employee’s death or disability.

Compensation expense associaled with restricted s1ock units is measured based on the grant-date fair value of
our common stock and is recognized on a swraight-line basis over the required employment period, which is
generally the vesting period. Compensation expense is only recognized for those awards that we expect 1o vesl,
which we eslimate based upon an assessment of cumrent period and historical forfeitures.

A summary of our restricted stock units is presented in the lable below (units in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2003

Weighted Welghted Weighted
Averoge Average Average

Fair Falr Palr

Units Value Units Yalue Units Yalue
Unvested, Beginning of year. ... ... ... 1279 $30.63 767 32904 80  525.60
Granted ... ...ociiiii e 329 53728 755 33182 762 52897
Vested(@) . ... vvv e (376) §37.30 (214)  $29.11 (7 s89
Forfeited .................0ovuhts (103) $31.63 (29) 53085  (68) $28.97
Unvested, End of year .............. 1124 $3271 1,279  $30.63 ;6; 529.04
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{a) The total fair market value of the shares issued upon the vesting of restricted stock units during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 wese $14 miltion and $7 million, respectively. This amount was rot materia) in
2005.

Performance share units — During the year ended December 31, 2007, we granted approximately 907,000
performance share units. The performance share units ore payable in shares of common stock based on the
achievement of certain financial measures, afier the end of a three-year performance period. At the end of the three-
year period, the number of shares awarded can range from 0% 1o 200% of the targeted amount. Performance share
units have no voling rights and performance share units granted prior 10 2007 received no dividend equivalents
during the required performance peried. Beginning in 20077, dividend equivalents are paid oul in cash based on
actua) performance at the end of the awards' performance period. These performance share units are payable to an
employee {or his beneficiary) upon death or disability as if that employee had remained employed until the end of
the performance period, subject 10 pro-rata vesting upon an employee's retirement or involuniary iermination other
than for cause and subject to forfeiture in the event of voluntary or for-cause termination,

Compensalion expense associated with performance share unils that continue to vest based on future
performance is measured based on the grant-dare fair value of our common stock, net of the present value of
expected dividend payments on our common stock during the vesting period, Compensation eapense is recognized
ratably over the performance period based on our estimated achievement of the established performance criteria.
Compensalion cxpense is only recognized for those awards that we expect to vesl, which we estimare based vpon an
assessment of both the probability that the performance criteria will be achieved and current period and historical
forfeitures.

A summary of our performance share units is presented in the table below (units in thousands):

Years Ended December 3,
007 2006 21005

Weighted Weighted Welghted
Average Average Averape

Falr Fuir Folr

Units Value Unlts Value Units Value
Unvested, Beginning of year, ... .. ... 1,391 $29.52 693  327.05 — N/A
Granied .. - oo e e 907 $37.28 724 $3193 760  $27.05
Vested(a) .. ...... e (53) $27.05 _— N/A —_ N/A
Forfeited . ... iviiiinns { 111y $32.86 (26) $30.80 (67) $21.05
Unvested. Endof year .............. 2,134 83272 1391 $2952 693  $27.0§

(a) The Company's performance exceeded the target performance level established for the awards that vested in
2007. Accordingly, we issued approximaiely 65,000 shares with a fair market valuc of $2 million upon the
vesting of these awards,

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we recognized $31 million and $2¢ million, respectively, of
compensation £xpense associated with restricted stock unil and performance share unit awards as a component of
“Selling, generul and adiministrative™ expenses in our Consotidated Statement of Operations. Our “Provision for
(benefit from) income taxes™ for the yeass ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 include a related deferred income tax
benefit of $12 million and 38 million, respectively. We have not capitalized any equity-based compensation costs
during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. As of December 31, 2007, we estimate that a total of
approximately $50 million of currently unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized in future periods for
unvested restricred stock unit and performance share unit awards issued and outstanding. This expensc is cxpected
to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.9 years.
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Stock options — Prior 10 2005, stock options were the primary form of equity-based compensation we grantcd
to our employees. On December 16, 2005, the Management Development and Compensation Commitice of our
Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of all unvested stock options awarded under our stock
incentive plans effective December 28, 2005. The decision 1o accelerate the vesting of owtstanding stock options
was made primarily to reduce the future non-cash compensation expense that we would have otherwise recorded as
a result of our Janvary 1, 2006 adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). We estimate that the acceleration climinaled
approximately $55 million of cumulative pre-tax compensation charges that would have been recognized during
2006, 2007 and 2008 as the stock options would have continued 10 vest. We recognized a $2 million pre-1ax charge
to compensation expense during the fourth quarter of 2005 as a result of the acceleration, but do not expect to
recognizc future compensation expense for the accelerated options under SFAS No. 123(R).

A summary of our siock options is presented in the table below (shares in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 1006 2005
Welghted Weighted Welghted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding, Beginning of year. ... 21,779  $2952 33,004 $2806 41971 $27.353
Graneed .. ....... oo i I_T '$38.47 g8 $3742 30 $29.a7
Exercised(a). . ................ (5.252) 82596 (10,8200 $24.47 (5.938) $22.58
Forfeited or expired . .. ......... (1,92 $40.75 (493) $4347  (3,039) $31.45
Qutstending, End of year(b) . . .. .. 14620 $29.33 21,779 $29.52 33,004 $28.06
Exercisable, End of year. ... ..... 14618 $29.33 21,694 32949 33004  $28.06

(a} The aggregaie intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005 was $62 million, $112 million and $41 million, respectively.

(b} Stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2007 have a weighted average remaining contractual term of
3.9 years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $88 million based on the market value of our common stock on
December 31, 2007,

We received $135 million and $270 million during the years ended December 31,2007 and 2006, respectivety.
from our employees® siock option exercises. We also realized tax benefits from these stock option exercises during
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 of $24 million and $42 million, respectively. These amounts have
been presented in the “Cash flows from financing activities™ section of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Exercisable stock options a1 December 31, 2007, were as follows (shares in thousands):

Welghied Average  Weighted Averape
Remaining Years

Range of Exercise Prices Shares Exerclse Price

$I33)-32000 . ... . e 2489 $18.66 4.30
$2001-83000. ..., ... . e 9,126 32692 4.69
$3001-84000....... .. . 1,126 $35.73 1.26
$4001-35000. . ... ... e, 493 $47.22 0.72
$S0.01-856.84 . . ...\ttt 1384 $52.85 0.76
SI33185644 . . ... e 14,618 $29.33 38s
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Non-Employee Direcior Plans

Pursvant 1o our 2003 Dircctors’ Deferred Compensauon Plan, a portion of the cash compensalion that our
direciors would otherwisc receive is deferred unti} after their iermination from board service and each director may
clect 1o defer the remuining cash compensation (o a date that he chooses, which must be after iermination of board
service. Al that time, all deferred compensation is paid in shares of our common stock. The number of shares the
directors receive is calculated on the daie the cash compensation would have been payable, based on the fair market
value of our common siock on that day. Beginning in 2008, directors receive stock awards in lieu of units. The stock
awards are granted under our 2004 Siock Incentive Plan and allow the directors to be taxed on the value of the award
immediately upon grant. ’

16. Earings Per Share

The following 1able reconciles the number of commeon shares outstanding al December 31 of each year 10 the
number of weighted average basic common shares outstending and the number of weighted average diluted
common shares outstanding for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted camings per common share. The table
also provides the number of shares of common stock potentially issuable at the end of each period and the number of
potentially issuable shares excluded from the diluted eamings per share compuiation for each period (shares in
millions):

Years Ended December 3,
2007 2006 2005
Number of commeon shares oulstanding at year-end .. ... ............. 500.0 5337 5523
Effect of using weighted average common shares outstanding . ... ...... 17.2 6.7 9.2
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding . ... . ............ 5173 5404 5615
Dilutive effect of equity-based compensation awards, warrents and other
contingently issuable shares. . ... ... ... ot 4.5 5.1 3.6
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding ... ............. 5218 5461  565.1
Poteniially issuable shares. .. ......... e e e 182 260 363
Number of anti-difutive potentially issuable shares excluded from diluted .
common sharesoutstanding. . .. .. ... .. L e 24 4.6 13.9

17. Fair Value of Financia) Instruments

We have delermincd the estimated fair value amounts of our finencial instruments using available market
informaion and commonly accepted valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in
interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The usc
of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have & material effect on the estimated fair values.
The fair value estimates are based on information available as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. These amounts have
not been revalued since those dates, and current estimates of fair value could differ significantly from the amounts
presented.

The carrying valucs of cash and cash cquivalents, short-ierm invesiments, trade eccounts reccivable, wade
accounts payable, financial instuments includcd in other receivables end certain financial instruments included in
other assets or other habilities are reflccied in our Consolidated Financial Statements 81 historical cost, which is
materially representalive of their fair value principally because of the shor-term maturities of these instruments.

Long-term invesiments = Included as a component of "Other assets” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets al
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 is $73 million and $72 million, respectively, for the cost basis of
restricted invesiments in cquity-based mutual funds, Unrealized holding gains and losses on these instruments are
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recorded as cither an increase or decrease 1o the asset balance and deferred as a component of “Accumulated other
comprehensive income™ in the equity section of our Consolidated Balance Sheets, The nel unrealized holding gains
on thesc instruments, nel of taxes, were $5 million as of December 31, 2007 and $10 million as of December 31,
2006. Refer to Noie 13,

Debt and interest rare derivatives — At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of our debt was
approximately $8.3 billion. The carrying value includes adjustments for both the unamortized fair value adjust-
ments related to terminated hedge armangements and fair value adjustments of debt instruments that are currently
hedged. See Note 7. For active hedge arrangements, the fair value of the derivalive is included in other current
assets, other long-lerm asscts, accrued liabilitics or other long-term liabilitics, as appropriate. The estimated fair
value of our debt was approximately $8.5 billion at December 31, 2007 and approximately $8.7 billion at
December 31, 2006. The estimated fair values of our senior notes and convertible subordinated notes are based on
Quoted market prices. The carrying value of remarketable debt approximates fair valug dug to the short-term nature
of the attached interesi rates. The fair value of our other debt is cstimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based
on rates we would currently pay for similar types of instruments.

18. Business Combinations and Divestitures
Purchase Acquisitions

We continue 10 pursue the acquisition of businesses that are accretive 10 our solid wasic operations. We have
scen the greatest opportunities for realizing superior retums from tuck-in acquisitions, which are primarily Lhe
purchases of coliection operations that enhance our existing route structures and are strategically located ncar our
existing disposal operations. During the years cnded December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 we completed several
acquisilions for a cost, net of cash acquircd, of $90 million, $32 million, and $142 million, respectively.

Divestitures

The aggregate sales price for divestitures of operations was $224 million in 2007, $184 million in 2006 and
$172 million in 2005. The proceeds from these sales were comprised substantially of cash. We recognized net gains
on these divestiteres of $59 million in 2007, $26 million in 2006 and $79 million in 2005.

Our 2007 divestitures have been made as part of our initiative to improve or divest certain under-performing
and non-stratcgic operations. As of December 31, 2007, our current “Other asscts™ included $5 million of
operations and properties held for sale. This balance is primarily atributable to our ¢fforts to execute the strategy.
As discussed in Note 3, held-for-sele asscts are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount o their fair value less
the estimated cost to sell, Additional information related to our divestitres activily is included in Note 12.

19, Variable Interest Entitics

We have financial interests in various variable interest entities. Following is & description of all interests that
we consider significant. For purposcs of applying FIN 46(R), we arc considered the primary benceficiary of centain
of these entities. Such entities have been consolidaled into our financial statements as noted below.

Consolidated variable interest entities

Waste-to-Energy LLCs — On Junc 30, 2000, two limitcd Jiability companics were cstablished to purchase
interests in existing lcvernged tease financings al three waste-to-encrgy facilities that we operate under an
agreement with the owner. John Hancock Life Insurance Company has 3 99.5% ownership interest in onc of
the LLCs (“LLC ™), and the second LLC ("LLC 11")is 99.75% collectively owned by LLC | and the CIT Group. We
own the remaining cquity interest in cach LLC. Hancock and CIT made an initial investment of $167 million in the
LLCs. The LLCs used these proceeds (o purchase the three waste-to-energy facilitics that we operate and assumcd
the scller's indebiedness related to these facilities. Under the LLC agreements, the LLCs shall be dissolved upon the
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occurrence of eny of the following events: (i) e written decision of all (e -members of the LLCs to dissolve,
(ii) December 31, 2063, {iii) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under the Delaware Limited Liability
Company Act, or (iv) the LLCs ceasing to own any interest in the waste-10-encrgy facilitics.

Income, losscs and cash flows are allocated to the members based on their initial capital account balances until
Hancock and CIT achicve targeicd retumns; thereafter, the camings of LLC 1 will be allocated 20% o Hancock and
$0% to us and the camings of LLC II will be allocated 20% to Hancock and CIT and 80% to us. All capital
allocations made through December 31, 2007 have been based on initial capital account balances as the target
returns have not yet been achieved. We are required under certain circumstances 10 make capital contributions to the
LLCs in the amount of the difference between the stipulated loss amounts and terminated values undey the LLC
agreements (o the extent (hey are different from the underlying lease agreements. We belicve that the likelihood of
the occurvence of these circumstances is remote. Additionally, upon exercising cenain renewal options under the
leases, we will be requind 1o make payments to the LLCs for the difference between fair market rents and the
scheduled rencwal rents.

As of December 31. 2007, our Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $354 million of net property and
cquipment associated with the LLCs' wasle-1o-energy facilities, $13 million of debt associated with the financing of
the facilities and $235 million in minority interest associated with Hancock and CIT's interests in the LLCs,

Trusts for Closure, Fosi-Closure or Environmental Remediation Obligations — We have determined that we
are the primary beneficiary of trust funds that were created to seide certain of our closure, posi-closure or
environmental remediation obligations. As the trust funds are expected (o continue (o meet the statutory require.
ments for which they were cstablished, we do not belicve that there is any material exposure 1o loss associated with
the trusts. The consolidation of these variable interest entitics has not macrially affected our financial position or
results of operations.

Significant unconsolidated variable interest entities

Investments in Coal-Based Synthetic Fuel Production Facilities — As discussed in Note 8, we own an inlerest
in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilitics. Along with the other equity investors, we have supported the
operations of the entitics in exchange for & pro-rata share of the tax credits gencrated by the facilities. Our obligation
to support the facilities” operations was, therefore, limited to the 1ax benefit we expecied to receive. We are not the
primary bencficiary of cither of these cntities, and we do not believe that we have eny matenial cxposure to loss, as
measured under the provisions of FIN 46(R), as a result of our investments. As such, we account for these
investments under the equity method of accounting and do not consolidate the facilities. As of December 31, 2007,
our Consolidaied Balance Sheet includes $90 million of assets and $31 million of liabilities associated with our
interests in the facilitics.

20. Segment and Related Information

We manage and evaluate our operations primarily through our Eastern, Midwest, Southern, Wesiem,
Wheelabrator and WMRA Groups. These six Groups are presented below as our reportable segments. Our
scgments provide intcgrated wasic management services consisting of collection, disposal (solid wastc and
hazardous waste landfills), transfer, waste-o-cnergy facilities and independent power production plants that are
managed by Wheelabrotor, recycling services and other scrvices o commercial, industrial, municipal and
residentigl cusiomers throughout the United Siates and in Pucrto Rico and Caneda. The operalions not managed
through our six operating Groups are prescnted heeein as “Other.”

In the third quarter of 2005, we eliminated our Canadian Group as & scparate operating and reporting unil, and
thc management of our Cunadian operations was allocated among our Eastern, Midwest and Westemn Groups. The
historical operating results of our Canadian operations was atlocated 1o the Easiern, Midwest and Western Groups to
provide finzncial information thal consisiently reflects our current approach to managing our operations.

102




WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~— (Continued)

Our third quarter 2005 reorganization, as discussed in Note 11, also resulied in the centralization of certain
Group office functions. The adminisirative costs associated with thesc functions were included in the measurement
of income from operations for our reponable segments through August 2005, when the intcgration of these
functions with our exisling centralized processes was compictc. Beginning in Sepiember 2005, these administrative
costs have been included in income from operations of “Corporate and other.” The reallocalion of these costs has not
significantly affected the operating results of our reportable segments for the periods presenied.

Effective January 1, 2007, we realigned our Easiem, Midwest and Westem Group organizations to facilitace
improved business execution. We reassigned responsibility for the management of cenain Eastem Group market
arcas representing $799 million in assets, including $163 million in goodwill, to the Midwesi Group; and we
reassigned responsibility for the management of centain Midwest Group market arcas representing $435 million in
assets, including $231 million in goodwill, 10 the Wesiem Group. In addition, in carly 2007 we moved certain of our
WMRA operations fo our Western Group to more closely align their recycling operations with the related
collection, transfer and disposal operations. The prior period scgment information provided in the following table
has been reclassified to reflect the impact of these realignments to provide financial information thai consistently
reflects our curvent approach to managing Our Operalions.
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Summarnized financial infonmation conceming our repostable segments for the respective years ended
December 31 is shown in the following 1able (in millions):

Income

Gross lnteleny Na from Deprecin
Opersting  Operating  Opersting  Operntions and Expendltures  Assets
Revenues  Revenues(d) Revenuo (e) {0 Amortization ip), () 0, ¢y

2007
Eastern.............. $ 3,281 $ (631) $ 2650 $ 520 $ 289 $ 245 54279
Midwest. ............ 2,983 (492) 2491 471 ri 251 4,636
Southem ............ 3,681 (540) 3141 816 298 268 3,105
Western .. ........... 3,508 (d444) 3,064 635 238 261 3,710
Wheelabrator ......... 868 an 9 292 57 26 2,39%
WMRA ............. 953 n 932 78 26 29 454
Other(a). . ........... ki) {72) 235 (40) 10 o6 760
15,58) (2.271) 13,310 2,712 1,205 1,146 19,343
Corporate and Other(b). . — — — (518) ) () 1,489
Towl ..........c..s. 315,584 227y $13310  $2.254 $1,259 $i.144 320832
2006
Eastern.............. $ 3614 $ (739 $2875 $ W $ 2 $ 274 34,386
Midwest. .. .......... 3,003 {(516) 2,487 428 299 313 4,462
Southem ............ 3,75% (568) 3191 804 302 302 3,156
Western ............. 350 (463) 3,046 647 246 347 3642
Wheelsbrator ......... 902 an 831 315 60 1 2,453
WMRA ............. 740 (20} 720 14 26 23 449
Other(a) .. ........... 283 (70) 213 (23) | 44 617
15,812 (2,449) 13,363 2,574 1,26 1314 19,165
Corporate and Other(b). . o — -_— (545) 78 57 2,017
Total ............... $15,812 $(2.449) 313,363 32,029 $1.334 iil $21,182
2005
Easterm. ... ..covvennn $3632 § (784) $2848 § 33 $ 328 $ 268 %4429
Midwest. . ........... 2922 (508) 2414 378 298 243 4,442
Southemn . ........... 3,590 (556) 3034 699 3 280 3,193
Westemn . ............ 3416 (447} 2,969 549 242 247 3,624
Wheelabrator . ........ 879 62) 817 305 54 7 2,524
WMRA ............. 805 (29 116 13 KX 42 495
Other(a) . ............ 296 (80) 216 3 13 M 706
15,540 (2.466) 13,074 2,280 1,279 1,121 19,413
Corporate and
Otherb)dc)y ........ —— —_ — (370 82 59 2,310
TOll e $15540  $(2466) $13.074 S1L7I0  $1.36) $1,180  $21,723
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(a) Our “Other" net operating revenues and “Other” income from operations include the effects of those clements
of our in-plant services, methane gas recovery and third-panty sub-contract and administration revenues
managed by our Renewable Encrgy, National Accounts and Upstream organizations that are not included with
the operations 0f our reportable segments. In addition, our "Other™ income from operations reflect the impacts
of (i) non-operating eniities that provide financial assurance and sell-insurance suppon for the operating
Groups or financing for our Canadian operations; and (ii) cenain year-end adjusiments recorded in consol-
idation related 10 the reportable segments that were not included in the measure of scgment profit or loss used to
assess their performance for the periods disclosed

(b) Corporate operating results reflect the costs incurred for various suppon services that are not allocated 1o our six
operating Groups. These suppon services include, among other things, treasury, legal, information technology,
1ax, insurance, centralized service center processes, other administrative functions and the maintenance of our
closed landfills. Income from operations for “Corporate and other™ also includes costs associated with our long-
term incentive program and managing our inernational ond non-solid waste divested operations, which
primarily includes administrative expenses and the impact of revisions to our estimated obligations. As
discussed above, in 2005 we centralized suppont functions that had been provided by our Group offices.
Beginning in the third quarter of 2005, our “Corporate and other” operating results also include the costs
associated with these suppon functions.

{c) Corporate cxpenses in 2005 include impairment charges of $68 million associated with capitalized sofiware
costs and $31 million of ner charges associamed with various legal and divestiture matters. These items are
discussed further in Note 12. Alse included in our 2005 Corporate results are cosis associated wilh our 2005
restructuring charge and orgunizational changes, which were pantialty offset by associated suvings a1 Corporate.

() Intercompany operating revenues reflect cach segment’s total intercompany sales, including imercompany
sales within a segment and between segments. Transactions within and between segments are gencrally made
on o basis intended to reflect the market valuc of the service.

(e) For those items included in the determination of income from operations, the accounting policies of the
segments are the same as (hose described in Notwe 3.

(f) The income from operations provided by our four geographic segments is generally indicative of the margins
provided by our collection, landfill and transfer businesses, although Ihese Groups do provide recycling and
other services that can affect these trends. The operating margins provided by our Wheelabrator segment
{waste-to-energy facilities and independent power production plants) have historically been higher than the
margins provided by our base business generally due to the combined impact of long-term disposal and energy
contracts and the disposal demands of the regions in which our facilities are concentrated, Income from
operations provided by our WMRA segment generally reflects operating margins typical of the recycling
industry, which tend to be significantty lower than those provided by our base business. From time to time the
operating results of our reportable segments are significantly affected by unusual or infrequent wransactions or
events. Refer to Note 11 and Note 12 for an explanation of rransactions and events affecting the operating results
of our reportable segments,

(g) Includes non-cash items. Capital expenditures are reponed in our operating segments at the time they are
recorded within the segments’ propeny, plant and equipment balances and, therefore, may include amounts that
have been accrued but not yer paid.

(h) Because of the length of time inherent in cenain flect purchases, our Corporate and Qther segment initiates
cenain fleet-related purchases on behalf of our operaling segments. The related capital expenditures are
recorded in our Corporate and Other segment until the time at which the fleet items are delivered to our
operating groups. Once delivery occurs, the total cost of the items received are reporied as capital expendiwres
in our operating groups with an offser for the costs previously reported by the Corporate and Other segment. In
2007. the quantity of fleet purchases previousty reported by the Corporate and Other scgment that were
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delivered to our operating groups more lhan offset the quaniity of new fleet purchases initiated by our Corporalte
and Other scgment.

The reconciliation of total assets reported above to “Total assets” in the Consolidaied Balance Sheets is as
follows (in millions):
December J1,
2007 2006 2005
Total assets, asreported above .. .. ... oo $20,832 $21.182 21,723
Elimination of intercompany investments and advances, ... ..... P (657) {582) (588)
Total asscts, per Consolidated Balance Sheets. . ... .......... 320,175 320,600 $21.135

Goodwill ¥s included within ¢cach Group's otal assess. Effective January 1, 2007, we realigned our Eastem,
Midwest. Wesiern and WMRA Group organizations Lo facilitate improved business execution. These realign-
ments resulied in a reallocation of goodwill among our segments as of January 1. 2007. The following 1able
shows changes in goodwill during 2006 and 2007 by reporiable segment on a realigned basis {in millions):

Eastern Midwest  Southern  Western Wheelabrotor  WMRA  Other  Totad

Belance, December 31,
2005 ............ $1.504 $1.188 $567 $1.200 $788 $1N7 59— 55364

Acquired goodwill. . . . 8 5 k] l - -_— - 17

Divested goodwill, nct
of assets held-for-

sale............. (50) 2 (2) 22n — {1y — {88)
Teanslation

adjustments , . .. ... — (1) — — — -_ = )
Balance, December 31,

2006............ $1.462 $1.194 5568 $1.174 $788 $106 §$— 35292
Acquired goodwill. . .. 5 11l 13 2 —_ (2) 15 44

Divested goodwill, net
of assets held-for-

sale. ... ..., 4 — - 29 - 3 - 23
Translation
sdjusiments . . ..... — 30 —. 17 — - - 47

Balance, December 31,
2007............ $140 51,235 8381 sL217 3788

Rl
]
-
o
"
Lh
e

The table below shows the total revenues by principal line of business (in millions):
Years Ended December J1,

2007 2006 2008
COlTHiON . .o v vttt e ettt et e $8714 $83837 358633
Landfill, ... e 3.047 3,197 3,089
B F 21 (= SR UM 1,654 1,802 1,756
WhHeElab A Or . . . o it 868 %02 879
Recycling and 01her(a). « .« v oo v iiin i 1,298 1,074 1,183
Tntercompany(b) . .....cvoii i e (2,271) (2449  {2,466)
OPCIAlNG FEVEMUES + « v v o v v vt v ven sasannrsnrenesesonins $13.310 813,363 $13.0%4




WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(a) Inaddition to the revenue generated by WMRA, we have included recycling revenues generated within our four
geographic operating Groups, in-plani services, methane gas operations, Pon-O-Let® services and street and
parking lot sweeping services in the “Recycling and other” line-0f-business.

(b) Intercompany revenues between lines of business are elimineied within the Consolidated Financia) Statements
included herein,

Net operating revenues relating 10 operations in the United States and Puerto Rico, as well as Canada are as
follows (in millions):

Years Ended December M,
. 2007 2006 2008
United States and PuertoRico . .................. e $12.566 312,674 $12430
CANBGR « o oo ee et e e e e e e 744 689 644
TOM) - oo e $13310 $§13363  $13.074

Propenty 2nd equipment (net) relating to operations in the United States and Pucrto Rico, as well a3 Canada are
as follows (in miltions):

December 3,
. 2007 2006 2005
United States and Puzmo Rico .. . ... ... ... it L $10,122  $10,163  $10,229
Canada .. ... . e e e 1,229 1.016 992
TOEl . .o e e $11.351  S$11,179  $11.221

21. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Fluctuations in our operating results between quarters may be caused by many factors, including period-to-
period changes in the relative contribution of revenue by cach line of business and operating segment and general
economic conditions. Qur revenues and income from operations typically reflect scasonal patterns.

Our operating revenues tend to be somewhat higher in the summer months, primarily duc 10 the higher volume
of construction and demotition waste. The volumes of industrial and residential waste in cerain regions where we
operate also tend 10 increase during the summer months. Our second and third quaricr revenues and results of
operations typically reflect these seasonal trends. Additionally, certain desuuctive weather conditions that tend to
occur during the second half of the year, such as the hurricanes experienced during 2004 and 2005, actually increase
our revenues in the areas affected. However, for several reasons, including significani start-up cosis, such revenue
often generates comparatively lower masgins. Certain weather conditions may result in the lemporary suspension of
our operations, which can significantly affect the operating results of the affected regions. The operating resulis of
our first quarter also often reflcct higher repair and maintenance cxpenses because we rely on the slower winier
months, when waste flows are generally lower, to perform scheduled maintenance at our waste-t0-energy facilitics.
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The following table summarizes the unaudited quanterly resuits of operations for 2007 and 2006 (in millions,
excepl per share amounts):

First Second Third Fourth
Quorter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter

2007
OpCrating FevenueS . . .. ... .ot i $3.188 $3358 $3403 $3.361
Income from operations(a), (b), (c), (d), (e}, (N .......... 481 633 565 575
Netincome(g), (h), (i) .. ........ .o 238 338 278 309
Income per commeon share:
Basic:
Netincome(g), (h), (¥ ... .. ... ... ... ... ... 045 065 0.54 0.61
Diluted:
Netincome(g), (W), (). . ... oo 045 0.64 0.54 0.61
2006
Operating revenues . .. ..o, $3229 83410 $344) $3.283
Income from operations(j), (k). . ... .................. 435 565 5517 412
Netincome(i). (I (M) . ..ot i i e aees 186 417 300 246
Income per common share:
Basic:
Net income(i), (1. (M), .. .. ... ...y 0.4 0mn 0.56 0.46
Diluted:
Netincome(i). (1. (m) .. ... oo 034 0.76 0.55 0.46

{2} In the second and fourth quarters of 2007, “(Income) expense from divestitures, assel impairments and unusuval
items” increased our income from operations by $33 million and $14 million, respectively. These benefits are
duc to gains from divestitures as a result of our fix-or-seek exit initiative. Gains recognized during the second
quarter of 2007 were pantially offsct by impairment charges required for two landfills in our Southem Group.

{b) Our “Incomc from operations” for the first and third quarters of 2007, was improved by $15 million and
$3 million, respectively, due to the favorable resolution of a disposal tax matier in our Eastern Group, which has
been recognized as reductions to disposal fees and taxes within our “Operating” expenscs.

(c) Our “Income from operations™ for the first quarter of 2007 was negatively affected by approximately
$21 million of charges incurved for the early termination of a lcase agreement in connection with the purchase
of one of our independent power production plants. This charge wos recorded as "Operating” expenses.

{d) During the fourth quarter of 2007, our "Income from operations” was positively affected by 2 $17 million
reduction in landfi)) amortization expenses associated with changes in our expectations for the liming and cost
of future final capping, closure end posi-closure of fully utilized airspace.

(¢) During the third and fourth quarters of 2007, our "Income from operations™ was negatively affected by
$26 million and $8 mitlion, respectively. principally for increased "Operating” expenses, due to a labor dispute
in Oakland, California and, to a much lesser extent, the management of tabor disputes and collective bargaining
agrecments in other parts of California. Costs incurred were largely related to sccurity efforts and the
deploymem and lodging costs incurred for replacement workers who were brought 1o Oakland from across
the organization,

() Certain operations and functions were resuructured resulting in the recognition of pre-1ax charges of $5 million
and $1 million, for the first and second quanters of 2007, respectively. These charges were primarily related to
employee scverance und benefin costs. Refer 10 Note 11 for additional information.
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{g) Throughout 2007, we reached audit settlements on various federal and state matters that resulted in the effective
setilement of previously unrecognized 1ax bencfits. These sculements reduced income fax expense by
$16 million in the first quarter. $ 11 mitlion in the second quarter, $3 million in the third quarter and $10 miilion
in the fourth quanier. Refer to Note 8 for additional information.

(h) During the second quartcr of 2007, we recognized a $3 million 1ax bencfit refated to scheduled tax rate
reductions in Canada and an $8 million tax bencfit related to the expected utilizotion of state nct operating loss
carryforwards and state tax credits. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we recognized a $27 million tax benefit
related to scheduled 1ax rate reductions in Canadz and a $1 millicn 1ax benefil related 10 the expected utilization
of statc net operaling loss camryforwards and state tax credits. These adjustments were the result of the
revaluation of our deferred tax balances.

(i) As discussed in Note 8, the Company qualifies for Section 45K tax credits as a result of methane gas projects at
its landfills and its investmenis in two coal-based synthetic fuel production facilities. The credits arc phased-out
if the price of crude oil exceeds an annual average price threshold as determined by the U.S. Internal Revenue
Service. On a quarterly basis, we develop our estimate of the phase-out of credits using market information Cor
crude oil prices. The impact of any revision in our estimates is reflecied in both “Equity in net losses of
unconsolidated entities™ and “Provision for (benefit from) income 1axes™ for ihe quarter.

() In the first and second quarters of 2006, net gains on divesiitures increased our income from cperations by
$2 million and $27 million, respectively. [n the second half of 2006, our income from operations was
unfavorably affected by charges for impairments of asseis and businesses associated with our ongoing
operations and the resolution of a legal matter reloied to the lermination of a joint venlure relationship in
2000. These items, net of gains on divestitures, negatively affected our income from operations by $19 million
during the third quarter of 2006 and $35 million during the fourth quarter of 2006.

(k) Our “Selling, general and administrative” expenses for the first and fourth quanters of 2006 include charges of
$19 million and $1 million, respectively, for unrecorded obligations associated with unclaimed property. We
also recognized $1 million of estimated associated interest obligations during the first quarter of 2006, which
has been included in “Interest expense.” Refer to Note HO for additional information.

{} When excluding the effect of interest income, the scitlement of various federa) and siple tax audit matiers during
the first, second, 1hird and fourth quarters of 2006 resulted in reductions in income tax expense of 36 million
($0.01 per diluted share), $128 million (8023 per diluicd share), $7 million ($0.01 per diluted share) and
$8 mitlion (30.01 per diluted share), respectively. During 2006, our net income also increased due to interest
income related 10 these seitlements.

(m) During the second quarter of 2006, both the Canadian federal government and several provinces enacted tax
rate reductions. SFAS No. )09, Accounting for Income Taxes, requires that deferred tax balances be revalued to
reflect these fax rate changes. The revaluation resulied in a $20 million tax benefit for the second quarter of
2006.

Basic and diluted eamings per common share for cach of the quarters presented above is based on the
respective weighted average number of common and dilutive poiential common shares outstanding for cach quarter
and the sum of the quarters may not necessarily be equal to the full year basic and diluted earnings per common
share amounts.




WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

22, Congjensed Consolidating Financlal Slatements

WM Holdings has fully and unconditionally guarenteed all of WMI's senior indebtedness. WMI has fully and
unconditionally guaranteed all of WM Holdings’ senior indebtedness and its 5.75% convertible subordinated notes
that matured and were repaid in January 2005. None of WMI's other subsidiaries have guarantecd any of WMI's or
WM Holdings' debt. As o result of these guarantee armngements, we are required 10 present the following
condensed consolidating financial information (in millions):

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2007
WM Non-Guarantor
WMI Hatdings Subskilaries Eliminatons  Consolldated
ASSETS
Current asse1s:
Cash and cash equivalents ... ........ $ 416 § — s - 5 (68) $ 348
Other current assets . ... ............ - -_— 2,132 — 2,132
416 —_ 2,132 (68) 2,480
Property and equipment, el . ....... ... — — 11,351 - 11,351
[nvestments in and advances 1o affiliates .. 9617 10,622 173 (20412)
Otherassels . .......ocveeneeeenn.. 28 15 6,301 — ,
TOW ASSEIS . .. vt $10,06)  $10.637 $19.957 $(20.430) $20.175
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt. . . . .. $ 129 § — $ 200 s - 5 39
Accounts payable and other current
Habilities .. ..ovv v irinnenrnnnn s 79 22 2,236 {68) 1,269
208 2 2,436 (68) 2,598
Long-term debt, less current portion. . . . . . 4,034 889 3,085 — 8,008
Other liabilities . ., .. ........ . ., ... 27 2 1438 — 3,467
Tota) liabilities. . . ................. 4,269 913 8,959 (68) 14,073
Minority interest in subsidiaries and
variable inerest entivies .. ... ........ —_ - 310 - 310
Stockholders” equity - ...... ... ... 5.792 9.724 10,688 (20,412) 5,792
Total liabilities and stockholders’
BOUILY ... $10061  $10,637 $19.957 $(20,480) $20,175

1o




WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continuved)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS — (Continued)

December 31, 2006
wM Non-Guaranlor
wMI Hotdings Subsidinrics Ellminstions  Comsolldated
ASSETS
Current asscts:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ......... $ 675 § — ;s - $ () § 6l4
Other current assels . ......... e 134 — 2384 — 2,568
859 — 2,384 {61) 3182
Propesty and equipment, net. .. ......... — - 1L179 - 14,179
Investmenis and advances to affiliates. . ... 9,692 9.282 — {18,974) —_
OMEr assets . . ... vvevveennerarnes 28 1t 6,200 o 6,239
Total BSSELS + 0 v v v rm v en e $10579  $9.203 $19,763 $(19.,035) $20,600
LIABILIT1ES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Currem ligbiliues;
Curvent portion of long-lerm debt . . .. .. $ 3B 5 — $ 4N s - $ 822
Accounts payable and other current
liabilities . ......... ..o . iiunn. 88 22 2,397 (1)) 2,46
439 22 2,868 (1)) 3,268
Long-term debt, less current portion . ... .. 3810 887 2,798 —_ 7495
Ductoaffiliates..................... — —_— 1,404 (1,404) —_
Other liabilities . ... ................. 108 7 3225 - 3,340
Total liabilities ... ................. 4,357 916 10,295 (1,465) 14,103
Minority interest in subsidiaries and
variable interest emtities . ... ......... — — 275 — 275
Stockholders’ equity. . ................ 6,222 8,377 9,193 (17.570) 6,222
Total liabilities and stockholders’
CQUILY . .. i $10.579 39293 $19.763 $(19,035) $20,600
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

WM Noo-Guarantor
WMl Holdings Subsidiarics Ellminations Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Operating FeveRUes ... ...ooenvennnn... $ — 8 — $13,310 s — $13310
Costs and cXpenses .. ................. — — 11,056 — 11,056
Income from operations . . .............. — — 2,254 — 2,254
Other income (cxpense):
Interes| income (expense} . ... ......... (291) (66) n — {474)
Equity in subsidiarics, net of taxes . .. . .. 1,347 1,389 — (2,736) —
Minority interest .......... .00, — — (46) - (46)
Equity in nel losses of unconsolidated
entitiecsandother, net . .. ... ..o vlt . — — (31) — (3l)
1,056 1,323 (194) . {2,736) (551)
Income before income taxes. .. .......... 1,056 1,323 2,060 (2,736) 1,703
Provision for (bencfit from) income axes. .. _ (107) (24) 67] —_ 540
Netintome ... ......ovvvenniennna, $1,163  $1,347 $ 1,389 $(2,736) $ 1,163
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Operating revenues . ........c.o.onn.... $ — 8 - $13,363 s — $13,363
Costs and expenses ................... — — 11,334 — 11,334
Income from operations . .. ............. o — 2,029 — 2,029
Other income (cxpensc):
Interest income (cxpense) . ............ (287) (79) (110) - (476)
Equity tn subsidiaries, net of taxes ... ... 1,331 1,381 — 2Ny —_
Minority interest . ....... ... ... ... - —_ (44) - (44)
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated
entitics and other. net ... ........... — — (35) — (35)
1,044 1,302 (189) 2,712) (555)
Inceme before income tAXES . .. .. v vl 1,044 1,302 1,840 2,7112) 1.474
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes. . . (105) (29) 459 — 325
Netincome ... .. ....coeivnennenennns $1.149  §$1,331 $ 1,38 $(2.712) $ 1,149
Year Ended December 31, 2005
OpEraing revenues .. ........oovenn.ns s — 5 - $13,073 5 - 313,074
Costs and ¢Xpenses .. ................. - - 11,364 — 11,364
Income from opemations . .. ............. — —_ 1,710 — 1,710
nher income (expensc):
Interest income (expense) . ......... ... (272) (84) (109) —_ (465)
Equity in subsidiaries, net of taxes ... ... 1,355 1,408 — (2,763) -
Minority interest . ... .......... ... .. — — (48) — {48)
Equity in ner tosses of unconsolidated
entities and other, met .. ............ —_ — {105) —_ {105)
1,083 1,324 (262) (2,763) {618)
Income before income taxes. . ........... 1.083 1,324 1,448 (2,763) 1.092
Provision for (benefil from) income taxes. . . (99) 31) 40 — (50)
Netincome . ... ..oooivvcnnnn e $1,182  $1,355 $ 1,408 $(2,763) $ 1,182
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 3, 2007
Cash flows from operating activitics:
Netincome ......... ... i iiiiiinnn.
Equity in eamings of subsidiaries, net of taxes . . .
Other BAJUSIMENIS. . .. v v i iaiannns
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitics . .
Cash Nows from investing activities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired. . .
Capital expenditures . . ....................
Proceeds from divestitures of busincsses (net of
cash divesicd) and
othersalesofassets . .....................
Purchases of shont-term investments. . .. ..., ...
Proceeds (rom sales of short-term investments . . .
Net receipts from restricted trust and escrow
accounis and other, net .. .. ... ... L. ...
Ne1 cash provided by {used in) investing activities . .
Cash flows from financing activilies:
Newborowings.........................
Debt repayments . . ........ ... e
Common stock repurchases. .. ..............
Cashdividends. . ................ Vervaaes
Exercise of common stock options and warrants . .
Minority interest distribulions paid and other . . . .
(Increasc) decrease in intercompany and
INVESIMEDTS, DBl . .. it iie v eemr s e

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . .

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents. .. ... .. i e

Increase in cash and cash equivalents .. ......,..
Cash and cash cquivalents at beginning of pesiod. . .

Cash and cash cquivalents et end of period . ... ...

Year Ended December 31, 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Netincome .. ..ot it it s it rinraras
Equity in eamings of subsidiaries, ne1 of taxes , . .
Other edjustments. .. .. ........ .00t
Net cash provided by (used in) aperaling activities . .
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of busincsses, net of cash acquired . .
Capital expenditures . . .. ... .oonvoiiaa.ls
Proceeds from divesttures of businesses {net of
cash divested) and other sales of assets. .. ... .
Purchases of shon-term invesiments. . .. .......
Proceeds from sales of shon-lerm invesimens . . .
Nei receipts from restricted trust and escrow
gccounts and other, pet . ... ... L. L e

Net cash used in investing activities. ... .......

WM Non-Guarsntor
WM]  Holdings Subsidiaries Fliminations Consolidated
$L163 § 1347 $ 1,389 $(2,736) § 1,163
(1,347 (1,389 - 2136 —_
(53) [8)] 1,332 — 1,276
(237 (45) 2,721 —_ 2419
- - (90) — (90
_— —_ (1,211) — (n.2zin
— 278 — 278
(1,220) —_— — — (1.220)
1, — _ — 1,404
— (4) 82 — 78
184 (4) 941) — (761)
300 - 644 — 944
(352) — (848) — (1,200)
(1,42)) — —_ — (1.421)
(495) —_ —_ - (495)
142 — - —_ 142
26 _— 58 —_ 84
1,594 49 {1,636) )] -
(206) 49 (1,782) (N (1.946)
—_— —_ y — 2
(259) - L8] (266)
675 — {61) 614
§ 416 § — 5 - 3 (68) $ 8
$1L,149 $ 1.3 $ 1.38) $(2,712) $ 1,149
(1,331)  (1,381) —_ 2?2 —
(52) (9 1,452 — 1,391
(234) (59) 2,833 — 2,540
—_ —_ 32) — (32)
— -_— (1,329) -— (1,329
—_— - 240 _ 240
{3.001) —_ - —_ (3,001)
317 6 - 3,123
— -— 211 — 20)
116 — (904) —_ (788)
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Coniinued)
WM Noa-Guarantor

WMI  Holdlags  Subsidiaries  Fllminations Consolidated

Cash flows from financing activities:

New bomowings. .. ..........ov i —_ — 432 — 432
Debtrepayments ..., .o iea o —_ (300 (632) - {932)
Common stock reporchases . ... ... .hl Lol {1,072) — — — (1L.O72)
Cashdividends. .. ....................... (476) — — - (476)
Exercise of common stock options and warrants . | 295 — — — 295
Minatity interest distributions paid and other . . . . 4 - (94) —_ (50
(Increase) decrease in intercompany and
lnvestments, net ... ... ... .. ... 1,304 359 (1,634) 29 —
Ne1 cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . 95 59 (1,928) {29) {1,803)
Effect of exchange mte changes on cash and cash
equivalents. .. ... ... .. i e —_ — [t — 1)
Decrense in cash and cash equivalents, , . ........ 23) —_— —_ 29 (52)
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of period , . . 698 — — 32) 666
Cash and cash equivalents st end of peiod . ... ... $ 615 § — 5 — § (61 $ 614
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Cash flows from operaling activilies:
Netincome . .......ooiriiiiniiaennensnn $ 1,182 $1.355 $ 1,408 ¥(2,763) $1.182
Equity in camings of subsidiaries, net of vanes , .. (1.355) (1.408) —_ 2,763 -
Other BdJustments. .. .. ... .ovrveovnrr .. an (8) 1,234 — 1,209
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitics , . (190) (61 2,642 — 2,391
Cash flows from invesiing sctivities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired. . . — —_ (142 — (142)
Capital expenditores . .. .. ............0u.as — - (1,180) — (1.180)
Proceeds from divestitures of businesses (net of
cash divested) and other sales of pssets. ... ... —_— — 194 - 194
Purchases of short-term invesiments. . ., ....... (1,017 — (62) —_ (1.079)
Procecds from sales of shori-term investments . . . 737 -_ 47 —_ 784
Net reccipts from restricted trust and escrow
sccounts and other, me1 . .o . oLl — — 361 — 361
Net cash used in investing activities .. .......... {280) — {782) — (1,.062)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Newbomowings. ... ..........civuuannnn. —_— — 365 - 365
Debirepayments . ...........ocviven.y. - {138) (238) -— (376)
Common stock repurchases . ... ............. (706) — —_— — (706)
Cashdividends. . . . ...................... (449) —_— — - (449)
Exercise of commeon stock options and warrants . . 129 —_ - - t29
Minority interest disteibutions paid and other . ... — — 53 _ {53)
{Increase) decrease in intcrcompany and
INVESIMENLS, NEL . .. . ... iie i e 1,837 199 (2.004) (32) —
Nei cash provided by (used in) financing activitics . . 81 6t (1930 (32) (1.080)
Effect of exchange cate changes on cash and cash
equivalents. ... ... L. e — — 3 —_ 3
Increase (decrease) in cash nnd cash equivalents. . . . M s 67 (32) 242
Cash and cash equivalents a1 beginning of pened . . . 357 - 67 — 424
Cash ond cash equivalents ot end of period .. ... .. § 98 § — $ - $ (3 3 666
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WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

23, New Accounting Pronouncements (Unaudited)
SFAS No. 157 — Fair Value Measuremenis

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurcments.
SFAS No. 157 will be effective for the Company beginning January {, 2008. We do not currenily expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 on January |, 2008 10 have » material impact on our consolidated finoncial statements.
However, we are continuing 10 assess the potential effects of SFAS No. 157 as additional guidance becomes
available,

SFAS No. 159 — Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finonciol Liabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Fair Value Option for Financial Asseis and Financial
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statemert No. 115, which permits entities 10 choose 1o measure
many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective for the Company
beginning January 1, 2008. The Company has elected not to measure eligible items at fair valuc upon initial
adoption and does not believe the adoption of this statement will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statemenis.

SFAS No. 141(R) — Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14) (revised 2007), Business Combinarions, which establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes and measures in the financial statements the
identifiable assets ecquired, the liabilitics assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. This statement
also provides guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business combination and
determines what information to disclose 10 enable users of the financial stafements 10 evaluate the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2009. We are currently cvaluating the cffect the adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will have un our
accounting and reporting for future acquisitions.

SFAS No. 160 — Noncontrofling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of
ARB No. 51

In December 2007, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 160. Noncontrolling Interesis in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51, which cstablishes sccounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the decoasolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the
consolidated financial statements. SFAS Na. 160 will be effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009. We
arc currently evalualing the effect the adoption of SFAS 160 will have on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accouﬁting and Financial Disclosure,

None.

Item 9A, Controls and Procedures.
Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed (o ensure that information we arc required to
disclose in reports that we file or submit with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified by the SEC. An evaluation wes carried out under the supervision and with the participation of
the Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO"),
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Based on that cvaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures
are cffective to ensure that we are able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in
the reports we file with the SEC within required ume periods.

Internal Controls Over Financial Rep_ordng

Management's report on our intemal control over financial reporting can be found in Item 8 of this report. The
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm's aftestation report on management’s assessment of the effec-
tiveness of our internal control over financial reporting can also be found in Item 8, Financial Statements and
Suppiementary Dara, of this report.

Itemn 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART Il1

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Gavernance,

The information required by this ltem is incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be held May 9, 2008.

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our CEQ, CFO and Chief Accounting Officer, as well as other
officers, directors and employees of the Company. The code of ethics, entitled “Code of Conduct,” is posted on our
website at hitp:/fwww.wm.com under the caption “Ethics and Diversity.”

Item 11. Exscutive Compensation.

The information required by this ltem is included in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated hercin by
reference.
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Itemn 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Equity Compensation Plan Table

The following 1able provides information as of December 31, 2007 about the number of shares to be issued
upon vesling or exercise of equity awards and the number of shares remaining available for issuance under our
cquity compensation plans,

Number of
Securitles
Number of Securittes to Weighted-Averape Remalning Avaliable
be lssued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of for Future Lssuance
of Outstaeding Opticns,  Oulstanding Optieas, Under Equity
Fian Cstegory(a) Warranis and Rights ~ Warraats and Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holders(b) . ................ 16,861,129(c) $29.05(d) 22,923,004(c)
Equity compensation plans not

approved by securnity

holders(D) ..............0 (L 368.095 $22.10(g) 494.,856(h)
Total........... Cereweaaas 17,225,224 528.91 23,417,860

(8) Excludes 775,467 shares 10 be issued upon exercise of options assumed in connection with acquisitions, at a
weighted-average excreise price of $36.88.

() Includes our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 1993 Stock Incentive Plan, 2600 Siock Incentive Plan, 1996 Non-
Employee Director's Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.

{c) Excludes purchase rights that accruc under the ESPP through employee payrol! contributions. Purchase rights
under the ESPP are considered equity compensation for accounting purposes; however, the number of shares 1o
be purchased is indeterminable until the lime shares are actually issued, as employee contributions may be
terminated before the end of an offering period and, due to the look-back pricing feature, the purchase price and
comresponding number of shares to be purchased is unknown.

(d) Excludes performance share unils, restricted stock units and restricted stock awards, as nonc of thosc awards
has an exercise fight associated with it. Also cxcludes purchase rights under the ESPP for the reasons described
in {c), above.

{c) The shares remaining available include 21,614,515 shares under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and
1,308,489 sharcs under our ESPP. In determining the number of shares available under the 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan, the maximum number of shares that may be issued under variable incentive awards was used,
which may be larger than the number of shares actually issued at the end of the appliceble performance period
for the awards. No additional shares may be issued under the 1993 Stock Incentive Plan, as tha plan expired in
May 2003, Additionally, upon approval by stockholders of the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, all shares available
under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and the 1996 Non-Employee Director’s Plan became available for issuance
under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.

{f) Includes our 2000 Broad-Based Employee Plan and 2003 Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan. No options
under the Broad-Based Employee Plan are held by, or may be issued to, any of our directors of exccutive
officers. The Broad-Based Employee Plan allows for the granting of equity awards on such terms and conditions
as the Managemeni Development and Compensation Commiltec may decide; provided, that the exercise price
of options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the daie of grant, and all options
expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. The 2003 Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan provided
for the issuance of units as a portion of the dircctors” compensation and allowed directors to elect to defer
compensation by receiving units in licu of cash. The number of units issucd to directors s valued based on the
fair market valuc of the common stock, and units are paid out in an equal number of shares of common stock
following the termination of a director’s service on the board.
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(g) Excludes the units issued under the 2003 Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, 2s those awards have no
exercise price associated with them,

{h) Includes 114,614 shares remaining available for issuance under the 2000 Broad-Based Employee Plan and
380,242 shares remaining available for issuance under the 2003 Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan,

The other information required by this ltem is incorporated by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement.

Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the 2008 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.

PART IV

Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(aX1) Consolidated Financia! Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Batance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005 .

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(8)}(2) Consolidared Financial Siatemernt Schedules:
Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not significant or is included in the
financial statements or notes thereto, or is not applicable.

(b) Exhibits:

The exhibit list required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Exhibit Index filed as part of this
repon.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 18, 2008

WAASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

By: fs!  Davip P. STEINER

David P. Steiner
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant 10 the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

fs/ Davip P. STEINER

David P. Steiner

/! Rosext (. SIMPSON

Robert G. Simpson

/s/  GreG A. ROBERTSON

Greg A. Robertson

fs!  PaSTORA SAN Juan CAFFERTY

Pastora San Juan Cafferty
/s Frank M. CrLark

Frank M. Clark

s/ Patmacx W. Gross

Patrick W. Gross

/s Tuomas 1. Moroan

Thomas 1. Morgan
st Joun C. Pore

John C. Pope
Is] W, Rosert REUM

W. Roben Reum
fs!  Steven G. Romumeer

Steven G. Rothmeier

/s!  THomas H. WEIDEMEYER

Thomas H. Weidemeyer

Title

Chicf Exceutive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice President and Chicf Financial

Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Vice President and Chicf Accounting

Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board and Director

Darector

Dircctor

Director
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
Vasie Manageneni, Inc,

1001 Fasnin, Suite 4300
Hcusion, Taxas 77002
Telephone: (712 512-6200
Facsinte; (7131 5126289

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP

5 Housion Cetier, Suite 1200
140} MecKuiney Sirect
HMousion, Texas 77010

{713} 750-150C

COMPANY STOCK

‘1ae Company's common stack is waget!
on the Mew York Stock Excnange (NYSE)
ungter the symbol "W Tie nuimher of
nolde:s of iecord of conmimen stoch based
an the uansfar recorcds of the Company &l
Fobruary 12, 2008, was approximaiely
15,211, Basad on sacunty position listngs,
ithe Company beheves it had ar that dase
approvimaltely 27¢,481 beaclicial owners.

Tne annu@ cornlication reguined by Seetion
3034 12ia of the Mews York Stock Exchange
Lisied Company Manual was subiaitted by
ihe Company on May 8, 2007,

@ Printed on 100% posiconsumoer recycled paper

The Waste Management 2007 Annus! Report is printed
on Mchawk Opiions 100% PC, which is made with
100% post-consumer recycled fiber. The savings o€rived
from choosing post-consumer recycled fiber in lisu o!
virgin fiber to meke this paper gre squivelent 10:

A

¢ > 712 uees preserved for the future

(

2,056 (bs. of waterbome waste not created

302,478 gallons of wastewater llow saved

~=

&=

6 30,468 Ibs. ol solid waste not generated

(ﬂ) 66,899 Ibs. net of greenhouse gases prevented

504,396,800 BTUs of energy not consumed

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
RYY Melen Sraeone Sav ces

430 Washing:on Bou evaig

Jorsey City, New Jersey 07310

{E00) 9691190

INVESTQR RELATIONS

Sacunity analysts, invesimaai melessionals,
and shi:chokiers should GIecs mquines 10
[nvestor Belouons ot the corporaie addiess
o: cali (713} 512-6574.

ANNUAL MEETING

Tne annual maeiing of the shareholdars
oi the Company is scheduled io be hetd
ol 11,00 aarv 0 May 9. 2008, at’

Tha Mauy Mvers Conference Cenier
Wasie Managemari, Inc.

1021 #aun Surest

Housion, Tewas 77002

WEB SITE

WY AITLCDTY

Certiliad by Grean Seet, a not-for-prafit organization
devored to environmental sizndaic-setting
and product cenification.

Moheawk Fine Papers puschasa§ anough Green-e cerlified
renewable energy cenificates (RECs) to mach 100% of
the sisctricity used in our Operetions.

a The papet used tor this raport is certilied by SmartWood
# for FSC Swndards, which promota environmentally
F3C  aopropriste. socially baneficial and economically viable
managamoni of the world’s {orests.
{Cert. no, SW-COC-000668 and SCS-COC-00833).

For the production of this report, Wasie Management
employed an ervlionmenially susiainable printer thai is
FSC-certilied; has e ~zero™ landfill, 100% rocycling policy
for oll hazardous and non-hazardous production wasie
by-products; generaies all of its own electrical and thermsl
power; and is the only AQMD-certified “iotally enclosed”
commarcial print faciity in the nation which resylts in
virtually zero volatils organic compound (VOQ)

gmissions from its production operanons being

reieassd into the aimosphere,

eND




